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ADVERTISEMENT.

Ix the year 1740, Dr. John Ward, Professor of
Rhetoric in Gresham College, published the Lives
of the Professors of that college, to which he pre-
fixed a Life of Sir Thomas Gresham. Of this
folio volume the Life of Gresham occupies only a
small portion ; but the volume contains some valu-
able facts, which were used by subsequent bio-
graphers as the sole materials upon which they
worked, until in 1839 Mr. John William Burgon
produced his ¢ Life and Times of Sir Thomas
Gresham, compiled chiefly from his Correspond-
ence preserved in Her Majesty’s State Paper
Office.” This elaborate work, in two octavo vo-
lumes, is highly creditable to the industrious re-
search of the Author. A number of very inter-
esting documents for the first time were brought
to light, as illustrating the personal character and
public history of this remarkable English mer-
chant, the Founder of the Royal Exchange and
Gresham College. The little volume now offered,
at a period when the Life of Sir Thomas Gresham
has a passing interest in the opening of the third
Royal Exchange, does not attempt to claim the
merit of any new discoveries of documents; but
the Author has endeavoured to present a narrative
which may exhibit the character of Gresham in
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connexion with the spirit of his age,—a spirit in
many respects essentially different from that of
our own, in which the real principles of commer-
cial intercourse have been so strikingly developed.
But whatever may be the defects of the commer-
cial economy and the general politics of the days
of Elizabeth, during which Gresham carried for-
ward a series of financial operations, which were
truly important for that time, he has the great
merit of having been the first to counsel a striet
regard to the pecuniary obligations of the State,
as the surest foundation for national prosperity.
It is something for the honour of the English
character two centuries and a half ago, that a
British merchant came to the despotic courts of
the Tudors with only one course of advice under
their constant financial difficulties — pay — pay,
interest regularly, principal as soon as possible ;
—repudiate no contracts,—be honest to all your
engagements even if you know that you have been
dealt hardly with—make the closest bargains you
can for the future, but pay! Such a man was
worthy to attain fortune and eminence ;—and it was
a part of his high-mindedness, amidst some mean-
ness, that he devoted some of that fortune to a
provision for the needy, and for the advancement
of knowledge. That his intentions have not been
carried out is the fault ofa succeeding age, which
originated little good and destroyed much.
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OF

SIR THOMAS GRESHAM.

CHAPTER 1.
THE GRESIHHAM FAMILY.

Taomas GresuAaM, the founder of the Royal Ex-
change, was born in the year 1519 ; and he lived
during the reigns of Ilenry the Eighth, Edward
the Sixth, Mary, and Elizabeth. Ile was descended
from a family originally settled in the county of
Norfolk, and which had become considerable and
wealthy by commerce. The name of the family
is said to have been derived from a small town or
village in Norfolk ; but it is more probable that
the family gave its name to the village. A John
Gresham of Gresham lived under the reigns of
Edward the Third and Richard the Second, in the
latter part of the fourteenth century, and appears
to have been a man of substance. Ilis son James
was a correspondent, and is supposed at one time
to have been a clerk, of Sir William Paston, the
Judge of the Court of Common Pleas in the time
of Henry the Sixth. He corresponded with other
members of the I’aston family, who wesre of Nor-
folk, and chiefly lived in that county.* KEleven
of the letters of this James Gresham, written be-
B
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tween the years 1443 and 1464, have been pre-
served and published among those of the Paston
family ; and they form nounimportant part of that
very interesting collection. His letters are all
dated {from London, and the seal on them repre-
sents a grasshopper. It should appear that he
made a good fortune in London, for, during his
father’s lifetime he settled at Holt in Norfolk,
built a manor-house there, and became lord of the
manor of Kast Beckham. He kept his own during
the troublesome wars of the Roses and the frequent
revolutions which occurred in the times of Henry
the Sixth and Edward the Fourth ; and as Holt
was only four miles from the sea-coast, and as
Norfolk had long been a very trading county, he
probably increased his fortune by commercial spe-
culations. There was good precedent in the county
for men engaging in trade who had not been bred
to it. Sir John Fastolf, one of the most famous
warriors of that age, who lived near Yarmouth,
and who bequeathed Caister Castle to the Paston
family, concerned himself with ships and in mer-
chandise, although not very successfully, if we are
to believe his secretary, William Botoner.f But an
acute lawyer, like James Gresham, might succeed, -
where a bluff, hasty, hospitable old soldier, like
Fastolf, had failed. James Gresham occasionally
left his manor-house at Holt to reside in the po-
pulous and busy, and at that time very commereial,
capital of the county, for one of his five sons was
born at Norwich. |

This James Gresham was succeeded by his son

* Paston Letters.
+ Ibid. William Botoner appears to have been the familiar
name of the celebrated William Woreester.
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John, and John married a lady who brought him
a large fortune and four sons— William, Thomas,
Richard, and John. Richard, the father of the
founder of the Royal Exchange and Gresham Col-
lege, was knighted by Henry the Eighth, as was
also his younger brother John. It appears that
three of the four brothers, including William, the
eldest, who succeeded to the landed estates, and
was the last of the family that lived at Holt in
Norfolk, were all engaged in trade, and indebted
solely to trade for the illustration the family ac-
quired.* William was a mercer and merchant-
adventurer of London, and one of the principal
freemen of the Mercers’ Company. DBefore at-
taining to this eminence he had made voyages
beyond sea, and had been in the Mediterranean
and up the Levant. ¢ It appears,” says Hakluyt,
“ out of certain ancient ledgers of Master John
Gresham, that between the years 1511 and 1534
many English ships traded to the Levant;” and
among these ships Hakluyt mentions ‘¢ the Mary
George, wherein was factor William Gresham.”
In 1544 he joined his younger brothers Richard
and John in advancing to Henry the Eighth one
thousand and seventy-three pounds on a mortgage
of common lands; and at this time he was ranked
among the most considerable of the English mer-
chants that traded with the Low Countries. Ile

* John Ward, Professor of Rhetoric in Gresham College
and F.R.S. Lives of the Professors of Gresham College,
&ec.; to which is prefixed the Life of the Founder, Sir
Thomas Gresham. 1 vol. fol. Lond. 1740.

John William Burgon. Life and Times of Sir Thomas
Gresham ; compiled chiefly from his Correspondence pre-
served in Her Majesty’s State Paper Office, &ec. 2 vols.
8vo. Lond. 1839.

B 2
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died in the year 1547 or 1548, and was buried in
Our Lady Chapel, in the church of Saint Pancras,
Soper Lane (now Bow Lane), in the city of Lon-
don. Of the next brother, Thomas Gresham, little
is known, except that he was a priest, became a
prebendary of Winchester, and died in 1557 or
1558, in the time of Queen Mary. We have seen
that his brother William had been in the Mediter-
ranean in the days of Henry the Eighth, and it is
thought that it is he who is mentioned in the fol-
lowing tale of a very delightful, but somewhat
credulous, old English traveller. George Sandys,
who was in the Mediterranean in the year 1610,
after describing Mount Stromboli and the other
Sicilian voleanoes, says, with all due seriousness : —
‘“ These places and such like are commonly affirmed
by the Roman Catholics to be the jaws of hell, and
that within the damned souls are tormented. It
was told me at Naples by a countryman of ours,
and an old pensioner of the pope’s, who was a
youth in the days of King Henry, that it was then
generally bruited throughout England, that M.
Gresham, a merchant, setting sail from Palermo
(where there then dwelt one Anthonio, called the
Rich, who at one time had two kingdoms mort-
gaged unto him by the King of Spain), being
crossed by contrary winds, was constrained to an-
chor under the lee of this island (Stromboli).
Now about midday, when for certain hours it ac-
customedly forbeareth to flame, he ascended the
mountain with eight of the sailors; and approach-
ing as near the vent as they durst, amongst other
noises they heard a voice cry aloud, ¢ Dispateh,
dispatch, the rich Anthonio is a-coming I’ Terri-
fied herewith they descended ; and anon the moun-
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tain again evaporated fire. But from so dismal
a place they made all the haste that they could:
when the wind still thwarting their course, and
desiring much to know more of this matter, they
returned to Palermo. And forthwith inquiring
of Anthonio, it was told them that he was dead ;
and computing the time, did find it to agree with
the very instant that the voice was heard by them.
Gresham reported this at his return to the King
(Henry the Eighth), and the mariners being called
before him, confirmed by oath the narration. In
Gresham himself, as this gentleman said (for I no
otherwise report it), it wrought so deep an im-
pression that he gave over all traffic; distributing
his goods, a part to his kinsfolk, and the rest to
good uses, retaining only a competency to him-
self; and so spent the rest of his life in a solitary
devotion.” *

Richard Gresham, the third of these brothers,
and father of Sir Thomas, was born at Holt, but
bred a mercer in the City of London, being ap-
prenticed to DMr. John DMiddleton, an eminent
mercer and merchant of the staple at Calais. As
early as the year 1507, he was admitted to the
freedom of the Mercers’ Company. Ile was so
very fortunate in trade that he purchased large

* Narration of a Journey begun A.p. 1610, lib. iv. p. 249,
3rd edition. Lond. 1627.—The author, George Sandys,
was born in 1577, and died in 1643. He was the youngest
son of Dr. Sandys, archbishop of York. In the course of
his travels he visited Greece, Syria, Palestine, Egypt, Sicily,
and Ttaly. Iis book of Travels is a delightful volume; but
he is, perhaps, still better known as a poet than as a tra-
veller. He translated into English verse, and with much
spirit, the Metamorphoses of Ovid, and executed a version
of the Psalms.
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estates in several counties of England. He was
frequently absent upon business at Calais and in
the Low Countries. During his residence on the
continent he appears to have been a great collector
and writer of news, as his ancestor, James Gresham,
had been at London in the troublous time of
Henry the Sixth, only, instead of writing to a
judge and knight, and the Norfolk family of the
Pastons, as James had done, he corresponded di-
rectly with the king’s ministers, and with no less a
personage than Cardinal Wolsey, who could say,
Eigo et rex meus, and who was for many years the
alter Eigo of the king. Richard Gresham in fact
acted as political and commercial, or money agent
for Henry the Eighth in the Netherlands, and
resided in this capacity at Antwerp during Henry’s
capricious and ridiculous wars with France; and
after Ienry’s death he was employed in the same
manner by those who managed the government for
young Edward the Sixth. It appears, however,
that he did not hold the #tle, although he did the
offices of royal agent. IIis son Thomas, who
carried out so many of his designs, had both the
title and the duty. Richard Gresham was much
devoted to the great English cardinal and prime
minister ; and he was the first of our merchants
that discovered that foreign loans were precarious
and costly, and that money might possibly be
raised in the City of London for the service of the
king or governmentf without applying to the Dutch
and Flemings. Ilis devotion to government got
him into some trouble, but there is good reason to
believe that it also obtained for him many pre-
ferences and advantages. In the year 1525, Henry
the Eighth being in great want of money to enable
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him to keep his engagements with the Emperor
Charles the Fifth, and carry on the war against
Francis the First, Cardinal Wolsey, who hitherto
had been a very popular minister, had recourse to
some arbitrary impositions, which drove the Lon-
doners to the very verge of rebellion, and ereated
a universal discontent throughout the country.
Before this ferment subsided, the king wanted
more money, and the cardinal was compelled to
apply to the lord mavor and aldermen of London
for a “benevolence,” or voluntary contribution.
On the 8th day of May the cardinal sent for the
lord mayor (Sir William Bayly) and the aldermen
to Hampton Court, to take them to task for not
having promptly complied with his grace the
king’s wishes. A councillor of the City told the
lord cardinal that by the law of the land no such
benevolence might be demanded, forasmuch as it
was contrary to the statute made in the first year
of King Richard the Third. ¢ Sir,” quoth the
cardinal, ¢ I marvel that you speak of Richard the
Third, which was a usurper and a murtherer of his
own nephews ! Ofso evil a man, how can the acts
be good ¥’ The lord mayor and aldermen, how-
ever, continuned to think that this particular act,
which went to protect the purses of the subjeet,
was a very good act ; and the city councillor said,
‘“ Although Richard did evil, yet in his time were
many good acts made, not by him only, but by the
consent of the bﬂdy of the whole realm, which is
the parliament.” Then Sir William Ba},lv the
mayor, kneit down before the cardinal and gave
sundry reasons why he and the aldermen could
not even consent to impose upon the City this fresh
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contribution. At first Wolsey threatened, and
next he tried to cajole the mayor, but in the end
he granted time for consulting the common council
of the City. The mayor did wisely not to assent
to the grant, for the common counecil would never
have assented, and without their concurrence the
thing was void. On the very next day the question
was debated in common hall, and in a very stormy
manner, the demand of the government being sup-
ported by Richard Gresham, John Hewster, and
Richard Gibson. The common council declared
the demand to be illegal, fell into a great fury,
said that Richard Gresham and John Hewster,
mercers, and Richard (zibson, serjeant-at-arms and
merchant tailor, ought to be banished out of the
common council ; and so, without making answer
as to what they would do, they departed home.
This storm, however, soon blew over, though not
until the cardinal had given up his demand, and
had said many kind and flattering things to the
mayor and his brethren, and certain members of
the common council.® It should appear that the
friendship between Wolsey and Richard Gresham
continued to the end of the cardinal’s life, for in -
the year 1530, when Wolsey was dying at Leicester,
he spoke of Gresham as his fast friend ; and when
Sir William Kingston, constable of the Tower,
who had him in custody, asked what had become
of a certain sum of money lately in his possession,
the cardinal replied, ¢ I assure you it is none of
mine, for I borrowed it of divers of my friends to
bury me, and to bestow among my servants.” And
then Wolsey explained to Kingston how he was
* Hall's Chronicle,
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indebted for two hundred pounds to Richard
Gresham.*

In the following year (1531), Richard became
sheriff of London, and received the honour of
knighthood from Henry the IKighth. At this
time Sir Richard attempted to do what was after-
wards done by his son Sir Thomas. The mer-
chants of London having no convenient place of
resort, were accustomed to meet at change hours
in Lombard-street, where they were exposed to
the open air, and all injuries of the weather. DBut
while Sir Richard was sheriff he wrote a letter to
Sir Thomas Audeley, then lord privy seal, to ac-
quaint him that there were certain houses in
Lombard-street belonging to Sir George Monnocks,
which, if allowed to be purchased and pulled down,
would afford space for a handsome Burse (Bourse)
or Iixchange to be built on the ground; and he
therefore entreated Audeley to move his majesty,
King Henry, that a letter might be sent to Sir
George, requiring him to sell those houses to the
mayor and commonalty of the City of London,
“ for such prices as he did purchase them for.”
¢ The letter,” adds Sir Richard, ¢ must be sharply
made, for he is of no gentle nature. And that he
shall give further credence to the mayor, I will
deliver the letter and handle him the best I can;
and if I may obtain to have the said houses, I
doubt not but to gather one thousand pounds
towards the building ere I depart out of mine
office.” Ile calculated that two thousand pounds,
- or something more, would pay for the new build-
ing, which would be ‘ very beautiful to the City,
and also for the honour of our sovereign lord the

* Cavendish. Life of Cardinal Wolsey.
B 3



18 LIFE OF GRESHAM.

king.” He declared to the lord keeper, that unless
the citizens might purchase the said houses, the
said * burse” could not be made.* Whether it
was that the government would not interfere and
take from Sir George Monnocks those houses in
Lombard-street ¢ for the prices he did purchase
them for,” or whether it proceeded from the in-
difference or backwardness of the citizens, or from
other cause or causes, it is quite certain that Sir
Richard’s scheme fell to the ground. Itis pro-
bable that the fault lay mostly, if not entirely,
with the citizens ; for when, in the year 1534 or
1535, the king proposed that they should remove
their place of meeting from the open thoroughfare
in Lombard-street to the Leaden Hall, an appro-
priate and commodious place, the proposal was
negatived in the common council by a show of
hands. ‘

In another attempt, and one which was attended
by results still more important than those which
proceeded from the building of the Exchange, Sir
Richard Gresham was more successful. By a
recent proclamation the liberty of barter, or of ex-
changing one commodity for another, was pro-
hibited. Sir Richard showed to Auwudeley, the
lord privy seal, that this would be very mischievous,
and ought to be abrogated without loss of time;
that it was in the highest degree necessary that
all merchants, whether subjects or foreigners, should
be permitted to exercise and deal in exchanges
and rechanges without restraint; and that the
-want of such liberty was a great detriment to trade,
and occasioned the unnecessary exportation of

* John Ward. Lives of the Gresham Professors. Ward
gives Sir Richard’s Letters in his Appendix.
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much gold out of the kingdom. ¢If,” wrote Sir
Richard, ¢ it shall not please the king’s goodness
shortly to make a proclamation, that all manner of
merchants, as well his subjects as all other, may
ever use and exercise their exchanges and rechanges
frankly and freely, as they have heretofore done,
without any let or impediment, it will cause a
great many of cloths and kerseys to be left unsold
in the cloth-maker’s hands, if it be not out of
hand remedied: for Bartholomew Fair will be
shortly here, which is the chief time for the
utterance of the said cloths and kerseys. Also
there is divers merchants that will shortly prepare
themselves toward DBordeaux for provisions of
wines ; and for lack of exchanges, I do suppose
there will be conveyed some gold amongst them.
I am sure, my lord, that these exchanges and re-
changes do much to the stay of the said gold in
England, which would else be conveyed over. I
pray your good lordship to pardon me, for as God
shall help me, I write not this for none commodity
for myself, but for the discharge of my duty
towards the king’s majesty ; and for that I do
surely know it shall be for the common wealth of
his subjects, and for the utterance of the com-
modities of this realm: for the merchants can no
more be without exchanges and rechanges, than
the ships in the sea can be without water. DMy
lord, I have now declared my poor mind. Do as
it shall please you.”* In consequence of these
strong representations the unwise proclamation was
revoked by another royal proclamation.

In the year 1537 Sir Richard Gresham became
Lord Mayor of London, and had a grant from the

* Letter of Sir Richard in Ward’s Appendix.
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herald’s office to him and his posterity for an addi-
tion to their arms.* It appears that he continued
to manage various financial matters for the court,
and that he retained the good will of the ministers
who succeeded Cardinal Wolsey, and the favour of
Henry the Eighth even when that once debonnaire
king had grown into a gross, capricious, and san-
guinary tyrant. The last fact will explain that Sir
Richard had a yielding conscience in matters of
religion, or the self-securing faculty of making
people believe that he always believed according
to the last Act of Parliament, or last mandate from
court, touching religion. In these unhappy days it
was not a struggle between Protestantism and Ca-
tholicism, but a struggle between men’s consciences
and the king’s will ; for Henry could no more be
called a Protestant than he could be called a
Roman Catholic ; and if he burned a Romanist
one day for denying his supremacy over the as yet
unformed and umntelllglble Anglican church, he
would burn a Protestant on the next for denylng
transubstantiation ; and he showed no mercy to
such as would not submit to his frequent changes
of opinion. It could not, therefore, be by his
being a steady Protestant that Sir Richard Gres-
ham retained his court favour in this shifting and
stormy weather. While he was sheriff he received
into his custody and committed to Newgate the
unfortunate James Bainham, a Protestant gentle-
man of the Temple, who was charged with heresy
by the popish priests, whose doctrines and powers
had not yet been called in question, and who was
burned in Smithfield on the 30th of April, 1532.
In his official capacity Sir Richard could not have
* Ward.
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acted otherwise than he did, without exposing him-
self to severe legal penalties and to the wrath of a
king who was already setting himself above ail
law. But it should seem that Gresham showed
great subserviency, and a readiness to execute any
orders which came from Henry. In 1541, or more
than three years after he had ceased to be mayor,
when Henry declared that, whether papists or Pro-
testants, all were heretics who rejected his own un-
settled exposition of the faith, and named commis-
sions to find out heretics and bring them to condign
punishment, Sir Richard, as well as his younger
brother, Sir John Gresham, was put into the com-
mission for heresies done in the city and diocese of
TLondon, over which Bishop Bonner continued to
preside ; and under this commission eruelties were
committed as atrocious as any that were perpetrated
in the time of Queen Mary. A capital difference
between Henry’s persecution and the Marian per-
secution was this: Mary proceeded only against
Protestants and sectarians, her father proceeded
with equal fury against Catholics, Protestants, and
sectarians, often causing to be coupled together a
Catholic with a Protestant on the same hurdle, and
so to be drawn to Smithfield, to the horror of both
sects. It was this made a Frenchman exclaim,
“ Good God! how do people make a shift to live
here, where papists are hanged and anti-papists are
burned!” At this time Sir Richard Gresham was
not trammelled by any official duty, as he had been
during his shrievalty ; and either he must have
solicited the office or have been selected for it from
the knowledge that he would do the king’s will
with alacrity, and make no distinction between the
old Catholics and the new Protestants. This dis-
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position may have proceeded in good part from
self-interest ; for Sir Richard had come early inte
the market as a purchaser of church and monastic
property, and had written letters to Thomas Crom-
well, the great agent in the confiscation, to beg
him to move the king’s highness to be good and
gracious lord unto him, and give him preference
in the market, and let him buy, at a price of his
own naming, certain church lands in Norfolk, and
‘to deduct from the purchase-money the sum of one
thousand pounds, which, at Cardinal Wolsey’s de-
sire, he had paid to the late Duke of Buckingham
upon his going into France, and which ever since
had been owing to him (Gresham) by the court.
He received from Henry five successive grants of
church lands ; and in 1540 he was named one of
the commission for taking the value of the abbeys,
monasteries, &c., in and about London, a commis-
-sion which no man executed without looking to
himself. It was the good things to be gotten in
this way, out of the spoils of the old church, that
reconciled the consciences of many men to all the
subsequent freaks and dogmas of Henry, and that
kept up for him a strong and devoted party through
all his wife-murderings and other butcheries, and
~down to the last hour of his tyrannical existence.
But, with all this, Sir Richard Gresham was a
compassionate and considerate man for the poor,
and a generous friend of the City company to which
he belonged. If he profited himself by the break-
ing up of the old institutions, he made efforts to
get something out of the scramble for the destitute
classes, who, in former times, had depended upon
the alms of the popish clergy ; and, in the grand
-confiscation of religious houses in the City, he ob-
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tained for the Mercers’ Company the house of St.
Thomas of Acre, and the Company erected the
Mercers’ Chapel, in Cheapside, on the site. Little
was got out of that enormous spoil to be set aside
for the support of the sick and indigent ; and hence
came the necessity, in Queen Elizabeth’s time, of
making those poor laws which, during two centu-
ries and a half, had the effect of promoting and
perpetuating pauperism even more than the mo-
nastic institutions had done. Nothing was secured
in the scramble for the seats of learning (the spo-
liation and suppression of Oxford and Cambridge
were contemplated) ; little was got for any public
institution, or for any national purpose whatever ;
but this little would have been less if there had
not been a few men like Sir Richard Gresham,
who, while attending to his own advantage, could
yet think somewhat of others. In the time of his
mayoralty he petitioned Henry ¢ for the aid and
comfort of the poor, sick, blind, aged, and impo-
tent persons, being not able to help themselves,
nor having no place certain where they may be
refreshed or lodged at;” and he prayed the king to
order that the ‘¢ three hospitals or spitals within
the City, commonly called St. Mary’s spital, St.
Bartholomew’s spital, and St. Thomas’s spital, and
the new abbey by Tower Hill,” should be set apart
and endowed for the use of these poor and sick
people; and that the mayor of the City and bhis
brethren the aldermen for the time being should
have the administration, or the order, disposition,
rule, and government of all the lands, tenements,
and revenues which had appertained and belonged
to the said houses when they were occupied by the
monks, &e.  ““ And then,” continued Sir Richard,
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‘“ your grace shall facilely perceive that where a
small number of canons, priests, and monks be now
found, for their own profit only, and not for the
common utility of the realm, a great number of
poor, needy, sick, and indigent persons shall be
refreshed, maintained, and comforted, and also
healed and cured of their infirmities, frankly and
freely, by physicians, surgeons, and pothecaries,
which shall have stipend and salary for that pur-
pose.” ¥ The prayer of this petition was in good
part granted by Henry, and the grant was con-
firmed under his son Edward the Sixth.

The death of Henry the Eighth, on the 28th of
January, 1547, brought about extreme changes in
court and government ; but Gresham’s court favour
was not hereby affected, and he lived in great
friendship with that very questionable personage,
the protector Duke of Somerset, who governed the
realm during part of the minority of Edward the
dixth. In his will he bequeathed a ring to the
protector, and another to his wife the duchess. Sir
Richard, however, survived the old king little
‘more than a year, dying on the 20th or 2Ist of
February, 1548, at his mansion at Bethnal Green,
‘which had long been his usual place of residence.
He was buried in the City, in the church of St.
Lawrence, Jewry, where his tomb, with a short
inscription upon it, was to be seen down to the
year 1666, when the great fire of Londou destroyed
the church and so many others.

John Gresham, the youngest of these four
brothers, led nearly the same life as Sir Richard.
He also was born at Holt, and he succeeded his

* Cottonilan Manuseripts, as quoted by J. W. Burgon.
Life and Times of Sir Thomas Gresham.
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brother Rickard as apprentice to Mr. John Mid-
dleton of London. He was admitted a member of
the Mercers’ Company in 1517. e became one
of the principal merchant adventurers trading with
the Levant, and made at least one voyage into those
countries ; for it is related that, being at the island
of Scio, he freighted a Portuguese vessel, and loaded
it with merchandise for England. The Portuguese
to whom this vessel belonged, instead of proceeding
for IEngland, went to his own country, and kept
the cargo, valued at twelve thousand ducats, for
his own use ; but Henry the Ilighth wrote a spirited
letter to John, King of Portugal, to claim the
property. DBut it does not appear that the ecargo
or the value of it was ever restored. Henry’s letter
bears the date of the 15th of October, 1531. John
acquired a large fortune by trade, and purchased
several estates in Norfolk, as also the manor of
Titsey, in Surrey, which had been granted, in the
vear 1527, to John, Lord Berners (the excellent
old translator of Froissart’s ‘Cllrﬂtli{,]ﬂs’), by
King Henry the Kighth. In 1537, the year of
his brother Richard’s mayoralty, John became
sherift of London, and obtained the honour of
knighthood. In 1539, when Anne of Cleves came
to Iingland to succeed for a short time the divorced
Catherine of Arragon and the beheaded Anne
Boleyn, as wife to Henry the Eighth, Sir John
Gresham entertained at his house some of the
German ambassadors and knights that came over
with her. In 1546 he made a better use of his
money, for he bought of his eldest brother William
the family manor-house at Holt, and converted it
into a free grammar-school, and endowed it with
extensive demesnes, including Holt, IHales, and
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other estates in Norfolk, and some lands or houses

in London. Like other property bequeathed for
the same noble purposes, this endowment has been
allowed to be shamefully mismanaged, and in part
alienated ; and instead of being one of the foremost
establishments in all England, which it well might
have been by this time, it educates only some forty
or fifty boys, and has only one University exhibition
of twenty pounds per annum. The passion for
plunder, and extortion, and self-appropriation, did
not cease with the remorseless scramble for church
property at the dawn of the Reformation; and,
unhappily, the good intentions of the Gresham
family have been particularly exposed to the mean
and selfish passions of those who have lived after
them, and who have been unworthily entrusted
with the administration of the property they be-
queathed for high and ennobling purposes. By an
indenture bearing date the 16th of October, Sir
John settled the revenues and government of this
his free-school at Holt upon the worshipful Com-
pany of Fishmongers; and to the predecessors of
this worshipful Company, in whose hands the ma-
nagement still is, must be mainly attributed the
present poverty of the school. Sir John joined his
elder brother Sir Richard in imploring Henry the
Eighth to make over some of the suppressed reli-
gious houses in the City for the use of the poor
and diseased ; and it is said that to him the City
was indebted for Bethlehem Hospital, which he
obtained for the corporation as an asylum for
lunatics. In the year 1547 Sir John Gresham was
elected lord mayor. During his mayoralty he re-
vived the picturesque and splendid pageant of the
¢ Marching Watch,” on Midsummer KEve, which
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had been put down by proclamation in 1528, on
account of the sweating sickness, which had been
again prohibited by royal command in 1539. and
had been discontinued ever since, although at one
time Henry the Eighth had taken much delight in
it, and had carried his wife Jane Seymour into the
City to see the sight from the MErcErRS’ HaLL.*
Sir John’s revival of the pageantry gave great
satisfaction, and presented some novel features.
‘“ The Watch,” says Stow, ¢ which had been
accustomed in London at Midsummer, of long time
laid down, was now again used, both on the eve of
St. John and St. Peter, in as comely order as it
had been accustomed, which Watch was greatly
beautified by the number of more than three hun-
dred demi-lances and light horsemen that were
prepared by the citizens to be sent into Scotland,
for the rescue of the town of Haddington and
other, kept by Englishmen in Scotland.” f In the
following year, 1549, the pageant of the ‘“ marching
watch,” which cost a great deal of money, was put
down again, and for good ; and it was determined,
¢“ in the room thereof, to have a substantial stand-
ing ¢ watch,” for the safety and preservation of
the City.”{ Sir John Gresham, at least in his
official capacity as alderman, did not seem to con-
tinue the friendship which his brother Sir Richard
had entertained for the protector Somerset; for
when that great duke was overcome by a contrary
faction, and fell prostrate and helpless before his
enemies, Sir John helped to hand him to the Tower.

* For a picturesque description of the Marching Watch,

see article ¢ Midsummer-Eve’ in ¢ A Volume of Varieties.”
t John Stow. Annals, or General Chronicle of England.
I John Stow. Survey of London.
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¢ On the 11th of October,” says honest John Stow,

‘ the lords sitting as the lords great masters, Siv
Anthony Wingfield, captain of the guard, was sent
to the young king at Windsor, and separated the
lord protector from his person, and caused the
guard to watch him till the lords’ coming. On the
morrow the lord chancellor, with the rest of the
council, rode to Windsor to the king, and that
night the lord protector was put in ward into
Beauchamp’s Tower, in the castle of Windsor.
The 14th of October, in the afternoon, the Duke
of Somerset was brought from Windsor, riding
betwixt the Earls of Southampton and Huntingdon,
through Holborn, and in at New Gate to the
Tower of London, accompanied with divers lords
and gentlemen, and with three hundred horses, the
lord mayor, Sir Ralph Warren, Sir John Gresham,
master recorder, Sir William Lock, and both the
sherifts, and other knights sitting on their horses
against Soper Lane, and all the officers with hal-
bards, and from Holborn Bridge to the Tower cer-
tain aldermen, or their deputies, on horseback in
every street, with a number of householders stand-
ing with bills as he passed.”* Dut as Sir John
Gresham had great power and authority in the
City, he probably did more in this revolution than
merely sit upon horseback against Soper Lane. It
was chiefly through the city of London that the
Earl of Warwick (afterwards Duke of Northum-
berland) and the other lords of the council had
been enabled to prevail against the protector So-
merset. The citizens, in fact, had as much to do
in pulling down Somerset as their forefathers haa
had to do in setting up the Duke of Gloucester as

* Annals.



THE GRESIAM FAMILY. 29

Richard the Third. On the 6th of October, while
the protector was taking down the armour at
Hampton Court, and arming his adherents, and
making ramparts before the gates of that palace,
Warwick and the other lords of the council assem-
bled at Ely Place, in London, had dispatched
orders for the attendance of the lieutenant of the
Tower, and of the lord mayor and aldermen, all of
whom attended at Ily Place forthwith, and con-
sented to obey their orders. Warwick and the
lords of the council wrote to the nobility and gentry
in the different parts of the kingdom ; but, before
they could arrive from the country, the revolution
was finished. It was on hearing what was passing
in the city of London that Somerset had quitted
Hampton Court, and had gone to Windsor Castle
as to a place of greater strength. The lords of the
council, keeping in the city of London, appealing
to the citizens, and relying on their strength, pro-
claimed the protector to be a great traitor, and
called upon the City and commons to aid them to
take him from the king. This was done on Sunday,
the 7th of October, after a great meeting in the
City. On Monday, the 8th, Warwick and the
lords of the council went to the Guild Hall, where
the common council being assembled, and having
listened to a narrative of all that had been done,
‘“ declared they thanked God for the good inten-
tions they, the lords of the council, had expressed,
and assured them they would stand by them with
their lives and goods.” ¥ When business was over,
there was a dinner in the City. ¢ The lords dined
with Master Yorke, one of the sherifls; and in the
afternoon proclamation was made in divers places
* Bishop DBurnet.
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of the City, with trumpets, heralds, and king-at-
arms, wherein were contained divers articles tnuch-
ing the evil government of the lord protector.” *
On the 10th of October the common council, assem-
bled at Guild Hall, granted five hundred men of
the City, whereof one hundred were to be horse-
men, to be ready on the next morning ; and on
this day the lords dined with Master Turke, one of
the sheriffs of London. By the 14th, as we have
seen, Somerset was safely lodged in the Tower.
As the court of aldermen, as well as the common
council, appears to have been unanimous; and as
all the more influential aldermen were very active,
Sir John Gresham, at that time the most powerful
of them all, must have contributed essentially to
the protector’s downfall. We respect, not blame
him for this; for Somerset was a base, bad man,
and the government he had set up (though some
good may have proceeded out of the evil) was
treacherous, cruel, and altogether detestable, save
only where it was contemptible. Sir John needs
no excuse for his enmity, but excuses are to seek
for his brother Richard’s professions of friendship
to the protector and that incurable virago the
duchess his wife. Sir John occasionally acted as
agent for the court in commercial or financial
transactions, and he appears to have resided some
time, or perhaps several times, at Antwerp, which
continued to be the great mart for Inglish goods
and produce, and a sort of banking place to our
government. When the Protestant government of
Edward the Sixth was succeeded by the persecuting
Catholic government of Queen Mary, Sir John, so
far from being molested, appears to have recovered
* John Stow. Annals.
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some money that was owing to him by Mary’s two
immediate predecessors, her father and brother.
He survived this great change for more than three
years, living unscathed in the hottest part of the
Marian persecutions. Whether, like so many
others, he conformed and shaped their faith accord-
ing to the will of the queen and the acts of the
new parliament, we know not ; nor are we informed
whether he contributed to the loans which were
raised for Queen Mary. As he was then alive and
- well, and was both an alderman and a citizen of
great substance, there can be little doubt that he
rode through the City with Queen Mary on the
day of her coronation, when the citizens showed
much loyalty and devotion, and that he was among
the party afterwards summoned to court to receive
a lecture from Gardiner, the intolerant Bishop of
Winchester. On the 14th of January, 1554,
Bishop Gardiner, being then chancellor, had made
to the lords, nobility, and court gentry an ¢ oration
very eloquent,” in the presence chamber, the object
of which was to make them reconcile their minds
to the unpopular marriage of Queen Mary with
Philip the Second of Spain. And on the very next
day the lord mayor of London, with his brethren
the aldermen, and forty citizens of good substance,
were summoned to court, where GGardiner repeated
his oration, and desired them all to behave them-
selves like good subjects, with humbleness and
rejoicing, for so happy an event as that of their
queen’s marriage with the great Spanish monarch.
Sir John Gresham died on the 23d of October,
1556, of a malignant fever, which had been raging
in London since the preceding year, and which
was noted for being very fatal to old persons, and



32 LIFE OF GRESHAM.

for having carried off seven worshipful aldermen
within the space of ten months.* If Sir John had
not conformed in his lifetime, his funeral was very
papistical. The day of interment happening to be
a fish-day or fast-day, an extraordinary fish dinner
was provided on the occasion, to which were ad-
mitted all that came. IHis funeral sermon was
preached by the celebrated Doctor IHarpsfield, who
must have been at this time at least a professing
papist, for Queen Mary'by proclamation had pro-
hibited all priests and clergymen from preaching
without her licence. ¢ Ile was buried,” says Stow,
“ with a standard and pennon of arms, and a coat-
armour of damask, and four pennons of arms, be-
sides a helmet, a target, and a sword, mantels and
the crest, a goodly hearse of wax, ten dozen of
pensils (pennons), and twelve dozen of escutcheons.
He had four dozen of great staff-torches, and a
dozen of great long torches. . . . .4 ¢ G
The church and the streets were all hung with
black, and arms in great store, and on the morrow
three goodly masses were sung, one of the Trinity,
another of Our Lady, and the third of Requiem.
He left to the Mercers’ Company 13/. 6s. 8d. for a
feast, ‘‘ desiring them, after dinner, to have his
soul in remembrance with their prayers.” His
charitable bequests were numerous. He left to
every ward 1n London ten pounds, to be distributed
to the poor; to a hundred and twenty poor men and
women, each three yards of broad cloth, of eight
or nine shillings the yard, to be made into gowns :
he left one hundred pounds to poor maids’ mar-
riages, and other considerable sums to the different
prisons and hospitals in London. His ¢ well-

* Stow. Survey of London. Sirype’s edition.
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beloved nephew Thomas Gresham ” (the founder
of the Exchange) was one of the executors to his
will. ~ He was buried in the church of St. Michael,
Bassishaw, where his tomb was seen until the great
fire of 1666. When in the City he had chiefly
lived, first in Milk Street, and afterwards in St.
Mary, Aldermanbury.®

Sir Richard Gresham had two sons, John Gre-
sham, and Thomas, the most famous of all the
family, and the subject of this memoir. John, the
elder of the two brothers, was trained up to busi-
ness under his own father, and, like his kinsmen,
he was wise and fortunate in business. In the
year 1547, a few months after the accession of
Edward the Sixth, when in the thirty-ninth year
of his age, he was knighted by the Lord Protector
Somerset, who had just then returned as a con-
queror from the sanguinary battle of Pinkie or
Musselburgh. John at this time must have been,
outwardly at least, a decided Protestant, as the
Duke of Somerset stood at the head of that party,
and allowed no honours or distinctions to Catholics.
Perhaps his father, Sir Richard, was mindful of
this knighthood when he professed such friendship
for the Lord Protector, and bequeathed the two
rings. In the year 1550 this John Gresham was
admitted a member of the Mercers’ Company. In
the reign of (Queen Mary he complied with the
times. It should seem that he did rather more
than comply. In the month of December, 1556,
about two months after the death and funeral of
his uncle, Sir John, when the fires of Smithfield
were blazing, and when Queen Mary’s terrible
proclamation against heretics was in full force,

* Ward.
o,






CHAPTER II.

LARLY LIFE OF SIR THHOMAS GRESHAM.

TroMas GreEsaaM, it has been said, was born in
the year 1519. The place of his birth is, however,
somewhat doubtful, Fuller, in his ¢ Worthies,’
says decidedly that he was born in the county ﬂf
Norfolk, wherein his family held so much landed
property. Others again say that he was born in
London, where his famlly were carrying on so
great and thriving a business.* One part of old
IFuller’s accuunt, to wit, that he ¢ was bred a
mercer and merchant in the city of London,” is
beyond dispute. Iis mother, the first wife of Sir
Richard Gresham, was Audrey, daughter of Wil-
liam Lynne, Esquire, of Southwick in Northamp-
tonshire. Son, grandson, and nephew to opulent
merchants, Thomas was destined to trade from his
birth. e was deprived of his mother when only
three years old. But Sir Richard, although in-
tending his son should follow his own profession,
resolved to give him the advantages of a liberal
education at one of the universities. This was a
rare thing for citizens and merchants to do in the

* A recent biographer thinks that Gresham must have
been born in London, and in the parish of St. Lawrence
Jewry, because his parents were buried there!—A DBrief
Memoir of Sir Thomas Gresham, with an Abstract of his
Will, &e, Lond. 1833,

o2
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sixteenth century. Thomas was sent to Cambridge,
and yet was bound apprentice as mercer to his
uncle John. 'Whether he went to Cambridge first
and to his uncle’s counting-house and warehouse
afterwards, or whether he finished his apprentice-
ship first, and went to the university after that, we
do not discover. At his college there is no register
of admission that reaches back to his time. We
know from Doctor Caius, one of the co-founders
of Gouville or Caius College, Cambridge, that he
was entered at that house ; but the doctor gives no
date either of his coming up to or of his quitting
the college : he merely says, that among the stu-
dents of the college was Thomas Gresham, the
noble and very rich merchant (nobilis ille et ditis-
stmus mercator) who afterwards built the Royal
Exchange. We learn from Gresham himself that
he served eight years’ apprenticeship to trade ; but
probably his stay at Cambridge was but short, and
was taken out of these eight years. Writing a
good many years after his apprenticeship, from the
city of Antwerp, to the Duke of Northumberland
(the unwise and unhappy father of Lady Jane
Grey), one of his earliest patrons, (Gresham, in
speaking of commercial matters, says, ¢ To the
which science I myself was bound ’prentice eight
years, to come by the experience and knowledge
that I have. Nevertheless I need not to have been
‘prentice, for that I was free by my father’s copy :
albeit my father, Sir Richard Gresham, being a
wise man, knew, although I was free by his copy,
it was to no purpose, except 1 were bound ’pren-
tice to the same, whereby to come by the experi-
ence and knowledge of all kinds of merchandise.”*

* Flanders Correspondence in State Paper Office, as
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As early as the year 1543, when only in the
twenty-fourth year of his age, he was admitted a
member of the Mercers’ Company, on the rolls of
which were already inseribed the names of so many
of his family. ¢ This company,” says a recent
City historian, *is the first of all the twelve com-
panies, taking place of all others, and are very
numerous and rich; they take no quarterage of
those made free thereof; and public feasts are at
the charge of the whole society. . . . . .. This com-
pany is patronised by the Blessed Virgin, and of it
there have been several kings, princes, and no-
bility, and ninety-eight lord mayors.” * In the
same year, 1543, he was in the Low Countries,
acting by himself as a merchant, and as an agent
for Henry the Ifighth, or perhaps rather serving
as locum tenens for his father, Sir Richard, or for
his uncle, Sir John. He is thus mentioned in a
dispatch to the king, dated from DBrussels in the
month of June of this year :—¢ The regent hath
granted a licence for the gunpowder and saltpetre
bought for your highness; the which we have
delivered to young Thomas Gresham, solicitor of
the same.”f It was in the month of September,
1544, that Henry renewed war with France, and
burned a vast deal of gunpowder in reducing
Boulogne. In this same busy year (1544) young
Gresham married. His wife was daughter to Wil-
liam Ferneley, Esquire, of West Creting in Suffolk,

quoted by J. W. Burgon. Life and Times of Sir Thomas
Gresham.

* History of the Twelve Great Livery Companies of
London, principally compiled from their Grant and Records,
&e., &e. By William Herbert, librarian to the Corporation
of London. 2 vols. 8vo. 1838.

t Flanders Correspondence.
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and widow of William Read, whose ancestors were
settled at Beccles in Suffolk. Read had been citizen
and mercer of London, and must have lived on terms
of intimacy with the Gresham family, for he ap-
pointed Sir Richard (the father of Thomas, who
married his widow) overseer to his will, and be-
queathed him a legacy of ten pounds and a black
cown. Read’s age is not mentioned. From the
great haste of his widow to marry again, it has
been conjectured that Read was a good deal older
than his wife, or that upon other grounds she did
not much lament his loss. IHe died in the begin-
ning of 1544, and it is proved very satisfactorily
that his wife married young Thomas Gresham in
the course of the same year.* She had two sons
by her first husband. Her younger sister, Jane
Ferneley, was married to Sir Nicholas Bacon, the
Lord Keeper, father to Nathaniel Bacon, and to
the great Francis Bacon, Lord Verulam. To
Gresham she bore one son, who was named after
his grandfather, Richard. It should appear that
this marriage did not keep Gresham at home, but
that he was frequently absent for considerable
periods of time in the Low Countries or elsewhere.
His head-quarters abroad were at Antwerp, the
oreat centre of commercial and financial opera-
tions; but at times he resided at Bruges, and he
probably travelled a good deal about the country.
He had acquired a reputation for activity, ability,
and stability as a merchant, and was enriched by
an hereditary reputation, and by the high consider-
ation to which so many of his family had attained,

* For these proofs see Mr. Burgon’s Life and Times of
Sir Thomas.
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when the embarrassments of the Inglish govern-
ment called him into state employment.

Sir William Dansell, ¢ Kking’s merchant,” or
commercial and financial agent for the crown in
the Low Countries, had shown a great lack of finan-
cial ability ; and through ignorance or negligence
had so mismanaged matters, that the rate of interest
was fearfully raised upon the king, and his credit
at the same time much injured. Ile took God to
witness that if he had had forty thousand lives, and
should have spent them all, he could not have done
more in the matter than he had done; but these
protestations did not save him from being ** revoked
from his office of agent, by reason of his slack-
ness.”* 'This happened in the month of April,
1551, in the fourth year of the reign of Edward
the Sixth. The court and government, being then
entirely ruled by the incapable protector Somerset,
and his self-seeking and rapacious crew, were deeply
in debt, and so discredited abroad that there was
but little prospect of their obtaining any fresh loans.
In this perplexity, their lordships of the council
called in several London merchants, not to ask a
loan from them (for it was never thought that loans
could be raised in Iingland), but to take their ad-
vice as to the most likely means of obtaining leans
abroad, and of thus extricating the government
from the difliculties under which it lay. Among
other merchants thus called upon in a moment of
crisis, was Thomas Gresham, who, during the last
seven years, appears to have been principally re-
sident at Antwerp. ‘I was sent for unto the

* Letters, as quoted by J. W. Burgon, in Life and Times
of Sir Thomas Gresham.
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council,” says Gresham himself, ‘““and brought by
them aﬁ;re the king’s majesty, to know my opinion
(as they had many other merchants), what way,
with least charge, his majesty might grow out of
debt. And after my device was declared, the king’s
highness and the council required me to take the
room [ business or office] in hand, without my suit
or labour for the same.”* _

At this time, the annual interest on the king’s
foreign bonds amounted to 40,000/., which may
be considered as equivalent to 400,000L. at the
present day. DBy the management of the foreign
exchanges, over which no English merchant had
hitherto attempted to exercise any control, the rate
of exchange was ruinously adverse to England,
the pound sterling being reduced to sixteen shil-
lings Flemish. Moreover, the continental capitalists
drove their trade much in the manner of certain
disreputable modern money-lenders, who give to
the spendthrifts with whom they deal so much in
cash, and so much in bad pictures, or in sour wine
in the docks, orin bad jewellery, or the like; oras
the money-lenders of the time of Ilizabeth, who,
according to the old dramatists, gave a little cash,
and ‘“a commodity of brown paper.” At every
renewal of debt, they required their slow and un-
punctual creditors to purchase jewels, or other
wares and merchandise to a large amount, as a
consideration for their giving time for the liquida-
tion of the debt. Thus, in Henry the Eighth’s
reign, Vaughan, then royal agent, writing from
Antwerp to the king’s secretaries, says of a great
money-lender, ¢ he offered to serve the king’s ma-

* Cottonian MS., as cited by J. W. Burgen.
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jesty this next summer during the space of six
months, with a hundred thousand ducats every
‘month, during the number of six months foresaid,
for reasonable interest, and upon the obligations
and bond of London; so the king’s majesty will
please to take a jewel therewith, which he priseth
‘at a hundred thousand ducats, and sweareth it is so
much worth.”* And thus again, in Edward the
Sixth’s time, we find that young prince noting
in his private journal—¢ April 25 (1551). A bar-
gain made with the Fulecare (apparently the Fug-
gers) for about 60,000/, that in May and August
should be paid for the deferring of it. Iirst, that
the Fulcare should put it off for ten in the hundred.
Secondly, that I should buy 12,000 marks weight
at six shillings the ounce, to be delivered at An-
twerp, and so conveyed over. Thirdly, that I should
pay 100,000 erowns for a very fair jewel, four
rubies, marvellous big, one orient and great dia- -

mond, and one great pearl.”t
Gresham himself has described the loan system
as it existed. ¢ Before I was called to serve, there
was no other way devised to bring the king out of
debt but to transport the treasure out of the realm ;
or else, by way of exchange, to the great abasing
of the exchange : for a pound of our current money
there was brought down in value to but sixteen shil-
lings Flemish, and for lack of payment there at the
days appointed, for to preserve his majesty’s credit
withal, it was customary also to prolong time upon
interest, which interest, besides the loss of the ex-
change, amounted unto 40,000/. by year; and in
every such prolongation his majesty was enforced
* Letters in State Paper Office, as cited by J. W. Burgon.

+ Journal of Edward the Sixth,

c 3
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to take great part in jewels or wares, to his extreme
loss and damage.””

It was either at the close of 1551, or at the be-
ginning of 1552, that Thomas Gresham was called
to serve the king. He now carried his wife and
family to Antwerp, and established himself in the
house of Gaspar Schetz, a rich merchant with
whom he had long been connected. This Gaspar
Schetz, whom Gresham always calls ¢ my very dear
friend, » was the eldest of three bl‘ﬂth&l‘b, ‘Whﬂ were
all ‘HEEI,][]'J}T and partners with him in his business.
Their family motto, or the motto they adopted on
a medal which bore the mames of Gaspar, Mel-
chior, and Balthazar Schetz, was ‘‘ CoNcOrRDIA
RES PARVE CRESCANT” (By union small things
increase). All the brothers, like their father be-
fore them (Erasmus Schetz), are described as having
a taste for letters and for arts. (Gaspar, the eldest,
filled very high offices, having been successively
chief factor to the emperor, Charles the Fifth, and
treasurer general of the Low Countries. He was
a connoisseur and collector of coing, and enjoyed
besides the reputation of a poet. He was the fore-
most man in Antwerp, and Antwerp was then the
foremost trading city in Kurope, the importance
of Venice and Genoa having declined ever since
the discovery of the passage to India by the Cape
of Good Hope, and the discovery of America by
Columbus, both which great events had happened
during the reign of Henry the Seventh of England.
The successful and brilliant enterprise of the Por-
tuguese navigator, Vasco de (ama, had made the
commerce of the East to flow in a new channel ;
and the bold and realized theory of Columbus had

* Original Letters, as quoted by Mr. Burgon.
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opened a new world to trade, speculation, and ad-
venture. The Venetians, who had brought over
the spices and other productions of the East by
land carriage across Persia and Asia Minor, or
across the Isthmus of Suez, could no longer com-
pete with their rivals, the Portuguese, now enjoying
the advantage of the much cheaper conveyance
round the Cape; and Lisbon became what Venice
had been, the great source of the supply of these
commodities to the rest of Xurope. The Lisbon
merchants, or those trading directly with them, also
carried the productions of India, in so much larger
quantities than had ever before been known, to the
great intermediate mart of Antwerp, that the wealth
and grandeur of that city may be said to have com-
menced with this date. The reduction of price
caused by the cheaper conveyance, and the facility
of bringing greater quantities by sea than had been
toilfully carried by land, so prodigiously extended
the consumption of these commodities all over
Kurope, that they now formed one of the chief
branches of the Antwerp trade.* Ludovico Gruic-
ciardini, nephew, and for some time secretary
to I‘rancesco (uicciardini, the great Italian his-
torian, writing an account of the Low Countries
not long after the middle of the sixteenth century,
calculates that the value of the spices alone brought
to Antwerp from Lisbon, exceeded a million of
crowns yearly.t

* For further particulars, and for a general view of the
state of trade in this age in the Low Countries, in England,
and throughout Europe, see The History of British Com-
merce from the Earliest Times. By Geo. L. Craik, M.A.
This work is included in the present series of Weekly

Volumes.
. T Ludovico Guicciardini settled at Antwerp, and there,
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This trade diffused great wealth in Antwerp, and
throughout the Low Countries. Another Italian
historian, the Cardinal Bentivoglio, describing the
condition of these times, says that the popula-
tion increased rapidly, that trade was most active,
and that abundance reigned everywhere. ¢ In
Antwerp, it appeared as if Europe had chosen the
seat of universal traffic; in such numbers, and
with such varieties of merchandise, flocked thither
foreigners from all and the remotest regions.”’*
Enrrllsh French, Germans, Danes, Esterlings,
Ita,llans Spa.mards, and Purtuguese, thronged the
busy mart, and exhibited the delightful and not
common spectacle of a multitude of nations living
together like one great family; each nation using
its own customs, and speaking its own language,
but all conforming to the laws and municipal re-
gulations of Antwerp. The native inhabitants, a
social and joyous people, were much improved by
this concourse of strangers. Ludovico Guicciar-
dini notes that it was no rare thing to meet in
society with a lady that could discourse fluently in
five or six, or even seven languages. The same
writer declares that signs of hospitality and merri-
ment were never wanting ; that there was a con-
stant succession of assemblies, nuptials, feasts, and
dances; and that music and singing prevailed in
every street. Thus the trade and prosperity
which had raised the splendid city on the barren

in the year 1585, published collections of the moral and
political aphorlsms scattered through his uncle’s great His-
tory of Italy. ILudovico’s Description of the Low Coun-
tries, or Descrizione di Tutti v Paesi DBassi, was also pub-
lished at Antwerp.

* Bentivoglio della Guerra di Fiandra.

et
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rocks and mud-banks of the Adriatic Sea, had
converted Antwerp on the Scheldt into a sort
of northern Venice. Other arts flourished be-
sides music, and in an especial manner the art
of painting, which in the course of the six-
teenth and seventeenth centuries shed so bright a
glory over the whole of the Low Countries. The
amusements and the many other charms to be found
in Antwerp, drew thither and often detained many
individuals of various nations, who were not en-
gaged either in commercial or in political pursuits,
In the time of Henry the Seventh, Henry the
Eighth, Edward the Sixth, and Queen Mary, nearly
all the English nobility and gentry that went to
travel on. the continent, went by Antwerp, and,
either in going or in coming back, made a sojourn
in that brilliant city. The ngs agent and re-
sident was, therefore, constantly br{mght into com-
munication with these travellers, the most distin-
guished of his own countrymen ; and to this cir-
cumstance Gresham is thought to have owed many
advantages, and more than one opportune help in
times of difficulty and danger.

The exports from Antwerp to England, in ad-
dition to the spices and other~commodities of the
East, consisted of jewels, bullion, quicksilver, manu-
factured silks, cloth of gold and silver, gold and
silver thread, camlets, grograms, serges, tapestry,
hops in great quantities, glass, salted fish, sugar,
cotton, galls, linen, madder, iron ware, arms and
armour, ammunition, household furniture, &e. &e.
The exports from England to Antwerp consisted
of immense quantities of woollen goods, both fine
and coarse, a great quantity of lead and tin, some
saffron, sheep-skins, and rabbit-skins, with other
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kinds of peltry and leather, beer, cheese, and other
articles of provisions in abundance.* But cloth
was our most important article of export, about
200,000 pieces, valued at about 1,200,0000. sterling,
being annually sent to Antwerp.+ '

Antwerp, as we have seen, was a pleasant and
joyous residence ; but during the earlier part of
his employment as royal agent, Gresham was not
allowed to live there uninterruptedly. According
to his own account, during the first two years of
his service to King Edward the Sixth, he posted
from Antwerp to the court at Westminster no fewer
than forty times, and each time upon short notice!
As the roads and as the conveyances by sea then
were, this must have been very hard and exhausting
work—so hard that Gresham must have stood in
need of the licence or indulgence which Edward
the Sixth, as supreme head of the church and
species of Anglican pope, thought proper to grant
to Sir Philip Hobbye, who was, during a part of
this time, associated officially with Gresham. DBy
a brief, dated Westminster, the 28th of November,
1551, and signed by the privy seal, King Edward,
“of his own certain knowledge and free will,”
thought it necessary to give, and did give and grant
unto the said Sir Philip Hobbye, and to whom-
soever might dine with him at his table, full and
free permission, during the time of his natural life,
freely and with impunity to eat meat during the

* Malmsey wines are enumerated among the articles
exported by England, and the English are said to have
obtained these wines from Candia. As Thomas Gresham’s
father and uncle had been in the Levant, it is probable that
they had touched at Candia; but we believe that the Malmsey
wines came rather from Cyprus.

+ Ludovico Guicciardiui.
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whole of Lent, and on all other fast days what-
soever.® In the memorial which he afterwards
presented to the government of Queen Mary,
Gresham, in enumerating the sacrifices he had
made, and the great labours and fatigues he had
undergone, did not forget to mention the exceeding
great fatigue of these frequent posting journeys.
In our days the traveller passes from London to
Lyons, or to Geneva, with less trouble than it cost
Gresham to go from Antwerp to Calais. 1t should
appear that whenever there was a money difficulty
at court—and such difficulties were constantly
occurring during the whole of the reign of Edward
the Sixth— Gresham was called over and taken
into council by ministers that were as ignorant and
blundering as they were selfish and rapacious. A
common financial process was to discharge, or
partly discharge, the interest due upon old debts,
by making new debts at Antwerp; and in these
transactions Gaspar Schetz had a principal, and to
him very profitable share. Sclictz, indeed, acted
as broker, getting commissions on both sides, and
exacting such douceurs as he thought fit, or as
were likely to be paid him by the English govern-

* Rymer, Feedera. Hobbye and his servants and guests
had the full indulgence or licence as granted on certain
occasions, and to certain persons (as soldiers in the field,
couriers actively employed, &c.), by the Roman church.
They were allowed to eat of cheese and all things made of
milk, as well as meat—Carnibus et lacticiniis.

It must seem strange to Mr. Burgon, and to others who
fancy Edward V1. so perfect a Protestant, and the Protestant
religion, as we now possess it, so firmly established, that this
indulgence or dispensation should have been considered

necessary, or that the boy-king should have taken upon him-
self these much-abused powers and funetions of the Pope of

Rome.
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ment. If a sum of money as interest, or as an in-
stalment of repayment, is to be paid in April to
one money-lending house, the lords of the council
write in February or March to Gresham, enjoining
him with all speed to make a new loan with another
house ; and Gresham, agreeing to pay at the rate
of 14 per cent. per annum, and to give Schetz one
thousand pounds or more as a present from the
king, gets the money, part in specie or in bullion,
and part in goods or useless nicnacks. More than
once we find Gresham perplexed to his wits’ end
to know how he shall convey over to England
scores of bales, the exportation of which is pro-
hibited by the government of the Low Countries,
and to devise how his own government are to turn
hucksters, and force the immediate sale of commo-
dities for which there is no demand in England.
The ingenuity which the perplexed agent exercised
in these dilemmas is very amusing, and seems gene-
rally to be attended with success; but it was a
system of tricks and expedients, to be excused
perhaps in that ignorant, anti-commereial time, but
certainly not to be upheld as an exemplar and model
to the British merchant of a better, because a more
enlightened, age. In many respects Gresham was
to the true merchant and financier, only what the
alchemist and conjurer was to the chemist and true
natural philosopher. His errors were, indeed, those
of his age; but beyond his age he never appears
to have looked, nor can we discover in him even a
germ of those freer and juster ideas of trade which
were timidly enounced a century after his death.
The government, and Gresham himself, enter-
tained, in its widest extent, the common notion of
the time, that it was a most fatal thing to allow



HIS EARLY LIFE. 49

money to be carried from one country to another ;
and although there was no proper establishment of
Custom-house officers or coast-guard, no organized
police, no suitable organization in any one depart-
ment of government, they all fondly fancied that
they could prevent the exportation of coin and
bullion, which could not be prevented even now by
all the systematized apparatus we possess. Laws
were frequently bandied that were terrible in the
statute book, and that would have been very san-
guinary—if a:ml they had not been impossible of
execution, I\euher (Gresham, any more than those
who employed him, ever appear to have thought
that the money’s worth in merchandise was as goud
as the money, or to have felt that what the great
Bacon said a few years afterwards of knowledge,
, like
manure, is meant to be spread, and is of no value
when kept idle in heaps. DBut if they were so
chary about coined money, and gold and silver, in
bars or in lumps, the wasteful and ev er greedy mi-
nisters of Edward the Sixth were not at all secrupul-
ous about sending out bell-metal and other materials
confiscated or plundered from the church by them-
selves and their brother reformers. Great was
the treasure of the overthrown Catholic Church,
and frightful the waste, and disgusting the pur-
loinings committed by these self-interested, un-
scrupulous, and (where their own interests were
not concerned) slothful and inconsiderate cham-
pions of the Reformation! That which might
have afforded provision for the destitute poor,
that which might have enriched our seats of
learning and given increase to our schools of pri-
mary instruction, that which might have continued
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to give beauty and holiness to our places of worship,
was in good part swallowed up or wasted by these
self-seeking and stupid profligates who surrounded
the protector Somerset, the protector Northumber-
land, and the wunhealthy, head-precocious, and
pedantic boy Edward. KEvery church once had its
bell or bells, and the chimes of the great churches,
cathedrals, and abbeys, had been famed for their
strength and sweetness, and had filled the country
with music: but now these were thrown to the
ground, were broken to pieces and melted, or in
fragments were sent over to Antwerp to help to
appease the impatience of the king’s creditors, or
of those money-lenders who had lent money to the
court to be absorbed or wasted by the ministers
and courtiers who long kept King Edward all but
penniless.  Gaspar Schetz had the handling of
much of this bell-metal, and no inconsiderable
part of Gresham’s business appears to have laid in
driving the best sales or bargains he could in our

old English church bells.®

* There is a retributive justice; and the 5puliati1n11 of the
property of the Church in these days of hasty Reformation
has, amongst other causes, entailed upon us two centuries of
conflict, which have left the Anglican Church weak and ex-
hausted, divided among itself, and not rooted, as it ought to
be, and truly deserves to be, in the spiritual affections of the
people. The reader will, perhaps, excuse us stepping aside
to insert a little poem, by a friend, which serves to embody
this feeling in connexion with the sub.]ect of the text :—

BELLS.

Sabbath bells ! ye duly chime
For worship, over hill and lea ;

I think that once ye peal’d that time
In tones that went more cheerfully.
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It appears that, at times, Gresham was compelled
by his employers to offer cloths and fustians, as
well as bell-metal, in lieu of money, and to offer
them at a less price than that at which they were
being sold by the English merchants in Antwerp ;

Speak ye not now of formal kneelings,
Cold hearts, dull voices, souls asleep;

Mourn ye not now for by-gone feelings,
For zeal to praise, for penitence to weep ?

Matins’ bell, how deeply booming
Thy summons to the passing erowd !
I see the vast cathedral looming,
Its cross in sun, its dome in cloud :
Fills not the temple with those feet,
Those thousand feet, that onward race ? —
The choir hath room; six paupers meet
The solitary clerks in God’s deserted place.

Holiday bells! ye rarely sing
Of gladness in the labourer’s way,
And say that man may rest, and fling
His cares behind him for a day.
I hear not now your call to Maying,
Ye shout not out the Whitsun-time ;
¢ The merry bells ”—’tis an old saying
Belied by your unpractis’d, dissonant chime.

Sabbath bells, and matins’ bell,
And bell that tolls for earth to earth,
And holiday bells—I truly tell,
One spirit gave your sounds their worth :
Man heard ye speak of Faith and Love,—
Of Hope ye spake to hearts in sorrow,—
Your Mirth seem’d echoed from above—
When will to-day’s dull bells ring-in a hap-
pier morrow ?
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and that the money-lenders were scarcely more
willing to take these goods than the English court
was willing to take their jewels and nicnacks. To
keep the king’s foreign creditors in good humour,
he was in the habit of giving them rather frequently;
dinners or banquets. In 1552 he gave to the
Schetzes and others with whom he had had deal-
ings, ‘ a supper and a banquet,” the expense of
which he sets down to the king at twenty-six
pounds—a very large sum for such a purpose in
those days.* He continued this practice under
other reigns. On one occasion he writes from
Antwerp to Sir William Cecil, * As to-morrow
I do make a banquet to all the queen’s majesty’s
creditors, whom I do intend to make as good
cheer as I can.” On another occasion he says to
the same prudent minister,  Sir, this week I do
intend to banquet the queen’s majesty’s creditors,
both young and old; as knoweth the Lord.”{ In
fact he appears never to have left Antwerp for
England without giving the creditors a good
feast.

Notwithstanding the friendship which Gresham’s
father had professed for the protector Somerset,
and the ring which he had left that duke in his
will, Gresham retained his place and his great in-
fluence under the Duke of Northumberland when
he had plotted against Somerset and had over-
thrown him-—nay, even after he had sent Somerset
to the scaffold. This was not an age of high prin-
ciples, and the whole Gresham race appear to
have felt the profitableness of ¢ conforming with

* Extract from Gresham’s autograph document in the
Cottontan MSS., British Museum, as given by J. W. Burgon.
I G
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the times,” and to have been deeply impressed
with the worldly lesson,—

“ And man must go forth
On the race he 1s running,
By wit or by worth,
By force or by cunning ;
Must plant and must gather,
Must strive and importune,
And grapple and grasp,
And make prisoner of fortune.”*

Though with somewhat more courage and energy,
Northumberland was a worse man than Somerset,
and it can scarcely be said that he was in anything
a better minister or protector, or a less base-
minded dictator. After every revolution, however,
some changes are necessarily made ; and as Somerset
had been loudly accused by Northumberland and
his party of gross mismanagement, peculation, and
waste of the king’s money, it might seem necessary
to make some change in the foreign loan business.
Gresham was instructed to make the money-
lenders agree to a further delay in the payment of
some of the moneys due to them (for Northum-
berland was no better a paymaster than Somerset
had been), without forcing King Edward to pur-
chase, at their own price, their jewels and baubles,
and without exacting any higher rate of interest
than that which had been at first stipulated in the
bond. He was told to tell the Schetzes and their
colleagues and clients, that they could not hope to
get better interest for their money than that which
the King of England was willing to continue to

* Schiller’s Lay of the Bell, as translated by Elijah Bar-
gelf} Impey, Esq., M.A., Faculty Student of Christ Church,
xford.
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pay them for that which he owed; that his ma-
jesty, “in this troublesome time of the world,”
and ¢ for divers great and weighty considerations,”
had been obliged to spend upon other matters the
money which had been prepared for them ; and
that they, the creditors, ought not to forget ¢ the
benefits and good bargains they had had of the
king’s majesty, with good and true payments at all
times made.” The King of England was thus
compelled to use humble and gentle words to his
creditors.* But Gresham, who had solemnly
assured the money-lenders that they should have
all the money repaid, with all the interest thereon,
by the day named in the bond ; and who upon this
condition had gotten specie, or gold and silver to
the full amount, without part payment in wares or
gewgaws, felt greatly alarmed lest the king’s
majesty’s honour and credit should suffer ; and the
creditors, though willing to let the debt stand over
as they had often done before with other debts,
were not disposed to rest satisfied with a mere
continuance of the stipulated interest. The cre-
ditors said that they wanted their money all in,
that they had engaged it for other transactions,
that they could not do without it ; but what they
really wanted was, one of their old usurious bar-
gains, an increase in the high rate of interest, and
the purchase by the king of some costly jewel or
jewels at their own price, as had been usual in the
time of the protectorate of the Duke of Somerset,
and in the time of the king’s father, Ilenry the
Eighth. At first they avoided Gresham, and when
they met him they insisted that they must either
have the money or the ¢ fee-penny in merchandise.”

* Strype. Ecclesiastical Memorials.
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It appears that one of them wanted Gresham to-
buy a jewel for a thousand pounds, which had been
shown in England and to the king’s council sitting
at Walsham some time before, and which had been
declared by the lords of the council to be worth
nothing. Being forbidden by his orders from
home to make any such bargains, and being unable,
otherwise, to make the creditors agree to wait, our
agent was sadly put to it. Writing to the pro-
tector Northumberland, he said—‘ To be plain
with your grace in this matter, according to my
bounden duty, verily if there be not some other
way taken for the payment of his majesty’s debts,
but to force men from time to time to prolong
them, I say to you, the end thereof shall neither
be honourable nor profitable to his highness ; in
consideration whereof, if there be none other ways
taken forthwith, this is to most humbly beseech
your grace, that I may be discharged of this office
of agentship. Yor otherwise I see in the end I
shall receive shame and diseredit thereby, to my
utter undoing for ever: which is the smallest
matter of all, so that the king’s majesty’s honour
and credit be not spotted thereby, and specially in
a strange country, whereas at this present his
credit is better than the emperor’s, which I pray
to the living God long to continue. Ior now the
emperor giveth sixteen per cent., and yet no money
to be gotten.”*

The emperor here named was the great Charles
the Fifth, who was sovereign of Antwerp, as of all
the Low Countries. It was well for England that
the eredit of other sovereigns was as bad as, or
worse than, the credit of her own kings!

* Strype.
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At last, after much toil and many mortifications,
Gresham got his government to agree to a plan
of punctual payment, which would keep up their
credit and save them from the heavy fee-penny in
future. ¢ If this be followed up,” said he, “1 do
not doubt but in two years to bring the king’s
majesty wholly out of debt; which I pray God to
send me life to see!” To accomplish this blessed
end he proposed that the government should pay
him weekly 1200/. or 1300/, to be secretly re-
ceived by one individual, so that it might be kept
secret, and he might trust therein. Having this
money punctually paid, he would take up at An-
twerp, every day, 200/ or 300/. by exchange.
¢ And thus doing,” he continues, ‘it shall not be
perceived, nor shall it be an ocecasion to make the
exchange fall, for that the money shall be taken
up in my name. And so by these means, in work-
ing by deliberation and time, the merchants’ turn
also shall be served. As also this should bring
all merchants out of suspicion, who do nothing to
payment of the king’s debts, and will not stick to
say that ere the payment of the king’s debts be
made it will bring down the exchange to 13s. 34d.,
which I trust never to see that day. So that by
this you may perceive, if that I do take up every
day but 200/. sterling, it will amount in one year
to 72,0001. ; and the king’s majesty oweth here at
this present 108,000/, with the interest money that
was prolonged afore this time. So that by these
means, in two years, things will be compassed ae-
cordingly to my purpose set forth; as also by this
means you shall neither trouble merchant-adven-
turer, nor stapler, nor merchant-stranger.” * DBut

* Strype.
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as a supplement to this thing, Gresham, in the
same letter to the Duke of Northumberland, pas-
sionately recommended a measure which must have
troubled the merchants, and which can be consi-
dered only as a gross error in public economy.
This recommendation was to seize instantly all the
lead in the kingdom, to make a staple of it, and
prohibit the exportation of any lead for five years
to come. This, thought and said Gresham, would
make the price of the commodity rise at Antwerp,
and the king might feed that market with lead as
it was needed from time to time, and at his own
price. It was a suggestion worthy of a Turkish
pasha; yet it has “been applauded by a recent
biographer: and Gresham (whose ignorance is
more excusable) dwelt upon it with a 5(}11: of rap-
ture, telling the Duke of Northumberland that by
these combined means, or by the daily payment of
200/. and the seizure and monopoly of all lead,
he would keep the money of IEngland within the
realm, and extricate the king from the debts in
which his father and the Duke of Somerset had
involved him; and that his grace would do his
majesty such service as never duke did in England,
to the renown of his house for ever. Northumber-
land, high-handed as he was, shrank from the
daring and unpopular step of seizing and mono-
polizing the lead ; but he adopted Gresham’s ad-
vice as to the payments of the money, and Sir Ed-
mund Peckham, treasurer of the mint, had orders
to pay weekly to Thomas Gresham 10521, 8s. 4d.
This, however, lasted for only eight wecks, or
rather less, and then, according to the council-
book, Gresham was given to understand that the
pa.yment (stated here not at 1052/ 8s. 4d., but at
D
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12007.) which he was wont to receive weekly was
stopped, because that manner of exchange was not
profitable for the king’s majesty. Yet, by means
which have not («ll) been very clearly shown,
Gresham succeeded in raising the rate of exchange
in favour of England, and in making the pound
sterling, which had passed there for 16s., rise on
the Bourse or exchange of Antwerp to 19s. 8d.
This he brought about in less than nine months
after writing the letter to the Duke of Northum-
berland in which he recommended his grace to
seize the lead. Ie congratulated himself on his
oreat success ; but still the greatest benefit he saw
in it was that this rising of the exchange would
occasion all our gold and silver to remain within
the realm. Yet some of the means which he says
himself he recommended and got adopted for the
obtaining of this desirable end are as objectionable
in prineiple, and almost as tyrannical, as the lead
project could have been. Twice during the re-
mainder of the short reign of Edward the Sixth
the English merchant-fleet bound for Antwerp,
which always sailed at fixed periods of the year,
was detained in port when on the point of sailing,
and the proprietors of the merchandise compelled
to engage, on their arrival at Antwerp, to furnish
the state with certain sums of money, to be repaid
within three months in London, at a rate of ex-
.change which the government itself fixed, and
which it made as high as it possibly could. By
this most irregular and oppressive process a loan
of 40,000/. was obtained of the merchant-adven-
turers in 1552 ; and in 1553 it should appear that
the lords of the council were ¢ through with the
staplers” for 25,000/, and with the merchant-



HIS EARLY LIFE. 59

adventurers for 36,164/ 16s. 8d.; while by the
same compulsory processes the exchange-value of
the pound sterling was raised at Antwerp. ¢ Where-
with,” writes the exulting agent, ¢“ I have so
plagued the strangers that from henceforth they
will beware how they meddle with the exchange
for London ; and as for our own merchants, I have
put them in such a fear that they dare not meddle,
by giving them to understand that I would adver-
tise your honours if they should be the occasion
thereof, which matter 1 can soon spy out, having
the brokers of exchange, as I have, at my com-
mandment ; for there is never a bourse, but I have
a note what money is taken up by exchange, as
well by the stranger as Englishmen.” *

His own uncle, Sir John Gresham, who was a
great loser by these high-handed proceedings, was
well nigh quarrelling with him, but ere they
parted they ¢ drank each to other.” With the
experience and adroitness of the Gresham family,
and with Thomas’s great power of control over
the money-market and exchanges, it must have
been strange if * my uncle, Sir John,” did not get
good compensation for what he lost on this oc-
easion.

In the course of two or three years the pound
sterling was raised on the Antwerp bourse from
16s. to 22s.; and at this rate Gresham discharged
all or most of King Edward’s debts. So high was
the opinion now entertained of Gresham that the
Duke of Northumberland consulted him in several
delicate state matters, and employed him diplo-
matically (though without any credentials) to

* Letter to the Lords of Council in Flanders Correspond-
ence. State Paper Office, as quoted by J. W. Burgon.

D 2
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sound the ambassador of Charles the Fifth as to
the emperor’s views touching a new connection
and alliance with England, and a marriage between
Edward the Sixth and the daughter of the King
of the Romans. In the last business, which might
have come to something if Edward had not died,
{Gresham appears to have acquitted himself cre-
ditably, and to have been materially aided by his
friend Gaspar Schetz, who assured the Regent of
the Low Countries that ¢ he (Gresham) had been
these eight years in his house,” and was known by
him to be “a right honest man.” Some of this
state business could not have been of a very plea-
sant or very honourable nature. Whenever a
Frenchman, suspected to be engaged in political
matters, passed through Antwerp, if Gresham was
there he had his eye upon him; and the king’s
agent and merchant was occasionally engaged in
intercepting letters, which he opened and read, and
afterwards carried over to the king’s council at
Westminster, for, knowing (not without personal
experience and practice) how liable all letters were |
to be intercepted, he never intrusted any important
letters of his own to the conveyance of the post
or to the faith of any common courier; and this
may in part account for the very great frequency
of his journeys to and from London. He is said
to have gratified his government by intercepting |
some correspondence between the French court .
and those who governed at Edinburgh in the name
of the young but already unfortunate Mary Queen |
of Scots. But there was not a minister of state,
or prime minister, or perhaps one nobleman or!
man of the highest degree anywhere in Europe,
that would, at this time, have thought himself dis-:
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graced by opening letters, or by stealing them, or
causing them to be stolen or stopped and purloined.
At a later, and on the whole rather a better, time,
Queen Elizaheth and her two great ministers, the
Cecils, thought that the fate of nations might be
influenced by spies and letter-hreakers, and were
themselves the greatest adepts in those secret arts,
which never yet led to any political good or pre-
vented any political evil.

Gresham’s favour at court appears to have been
steadily on the increase all through the rest of the
reign of Edward the Sixth, or rather the rest of
the reign of the Duke of Northumberland, who
was all and everything, as Somerset had been be-
fore him. In the year 1552 Gresham presented
to Edward the Sixth ¢ a pair of long Spanish silk-
stockings, and got great favour and fame thereby ;
for,” saith that honest chronicler, and quondam-
honest tailor, John Stow, ¢ you shall understand
that King Henry the Eighth did wear only cloth
hose, or hose cut out of ell-broad taffaty ; or that
by great chance there came a pair of Spanish silk-
stockings from Spain.” *

For his services of all kinds, Gresham certainly
received no stinted reward. Ile came in for some
of the spoils of the church, or monastic bodies,
which had not yet been swallowed up by the re-
formers, commissioners, ministers, and courtiers.
In the last year of Edward’s reign he obtained the
grant of Westacre Priory, in Norfolk, which ap-
pears to have been worth about 200/ per annum.
Three weeks before his death, dward conferred
upon him other church-lands worth 100/ per an-
num ; and, by an instrument bearing date only six

* Chronicle.
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days before the young king’s death, Gresham got a
good slice out of the lands of the abbey or priory
of Our Lady of Walsingham, also in Norfolk, and
out of some other church or monastic demesnes in
the same county. King Edward himself had said
that he thought this country of England could
bear no merchant to have more land than was
worth 100/. a-year ; but he had given to Gresham
what must have been worth 400/ a-year in those
days. Counting only the difference in the value of
money, this was a fortune equal to 3000/. or 40004
of the present day. Owing to the increase of
population, of industry, agriculture, and of all that
has made England what she now is, the lands be-
stowed by the crown upon Gresham now probably
render twice 4000/ a-year. Kdward, by word of
mouth, had told his agent and merchant that he
should know that he had served a king, and Ed-
ward was enabled and allowed by Northumberland,
Gresham’s great patron, to keep his word.

It was a sad day for Gresham that on which the
young King Edward died.



(Feaan)

CHAPTER IIL

GRESHAM SERVES QUEEN MARY.

GrEesHAM’s great friend and patron, the Duke of
Northumberland, came to as tragical an end as that
to which he had condemned his rival, the Duke of
Somerset. Edward the Sixth died on the Gth of
July, 1553. To further the wild scheme of his
ambition, Northumberland resolved to conceal the
young king’s death for some days. Ie commanded
the attendance at Greenwich—where the dead body
was lying—of the lord mayor of London, six alder-
men, and twelve other citizens ¢ of chiefest ac-
count.” On the 8th of July the mayor, the alder-
men, and the citizens, who were half of them mer-
chants of the staple, and half merchant-adven-
turers like the Greshams, went down to Green-
wich, where Northumberland and some of the
council secretly revealed to them the death of the
king, as also how, by his last will, and by his
letters patent, the late King Edward had appointed
and ordained that, to the exclusion of his two half-
sisters, the princesses Mary and Elizabeth, the
Lady Jane Grey, who had been recently married
to one of Northumberland’s sons, should be his
successor in the throne and sovereignty. The city
deputation, being shown what was, or was called,
King Edward’s will, swore allegiance to Lady
Jane, and were bound under a great penalty not
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to divulge these ¢ secret passages,” until they
should receive further orders from the council.
Two days after this, on the 10th of July, Lady
Jane Grey was conveyed with great state by water
to the Tower of London, and was there publicly
received as Queen of England; and in the course
of the evening of that day the death of King Id-
ward was publicly divulged for the first time, and
Jane was proclaimed as queen in the city. The
lords of the council, including the Duke of Nor-
thumberland, Cranmer Archbishop of Canterbury,
Thirlby Bishop of Ely and chancellor of the king-
dom, John Earl of Bedford, the Marquess of Win-
chester, the Duke of Suffolk, father to Lady Jane
Grey, and fifteen other lords and gentlemen had
addressed a letter the day before to the Princess
AMary, to tell her roundly that, through the unlaw-
ful marriage and divorce of her mother (Henry
the Eighth’s first wife, Catherine of Arragon,)and
her own illegitimation, she was incapable of the
crown or of any rule of dominions, and that she
ought to submit herself unto QQueen Jane, now
sovereign, by good warrant of ancient laws of the
land, besides the will of the late King Edward,
confirmed under his hand and broad seal, in the
presence of the most part of the nobles, councillors,
judges, and other grave personages, all assenting
and subscribing thereto. The Princess Elizabeth,
~whose mother, Anna Boleyn, had perished on a
scaffold charged with adultery and treason, was as
illegitimate by act of parliament as her sister Mary.
'The ambitious but imbecile Northumberland, who
had done very little to prepare the nation for so
revolutionary and violent a change in the order of
succession, fondly fancied that the Protestants,
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alarmed at the decided and well-known Romanism
of DMary, and at the thought that she would make
many of them restore the lands, houses, and goods
of the old church, would all rally round his fair
daughter-in-law the Lady Jane, and thus prove
far stronger than the Roman Catholic party. DBut
the decided Protestants were far less numerous at
the death of King Kdward than they were at the
death of Queen DMary, whose persecutions and
Smithfield burnings did more to spread and increase
the Reformed religion, which they were intended to
repress, than any other mortal cause then in opera-
tion. Nor could all those who were decided Pro-
testants at the time of Northumberland’s dangerous
experiment, get rid of their respect and dread of
the house of Tudor, or reconcile their consciences
to the infraction of the right of legitimacy or here-
ditary succession ; and many of them either seeretly
declared for Mary, or openly went to give her
their assistance. It was a struggle between the
love of hereditary right in the crown, and the at-
tachment to the new order of things in the church ;
and the former feeling prevailed, and placed the
bigoted and hypochondriac Mary upcn the throne.
All know the rapid dénouement of the drama. On
the 12th of July Mary wrote to the members of
the council to claim the throne; on the 13th she
was proclaimed queen in the important city of
Norwich, and got arms, men, and ammunition
from the municipal authorities of that place; on
Sunday, the 16th, Ridley Bishop of London, whose
whole heart and soul was in the revolution, as the
only likely means to prevent the return of papistry,
preached at Paul’s Cross, most eloquently showing
the people the right and title of the Lady Jane, and
D 3
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inveighing earnestly not only against the Lady
Mary, but also against the Lady KElizabeth, of
whose religion it is quite clear that doubts were
entertained by the Protestants; and, on the same
Sunday, the lord treasurer stole out of the Tower
to his house in the city to look after his own private
interests, and to mgke arrangements for the whole
of the council going over in a body to Mary. On
the 18th, Cecil, Cranmer, and the rest of the coun-
cillors left the Tower, proceeded to Baynard’s
Castle in the city, and forthwith declared with one
voice for the stern eldest daughter of Henry the
Fighth ; and dispatched the Earl of Arundel, Sir
William Paget, and Sir William Cecil to notify
to Mary their submission and exceeding great loy-
alty. Ever since the beginning of the wars of the
Roses, as at an earlier time during the struggle
between Stephen and Matilda and her son Henry
Plantagenet for the crown of England, the direct
political influence of the municipal body of the
city of London had been acknowledged by all
parties, and few decisive steps had ever been taken
by the contending and changing factions, without
application made to the lord mayor, aldermf.n, and
chief citizens. We have seen how they were sent
for to Greenwich, and were the first to be admitted
into the great state secret.

Now they were sent for again by the self-same
lords of the council—with the exception of the
Duke of Northumberland, who had taken the field
in order to support the rights of his daughter-in-
law by force of arms—and the lord mayor and
aldermen were told by these same lords of couneil,
that they must ride with them into ¢ Chepe” and
proclaim a new queen ; and forthwith they all rode
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together to Cheapside, where Master Garter king-
at-arms, in his rich coat, stood with a trumpet, and
the trumpet being sounded, they preclaimed the
Lady Mary, daughter to King Henry the Eighth
and QQueen Catherine, to be Queen of KEngland,
France, and Ireland, Defender of the Faith, and
Supreme Head of the Church! Immediately after
this the lords of the council, the lord mayor, the
aldermen, and the rest, went to St. Paul’s in pro-
cession, singing Ze Dewm. And thus, eight days
after proclaiming Lady Jane Grey, they pro-
claimed Queen Mary. The Duke of Northum-
berland’s army of six thousand men very plainly
showed that they had no intention of fighting for
him ; succours which had been promised him did
not arrive; but Mary was everywhere gaining
strength, and the news reached him of what had
been done in London ; and thereupon, being at
Cambridge, the duke, on the 20th of July, repaired
to the market-cross of the town of Cambridge with
such of the nobility as were in his company, and
calling for an herald, proclaimed Queen Mary
there. Northumberland himself is said to have
been the first to throw up his cap and cry * God
save her |” He and others thought to disarm the
royal vengeance by a prompt submission, but they
were grievously mistaken. On the very next day
Northumberland was arrested at Cambridge by
the Earl of Arundel, a fierce papist, who ha,tf,d
him to the death, thﬂup-‘h a very short while before
he had declared himself ready to spend his heart’s
blood in the duke’s service. 'The Lady Jane
having, ‘““as on a stage, for ten days only per-
sonated a queen,” was already in custody, as well
as her father the Duke of Suffolk, her husband
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Lord Guilford Dudley, and the other sons of the
Duke of Northumberland. The lords of the
~council had taken good heed of this. The number
of arrests was greatly mcre:—.lssed but the Duke of
Suffolk, the father of Lady Jane, was liberated
three da3s before (Queen MM} sarrival in London,
and shortly afterwards sate upon the trial of those
cmlean*ueq friends, and relatives who had endea-
voured to make his daughter Queen of England.

On the 30th of July, the Princess Elizabeth, whose
conduct at this difficult crisis was most artful and
politie, and is supposed to have been dictated by
Sir William Cecil, one of the lords of the council,
who lived to be her own great minister and Lord
Burleigh, rode from her palace in the Strand
(where she had arrived the night before), through
the City of London, and then out by Aldgate, to
meet her sister Mary accompanied by one thousand
horse of knights, ladies, gentlemen, and their
servants. At Wanstead, in Ifssex, where she
tarried two days, Queen DMary was congratulated
on her happy success by Elizabeth. Her army,

which had never exceeded thirteen thousand men,
and which had never drawn a sword, was for the
most part disbanded ; and on the 31‘& of August,
Mary, attended by a vast concourse of the nobility,
made her triumphant entrance through ILondon
into the Tower. The Catholics had once more
and immediately the upper hand. The old Duke
of Norfolk, who had been lying in the Tower ever
since the execution of his accomplished son, the
poetical Earl of Surrey, was liberated and restored
to his estates, honours, and employments ; Gardiner,
late Bishop of Winchester, Bonner, late Bishop of
London, and Tunstall, the old Bishop of Durham,
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were released from the harsh imprisonment in
which they had beén held by the Protestant party,
and measures were forthwith taken for restoring
them to their several sees, and for ousting and
bringing to judgment, before a Catholic tribunal,
the Protestant ministers who had been wearing
their mitres. Other classes of men, who had suf-
fered in their persons, their liberty, or their pro-
perty, by adhering to the old faith, were taken into
favour at court, and were encouraged to wreak
their vengeance upon those who had persecuted
them. It was again seen how pliable were the
consciences of men, for many who had pro-
fessed a warm zeal for the Reformed religion when
it was patronized at cowt by the Protector
Somerset or by the Duke of Northumberland, now
declared that they had been misled, or had acted
under fear or actual compulsion, and flocked back
to mass and confession.

On the 18th of August the Duke of Northum-
berland, with other lords his late coadjutors, was
arraigned in Westminster Hall, the recently libe-
rated captive, the old Duke of Norfolk, as heredi-
tary high steward of England, presiding at the trial.
Northumberland pleaded that he had done nothing
but by the authority of the council, and by warrant
of the same under the great seal; and he asked
whether any such persons as were equally culpable
with him, and those by whose letters and com-
mandments he had been directed in all his doings,
might be his judges, or sit upon his trial as jurors?
The latter query did him no good: the members
of the late council averred that they had acted
under his compulsion, and through fear and peril
—that ¢key had been coerced by the duke; and
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Suffolk (the father of Lady Jane), Cranmer, Cecil,
the Marquess of Winchester, the Earl of Bedford,
and the rest of those lords of council, continued to
sit in judgment, and with little loss of time pro-
ceeded to return a verdict of Guilty of High Trea-
son against their late chief and colleagues. North-
umberland hesitated at no meanness to avert his
doom. As a last resource, and in the hope of
caining the queen’s pardon by apostacy, he re-
cuested that he might be permitted to confer with
some learned Catholic divine for the settling of his
conscience. On Sunday the 20th the queen- sent
an orthodox Catholic priest to preach at Paul’s
Cross; and, for fear of tumult, certain lords of
the council repaired to the sermon, as the lord
treasurer, the lord privy seal, the Earl of Bedford
(who had grown so rich on the spoils of the
Catholic church), the Karl of Pembroke, the Lord
Wentworth, the Lord Rich, and Sir Henry Jer-
ningham, captain of the guard, with about 200 of
the queen’s guard, which stood about the preacher
with halberds ; and also the lord mayor had warned
the city companies to be present in their liveries,
which was well accepted of the queen’s council ;
and the sermon was quietly ended.* On the Tues-

* John Stow. Annals. On the preceding Sunday Doctor
Bourn, who was afterwards made Catholic Bishop of Bath
and Wells, had been rather rudely interrupted while preach-
ing at Paul’s Cross by Queen Mary’s orders. The Doctor
inveighed against all the changes in religion introdueed in
the late King Edward’s time, and agaiust the injustice of
those who four years before had condemned Biskop Bonner
to perpetual imprisonment for preaching the true doctrine
from that same pulpit; and then he exulted in the recent
liberation of that great and good prelate. The Londoners
were well nigh stoning him, and a fanatic Protestant in the
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day following—the 22d of August—the lieutenant
of the Tower delivered to the sheriffs of London
the Duke of Northumberland, Sir John Gates, and
Sir Thomas PPalmer, who were all brought forth to
Tower ilill for execution. Northumberland had
again solemnly declaved that the lords of the late
Protestant council were the cause of his conviction.
From the scaffold he called upon all the people to
witness that he died in the true Catholic faith !
And this so recently great champion of Protest-
antism died as a papist, and beseeching the people
most heartily to pray that it might please God to
grant her majesty Queen Mary a long reign. It is
doubted, however, whether this recantation pro-
ceeded from the ghostly instructions of Catholic
divines, or from a hope that it might induce the
bigoted queen to be lenient towards his family with
respect to the attainder and the consequent confis-
cation of all his estates to the crown. DBut others
again doubt, and not without reason, whether the
Duke of Northumberland’s Protestantism had ever
been very sincere and earnest, and whether it had
not rather been assumed for the purposes of poli-
tical aggrandisement. 'They buried Lis body in
the Tower by the body of his victim the late Pro-
tector Duke of Somerset ; so that there lay before
the altar in St. Peter’s chapel two headless dukes
between two headless queens—Somerset and North-
umberland between Queen Anne Boleyn and Queen

crowd struck at the Catholic preacher with a dagger. The
uproar increasing, and many pressing towards the pulpit,
Bourn, protected by two Protestant divines (Bradford and
Rogers, who were subsequently burned for their religion),
was with great difficulty conveyed into St. Paul’s school.
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Catherine Howard, all four beheaded, and all four
interred in the Tower.*

On the very day next after Northumberland’s
execution Bishop Gardiner was made lord high
chancellor; and on the Sunday following the old
Catholic service was sung in Latin in St. Paul’s
church, and in the presence of most of the high
city functionaries, ‘“ who complied with the times.”
At DMary’s coronation, which took place in the
course of' the next month, the lord mayor, alder-
men, and city companies, made a wondrous great
show of loyalty and devotion, and spent much
money in pageantries and feasts. There was wine
running in Cheapside, and in the other streets
through which the queen passed in her way from
the Tower to Westminster Abbey, with the lord
mayor riding before her in his formalities ; there
were pageants and mountebank-tricks at certain
stages all the way from Cornhill to Charing Cross
but that which seems to have attracted the most
notice of all was a flying Dutchman that cut capers
on the top of St. Paul’s. ¢ In Paul’s Churchyard,”
says quaint old Stow, ¢ against the school, one
Master Heywood { sat in a pageant under a vine,
and made to her an oration in Latin and Xnglish.
Then was there one Peter, a Dutchman, stood
on the weathercock of Paul’s steeple, holding a
streamer in his hand of five yards long, and

* Stow.

+ Possibly this Master Heywood that sat under the vine
was Johm Heywood, an epigrammatist, of whom it was said
that “ for the mirth and quickness of his conceits, more than
from any good learning in him, he came to be well benefited
by the king, Henry the Eighth.” But there were several
writing Heywoods who lived at or near to this time.
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- waving thereof, stood some time on the one foof
and shook the other, and then kneeled on his
knees, to the great marvel of all people. e had
made two scaffolds under him above the cross,
having torches and streamers set on it; and one
other over the ball of the ecross, likewise set with
streamers and torches, which could not burn, the
wind was so great. The said Peter had 16/. 13s. 4d.
given him by the city for his costs and pains and
all his stuff.” Whether it was love or fear, or
mere routine, with an increasing fondness for show,
it is quite evident that the city notables spared no
expense on this kappy day.

The premature and ill-directed insurrection of
Sir Thomas Wyatt sent the Princess Elizabeth a
prisoner to the Tower, and the Lady Jane Grey
and her youthful husband to the block. Lady
Jane, the only very interesting victim in all this
story, had been tried and condemned three months,
but she had been respited by the queen, and was
indulging the hope of a free pardon for herself and
husband, when the Protestant insurrection made
Mary believe that her life was incompatible with
her own safety. The young pair were executed on
the 12th of February, 1554, with heart-rending
circumstances, which are familiar to all the reading:
world. Shortly after this sad event, the Marian
persecution began in earnest, with torture and the
rack, and the penal fires blazing in Smithfield.
The Catholic worship was re-established in all the
churches of England. One half of the reforma-
tion-bishops, bending to the storm, conformed, at
least in all outward appearances, to the dominant
sect ; the other half were deprived of their sees and
whatever they possessed, and were cast into the



74 LIFE OF GRESHAM.

same prisons where they had' recently kept the
Catholics. Archbishop Cranmer; Ridley, Bishop -
of London, and Latimer, Bishop of Rochester,
were burned at Oxford. It was a reign of terror,
and incessant religious persecution; and the tri-
bunal for judging and condemning heretics, which
sat at the end of London Bridge, in the church of
St. Mary Overies, and which was presided over by
Gardiner, and afterwards by the much crueller
Bishop Bonner, was as atrocious and merciless as
ever was the Holy Office or Inquisition at Madrid.
As a friend and protége of the Duke of Nor-
thumberland, who had appointed him to the place
of king’s agent at Antwerp, and who had rewarded
his services by giving him church and monastic
lands in Norfolk, it was hardly to be expected that
Gresham should have had the favour of the ultra-
Catholic court of Queen Mary. Ile had long
professed an entire devotedness to Northumber-
land ; he had been the duke’s political intelligencer
abroad ; he had done for him many services of an
extra-official nature ; and as their correspondence
had been close and frequent, it might have been
readily concluded by the suspicious queen and her
advisers, that he had been aware of the duke’s
plot for setting his daughter-in-law upon the
throne. On the 4th of September, 1553, about a
month after Mary’s accession, Gr&sham, being at
Antwerp, was desired ‘to make his immediate
repair to the court;” but the letter of recall (if
such it was meant to be) ¢ was again stayed,” and
was not sent till the 9th, when the tone of it should
appea.r to have been altered.* Inthe end, and that,

* Minutes in the Council Office, as quoted by J. W.
Burgon. .
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too, very shortly, the storm blew over Gresham’s
head, and left him unscathed, and even in the enjoy-
ment of his now profitable employment. From the
evidence before us, we cannot avoid suspecting
that our knowing and cunning merchant made
haste to comply with the times, and that afterwards,
when Elizabeth was firmly seated on the throne,
and Protestantism re-established, and popery again
held in detestation and dread, he somewhat ex-
aggerated the amount of his risk and danger at
the accession of Mary. The letters he wrote at
that after-period to Queen Elizabeth’s Protestant
ministers, who were bent upon the exclusion, if
not the ruin, of those who had held places under
Mary, are not to be taken as indisputable proof of
what Gresham thought, said, and did, at Mary’s
accession to the throne, and during her persecutions.
Towards the memory of his great patron, Nor-
thumberland, he does not appear to have been very
reverential. His last biographer (whose industry
and research after doeuments are highly commend-
able, whatever opinion we may form of his judg-
ment or his knowledge of the history of the times
in which Gresham lived) will have him all through,
or from his quifting the university of Cambridge,
when, what we understand by the Protestant
church was not yet made, to have been a decided
and devout Protestant; but there are absolutely
no proofs whatever to support this hypothesis.
Notwithstanding the hereditary and acquired repu-
tation of Gresham, it may reasonably be doubted
whether he would have been left in office, and even
taken into favour, by Mary and her government, if
he had not given some assurance of that conformity
which was exacted from all men holding places.
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His family, like so many others, had steered with
the shifting winds, and had kept pleasantly and
profitably before the gale all through the shift-
ings and unintelligible changes of Henry the
Eighth’s spiritual despotism, when all were bound
to believe according to the last act of a timid,
panic-stricken, obsequious parliament. Some of the
family had gone equally well with wind and weather
through the reign of IEdward the Sixth, or the
two dictatorships of Somerset and Northumberland,
when changes on the side of the Reformation were
carried, which Ienry the Eighth had never con-
templated, and for entertaining or promulgating
which he would have burned any man. Yet not
long after the accession of Queen Mary, one of
these thriving Greshams, as we have seen, made a
very Catholic will, had a truly Catholic funeral,
and must have had a Romish priest to perform his
funeral service. Gresham’s father, Sir Richard,
as well as his uncle, Sir Thomas, appears to have
had friendly re]atmns both with Bishop Gardiner
and Bishop Bonner. Five years later, when it was
a merit to abuse these two personages, and to plead
that one had suffered wrong from them, Gresham
said in a letter to Queen Elizabeth, that in reward
for his services, Gardiner had sought to undo him,
and so to destroy his credit as that his ‘opinion should
not be taken in matters of finance. DBut even this
letter does not seem to hint that Gardiner was his
enemy on account of religion, while it is highly
probable that Gardiner, as chancellor, was merely
dissatisfied with his mode of managing the money
business abroad, and was at one time of opinion
that he ought to be recalled. ‘Right or wrong,
other ministers entertained the same opinion after-
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wards, and even during the reign of Elizabeth. In
a letter written to Cecil three years after his letter
to Queen Elizabeth, Gresham indeed expresses him-
self as 1f’ his danger had been great, and his tem-
poral salvation owing to a Catholic gentleman.
But this letter, which does honour to Gresham’s
humanity, was written expressly to serve that said
Catholic gentleman, at a time when his religion
subjected him, like all other papists, to persecution
or suspicion; and the queen’s agent may have
heightened the case to serve an amiable and an
accomplished friend. The words he used to Cecil
are these : ¢ My friend Sir John a Leye is not yet
come from the waters of Spa, whom hath written
that he will be here this next week ; whom I do
not doubt but that your honour shall find a man of
his word and promise, for his coming home : pray-
ing you to be a good master and assured friend
~unto him, at this my humble suit, in all his suits.
For verily, sir, it was the man that preserved me
when Queen Mary came to the crown; for the
which I do account myself bound to him during
my life.” * It appears to be satisfactorily proved
that this Sir John a Leye was Sir John Leigh, a
member of an ancient and honourable family, and
connected by the marriage of a relative with the
noble house of IHoward, Duke of Norfolk. This
Sir John Leigh had been in his youth in the house-
hold of Cardinal Wolsey, and had been nearly all
his life a great traveller. He had visited the Holy
Sepulchre at Jerusalem with the spirit of a pilgrim
or crusader of the olden time; and he clung all

* Letter from Antwerp, dated 6th September, 1561. In

Flanders Correspondence, State Paper Office, as cited by
J. W. Burgon,
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through life to the religion in which he had been
bred. As a devout Catholic, and as a well-born
and accomplished gentleman, he enjoyed great fa-
vour at court in the time of Queen Mary. Itmay
very well have happened that Gresham was indebted
to this personage for some services at the critical
moment when the government was changed, and
nearly every thing changed with it ; but we doubt
whether even such a court favourite as Sir John
Leigh could have kept in his office any man that
refused to conform in matters of religion.
Gresham wrote to Queen Mary herself almost
as soon as she got seated on the throne, and in that
letter, although he complains of hard treatment,
he does not speak as if that treatment proceeded
from any displeasure taken against him on account
of his faith or his non-conformity, or as if he ap-
prehended anything more serious than a recal from
his profitable employment, with the non-payment
of certain moneys which he had laid out in the
service of the preceding government. 'This letter
to the queen is in fact quite a cool letter of busi-
ness, and altogether different in tone and style from
what he would have written to such a queen if he
had thought she considered him as a staunch un-
compromising Protestant, or if he had imagined
that he had stood in any great peril. Ile pleads
for his own, boldly and frankly, and sets down
methodically, and with very little ceremony, all the
services which he considers he has rendered for
Edward the Sixth. He relates how he was called
to serve the king’s majesty abroad, and get him
out of debt; and how he had fully succeeded be-
yond all expectation. IHe says that but for his
good management and travail by which he had
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discharged every penny of the late king’s debts,
the queen’s majesty would have been indebted at
her accession to the amount of 400,000L! He
states how he has raised the rate of exchange and
the value of the pound sterling in foreign parts,
and how he has enriched the realm by his financial
operations. ¢ It is assuredly known,” said he,
¢ that when I took this service in hand, the king’s
majesty’s credit on the other side was small; and
yet, afore his death, he was in such credit both
with strangers and his own merchants, that he
might have had for what sums of money he had
desired. Whereby his enemies began to fear him ;
for the commodities of his realm, and his power
among princes, was not known before, which credit
the queen’s highness hath obtained, if she were in
necessity for money at this present day.” e
mentions his many journeys to and from Antwerp,
and his incessant toil in writing letters, on all occa-
sions, to the king and his council, and keeping of
reckonings and accounts all in his own hand-
writing, for fear that his financial secrets should
be betrayed and his schemes prevented. He takes
good care not to say a word about the slice he got
out of the fat lands of Qur Lady of Walsingham, or
about any of the property of the church which has
been given him in the name of King Edward, by
the Duke of Northumberland ; but he says, ¢ For
consideration of my great losses, and charges, and
travails, taken by me in jthe causes aforesaid, it
pleased the king’s majesty to give unto me 100/.,
to me and my heirs for ever, three weeks before
his death ; and promising me then, with his own
mouth, that he would hereafter see me rewarded
better, saying that [ showld know that I served a
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king. And so I did find him, for whose soul to
God I daily pray......And I doubt to do her
grace as good profitable service, both for her and
her realm, as the former services to her brother
doth amount unto. Nevertheless, hitherto I do
perceive that those which served before e, which
brought the king in debt, and took wares and jewels
up to the king’s great loss, are esteemed and pre-
ferred for their evil service; and contrarywise,
myself discountenanced and out of favour, which
grieveth me not a little, for my diligence and good
service taken to bring the king and queen’s high-
ness out of debt clear. Which understanding of
my service, that her majesty may take in good part,
is as much as I require.” Ie concludes this long
letter or memorial with an account of some recent
losses, and with rather a paltry mention of a debt,
which he says was owing to him by his patron the
late Duke of Northumberland, who had promoted
him and rewarded him so largely, and who had
just perished, or was just about to perish, on a
scaffold.* It was not altogether unusual to pay
the debts of those who were condemned as traitors
and attainted, out of their confiscated property ;
and probably Gresham thought that in this way he
might get payment for the debt he brought against
the deceased duke. DBut his urging this matter
does not lead one to believe that he was in any
great danger, or that he was personally obnoxious
on the score of his religious opinions. The clause|
in question might have proved to Mary’s ministers

* This memorial is not dated, but Mr. Burgon is of opi-
nion that it must have been drawn up some time in the
month of Aungust (1553), on the 22nd of which month the:
Duke of Northumberland was executed.
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that he cared but little for the Duke of Northum-
berland, or for his memory. Gresham, however,
is very pathetic about his own loss of silver spoons
and household stuff, lamenting the said loss as if
he were a poor man, and quite undone by it. Iis
concluding words are these: ¢ As I was in-sealing
of the letter enclosed herein, I received a letter
out of I'landers, whereby I understand that as well
my plate, household stuff, and apparel of myself
and wife, by casualty of weather, coming from
Antwerp, is all lost. And now, God help poor
Gresham ! Also the Lord of Northumberland doth
owe me 400/, for a jewel and wares, that my factor
sold him in my absence. I trust that the queen’s
majesty will be good unto me therein.”*
Whatever was the amount of disfavour shown
to Gresham by the new Catholic persecuting go-
vernment (and we believe it to have been very
small), Gresham was certainly left in his important
and profitable place ; and as Mary very soon wanted
to borrow money, and as he had lost none of his
address in that particular, he soon became, to all
appearances, as great a favourite at court as he

had been during the rule of the Duke of Northum-
berland.

* Cottonian MS,, as given by J. W, Furgon. Life and
Times of Sir Thomas Gresham.




CHAPTER 1V.

SMUGGLING, IN MONEY, ARMS, ETC,.

GrESHAM, it should seem, returned to Antwerp,
and resumed his money transactions for the court,
as early as the middle of November, 1553, or only
four months after the accession of Mary. He cor-
responded directly with Secretary Petre, with the
privy council, and occasionally with the queen
herself. IHe found that some financial affairs had
been badly managed during his absence in England ;
and, like the good man of business that he was, he
soon made his court sensible of the loss it had sus-
tained thereby. The first thing he undertook was,
to borrow, at Antwerp, the sum of 50,000/ for
one year, on interest at the rate of eleven or twelve
per cent., and not more. This loan was to rest on
the security of the queen’s own bond, sealed with
the great seal, and the bond of the city of London,
under the city seal. This had been the custom in
King Edward’s time ; and it appears that, without
the security of the city of London, no foreign
banker or merchant would lend the crown a stiver.
He was also authorised by his instructions to take
up or borrow, from time to time, money by ex-
change upon his own credit in Flanders, to be
delivered in London for the queen’s use. ‘ And.”
said the instructions, “all such sums of money asi
the said Thomas Gresham shall take up upon in-
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terest or by exchange, shall be by him i most se-
cret manner sent to London, in such coins of gold
and silver as the said Thomas shall think most
meet; to be laden in Antwerp for London or
Ipswich, in every ship that shall depart to either
of the said places, not exceeding 1000/ sterling
in one bottom. And further, it shall be lawful
also for our said servant from time to time to send
to London overland from Antwerp to Calais, and
so to London, by every such trusty person or per-
sons as he shall put trust in, the sum of 3000/
sterling ; the adventure of all such sums of money
as shall be sent over both by sea and land, from
time to time, to be borne at our charge and jeo-
pardy.” As his pay or diet, it was appointed that
(Gresham should receive or keep out of the money
he had in hand, twenty shillings a day; and he
was also to be paid every expense he might incur
in sending messengers, letters, or money, into
England : in short, all his expenses were to be
reimbursed. A pound sterling a day in those times
was no mean appointment ; and the private advan-
tages which Gresham obtained by managing the
public loans, and by exercising an influence over
the exchanges on the continent, where in nearly
every trading city he had some agent or correspon-
dent, must have been very great.

(Queen Mary and her court stood in urgent need
of the 50,000(. in specie ; but the rulers of Flan-
‘ders, as WEII as the governments of all Iurope,
|drea.ded equally with the English government, the
‘exportation of specie or bullmn; and equally con-
ceived that the prosperity of a country depended
more upon the representatives of value, than upon
the value itself; and that gold and silver might be

E 2
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kept at home by severe legislative enactments,
And, although money could no more be kept in
by such means, than water can be prevented from
seeking its level and diffusing itself, it was not to
be got out without smuggling, and an infraction
of the laws. Ience we have seen, that Gresham
in his instructions is ordered to proceed ‘“in the
most secret manner.” The mistake in principle
led to unfairness and treachery in action; and the
governments which threatened their own subjects
with cﬂndlgn punishment for exporting out of theu
realms specie and bullion, were ever ready in case
of need to tamper with the subjects of other go-
vernments, and engage them to infringe these very
laws. It is amusing to see the shifts and tricks
which our royal agent was obliged to have recourse
to. On the present occasion he, in the first in-
stance, proposed to his government two expedients,
or two means of smuggling out the 50,000/. which
he had succeeded in borrowing, and which was for:
the greater part in coined silver, or Spanish reals,
¢ very massy to convey.” 1. e proposed to the:
privy council that he should buy a great quantity:
of pepper, load four bags on every ship which
left Antwerp, and secrete in every bag money tor
the amount of 200/. 2. That, as the baggage ofi
an ambassador was permitted to pass at the Custom~
house without being searched; and as Sir Johm
Mason was superseded as English ambassador ati
Brussels, and was about to take his departure for
England on the arrival of the Bishop of Norwich.
his successor ; he, the said Sir John, should con-
ceal in his baggage,and carry over with him 20,0004
or 30,000l of the silver. Mary’s privy council
approved of both these plans. They, however, w




SMUGGLING, IN MONEY, ARMS, ETC, 85

not carried into execution, Gresham having altered
his mind, and requesting to be authorised, instead
of buying pepper, to buy arms and armour, or
“ one thousand demi-lances harness, which will be
better for the purpose, to the great strength of our
realm.” He proposed to pack this warlike harness
in great casks or vats, and to conceal in every vat
three thousand pounds of the Spanish reals. Iearing
that the privy council might be timid as to this
mode of smuggling, he said, ¢ But, to courage your
honours, after this sort I conveyed the like for the
value of 100,000/. in one year, in my own name,
and was never touched.”*

It is quite clear that Gresham was an experi-
enced smuggler, and that he stood on a very
friendly footing with the Custom-house officers of
Antwerp, and with the other functionaries of the
government, whose duty it was to prevent that ex-
portation of coined money or bullion which it was
Gresham’s great business to procure. We find,
under his own hand, some brief account of his mode
of proceeding. Thus he lets us know, on one occa-
sion, that he gave the captain of Gravelines twelve
ells of fine black velvet, and every Custom-house
officer and searcher eight ells of black cloth, for
their new year’s gifts ; and, after this, he tells us
that the gates of the town were left open all night
to his servants, and the money they carried. But
he also caroused *‘ pottles deep” with the Flemish
functionaries, and he complains of this necessary
work as being the hardest of all. ¢ All their cheer,”
he writes to their honours of the privy council, ¢ is
in drink, which I can very ill away withal [which
I can but ill bear]; but it must needs be done,

* Letters in State Paper Office, as given by J. W. Burgon.
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for the better compassing of my business hLere-
after.”*

He succeeded in getting all the 50,000/ out of
the country, without any search or stoppage ; and
shortly after he came over to London to settle his
accounts with the queen, or, as he phrased it ¢ td
have his quietus est of her Majesty.” He was well
received at court, where he must have been at the
time of the execution of the Lady Jane Grey and
her husband Lord Guilford Dudley, son of Gres-
ham’s patron the Duke of Northumberland. On
the 15th of March, 1554, Queen Mary, in a deed
highly cemmendatory 0f the ¢ trusty and well-
beloved servant, Thomas Gresham, Esq.,” gave her
warrant to the mntroiler of her hﬂuse, and others
the commissioners of accounts, to examine into the
money accounts of Thomas Gresham, and (finding
them correct) to discharge and indemnify the said
Thomas Gresham, for the great charges he had
been at beyond the sea, in managing very great
and weighty aflairs, in raising and I‘El’ﬂlttll]ﬂ" gre&t
sums of money, &C.T The 1‘&}'&1 rescript stated,
that Gresham had made his humble suit unte
the queen, to appoint commissioners to exaniine
all and singular his books of reckonings, bills
of payments, accounts, receipts, &c.; and that the
commissioners appointed by her majesty were au-
thorised to examine and determine upon all Gres-
ham’s unsettled accounts, whether made in her own
reign, or in the reign of her most dearly beloved
brother, King Edward VI. DBut, apparently, be-
fore all these long accounts could be examined,
Gresham’s services were required on the continent.

* Letter dated December 6, 1553: in State Paper Office.
¥ Rymer, Feedera. % |
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The recent Protestant insurrection of Sir Thomas
Wyatt had given alarm to the foreign potentates
that were most anxious to support Catholicism, and
the throne of Queen Mary. The Emperor Charles
V. sent over as special ambassador to England, the
well-known Count Egmont, who, a few years
Iater, put himself at the head of the Protestant in-
surgents in the Low Countries, and thereby came
to be considered as a rebel to the crown of Spain.
Eamont’s present mission into England had a two-
fold object: the first being to negotiate the in-
auspicious marriage between Queen Mary and
Charles the Fifth’s son, who was shortly after
Philip 1I.; and the second being to urge Mary to
resort to vigorous mecasures against her rebellious
subjects. Before Count Iigmont came over, and
before Gresham came back to scttle his accounts,
Charles V. had given a licence to Gresham for the
exportation of gunpowder, which was thought to
be much wanted by Queen Mary; but Egmont in
his instructions was told to inform her majesty,
that Charles would give the said Gresham further
license to transport into England whatever other
necessaries or military stores the country might re-
quire. As these things were merely offered in
consequence of the late Protestant outbreak, it
certainly seems rather odd to represent Gresham,
who managed the business, as a most conscientious,
steady, and determined Protestant. It must have
been considered that the gunpowder which had
already been sent over was not enough, for the duty
upon which Gresham was so soon hurried back to
Antwerp was no other than to get more ammu-
nition, and saltpetre, arquebuses, and warlike har-
ness, which were to be kept in store in case of
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another Protestant rising in England. Gresham
appears to have executed this commission with
much willingness, and even with more than his
usual dispatch. He had scarcely gotten his 40,000 lbs.
of saltpetre, his twenty lasts of well-chosen serpen-
~ tine-gunpowder, his 5000 arquebuses, &e., when he
was called away from Flanders, to be sent into Spain
to get more specie. e had taken up at Antwerp,
in bills of exchange payable in Spain, 320,000
ducats. This sum he was to get sent home in
bullion ; and, while in Spain, he was to endeavonr
to obtain 180,000 dueats more, in bullion or specie.
These difficult transactions were facilitated as far
~as might be by the power of the Spanish govern-
ment ; for the treaty of marriage had been con-
cluded, and the bigot Philip was on his way to
England to give his hand to the bigot Mary, whom
he had never seen. But the long wars and ambi-
tious projects of Charles V., and other evil causes
in active operation, had so impoverished Spain,
that when Gresham reached that country in the
month of July, 1554, he found it exceedingly diffi-
cult to get the bullion and specie he wanted.
Charles V. had considered, and kept, as éreasure-
trove, the great continent of South America, with
the treasures of Mexico and the mines of Peru;
and stringent laws had been made to keep at home
the gold and the silver which Spain imported from
her American world; but all these precautions
were unavailing, and (besides the vast sums which
Charles took for his foreign wars) as the Spaniards
required the productions and manufactures of other
and more industrious countries, the doubloons and
dollars, the ingots and reals, had flowed away from
Spainn in secret and unlawful, but continuous
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streams. It took Gresham from the month of July
till the end of the month of November, to do what
he had been sent to do; and it appears rather
doubtful whether, even then, he could obtain the
whole of the 500,000 ducats in specie and bullion.
His operations caused one of the oldest banking-
houses in Seville to stop payment, and he expressed
himself greatly afraid of being the occasion of
making bankrupts of all the bankers there. ¢ For
my part,” said he, I am not able with my pen to
set forth unto you the great scarcity that is now
through all Spain.” The unavoidable delays he en-
countered provoked the impatient and needy govern-
ment he served ; and during his stay in Spain, he was
more than once rather ungraciously reprimanded.*
Shortly after his return to Xngland, Gresham
went over to his post at Antwerp, and there con-
tinued to transact the business of queen’s agent, as
well as other more private commercial affairs as
a mercer and merchant-adventurer. A courtier
warned him that the best way to continue in favour
with Mary was to court the good will, and write
often about her husband King Philip, who went
over to his father’s states in I'landers not long
afler his marriage. The hint was not lost upon
Gresham, who, like a good courtier himself, wrote
frequently to the queen about the ¢ right good
health” and good looks of King Philip, and thank-
ing and praising God that it should be so, and
praying God that so it might continue to be! On
the other side, Philip aided our royal agent in get-
ting specie sent out of Ilanders and Holland into
England, only strictly charging him to convey the

* J. W. Burgon. Life and Times of Sir Thomas Gres-
ham, with the valuable documents given therein.
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money ¢ with as much secresy and as small bruit”
as he could. Inother words, Philip himself turned
smuggler, and contravened his own or his father’s
laws. With his connivance, Gresham got 400,000
crowns passed at one time. It is, however, to be
especially noted that Philip got all his money and
a great deal more back from England, to aid him
in a lingering, wretched war he was carrying on
against Irance. The queen frequently answered
Gresham’s letters with her own hand, and the cor-
respondence became very friendly and unceremo-
nious on both sides. Now and then Mary’s con-
science was startled at heragent’s bold proceedings.
Gresham had built himself at Antwerp a furnace,
wherewith to melt down the Spanish coin—a thing
heinous in the eyes of the law of the country. Upon
this, the privy council wrote to the agent, that
the queen’s highness’s pleasure was, that in case he
might, without breach of the laws of that country,
melt down the said cein, and that the same might
be commodious to her majesty, he might do therein
as he had devised. ¢ But otherwise,” added
these nice moralists, ¢ not to meddle withal ; for
her highness would be loth, having entered so
strait an amity as she hath done with the em-
peror, to be seen to break any law of his in so
weighty a case ; or to do therein otherwise than she
would be done unto.”*

Gresham continued to purchase arms, ammuni-
tion, and other military stores, and all the foreign
manufactured goods which the court required. His
house at Antwerp was the occasional lodging of
all the ministers and superior officers of Mary’s
government who passed that way ; and ambassadors

* Letters in State Paper Office, as quoted by J. W, Burgon.
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and diplomatic agents residing abroad, seem- fre-
quently to have received their pay through him or
his correspondents. Ie had, in the prinecipal king-
doms of FEurope, paid agents, who sent him regular
intellicence in politics as well as in trade. He
ﬂrgﬂmzed this intelligence system in the time of
Edward the Sixth, but he continued it under Queen
Mary, and ev zdently extended it under Klizabeth.
Our politic merchant had rejoiced greatly at the
overthrow of Sir Thomas Wyatt and the wicked
rebels that followed him out of Kent, and greatly
did he exult in the false report which was carried
to Antwerp that the sterile Queen Mary had been
safely delivered of a fine young prince. ¢ Upon the
arrival of the first news,” writes Gresham to the
privy council, ¢ the queen’s highness’s mere mer-
chants, according to their most bounden duty,
caused all our K nn'h::h E:}Ili'.l"a‘ to shoot off with such
joy and triumph as by man’s art and policy could
be devised, ih the presence of the regent with all her
nobles and gentlewomen. Whereupon the regent
presently sent our Iinglish mariners 100 crowns to
drink. Trusting in God the news to be true; for
as yet I, nor none of our nation, hath no certain
writing thereof.”* This mistake at Antwerp is the
less wonderful, as similar mistakes were made in
England, and even in London, where Mary was
residing. On the 27th of November, the lord
mayor of London, with the aldermen, all in their
robes and furmahtxeq assembled ab{,mrhucr to com-
mandment in St. Paul’s church, at nine o’clock
in the morning, and in a great fog and mist ; and
Dr. Chadsey, one of the prebends, preached in the
choir in the presence of Bonner, Bishop of London,

* Letter to the Councﬂ, dated Antwerp, 4th May, 1555.
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and nine other bishops; and before he began
preaching, he read a letter from the lords of the
queen’s council, the tenor of which was, that the
Bishop of London should send out certain forms of
prayer, wherein, after thanksgiving to God for his
great mercies to this kingdom in giving hopes of an
heir to the crown, they should pray for the preserv-
ation of the queen and the infant, and for her happy
delivery, and cause Te Deum to be sung every-
where. The text upon which Dr. Chadsey preached
was, Ne timeas, Maria, invenistv enim gratiam
apud Dewm—(Fear not, Mary, for thou hast found
favour with God.)* The sermon being ended, Te
Deum was sung as ordered, and a solemn procession,
with Salve, festa dies, was made all round the
church.t But the business did not end at St.
Paul’s chureh ; it was hotly taken up in both houses
of parliament, which now seemed as eager for
popery and a Catholic successor to the erown as
they had been a few years before under the Pro-
tector Somerset and the Duke of Northumberland
for Protestantism. 'The matter also gave great
occupation to the whole court. ¢ For then,” says
Bishop Godwin, ¢ by parliamgnt many things were
enacted concerning the education of the babe ; and
much clatter was elsewhere kept about prepara-
tions for the child’s swaddling clothes, eradle, and
other things requisite at the delivery; until, in
June the ensuing year, it was manifested that all
was little better than a dream.” Several of the
prayers sent out on this occasion by Bonner, Bishop
of London, at the order of the lords of the coun-
cil, have been preserved. They were composed by
different Catholic priests, who nearly all thought

* Luke 1, v. 30. t Stow
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it necessary to pray that the child might be a male
child, well favoured and witty, with strength and
courage to keep down the heretics. And it was
at this time, when Gresham was so loyal and in
s0 much favour at court, that the statutes against
heretics were revived, to be carried into execution
with more than their original rigour, and that
Bishop Bonner began to light the Smithfield fires.
Several persons were punished for saying that the
queen was not with child at all.* On the 3rd of
May John Hopton, the right Catholic Bishop of
Norwich, wrote to a lord at court, ¢ I understand
that Mr. Mayor, here, hath certified your lordship
of the sudden good news, brought to us by one of
the city, of the queen’s highness’s most joyful
deliverance of a noble prinece: whereupon to laud
God, Te Deum was solemnly sung in the Cathe-
dral church, and other places of the city (of Nor-
wich), with wonderful joy and much gladness of
all people throughout all the whole city and the
country thereabouts.”t Fox the martyrologist
says, that similar news was carried into the city of
London, and that the priest of the parish church
of St. Anne within Aldersgate, after procession
and Te Deum, even took upon himself to deseribe
the proportion of the royal baby, and how fair,
how beautiful, and great a prince it was, as the
like had not been seen.

On the 16th of June, Gresham presented to
Queen Mary’s privy council nine obligations or
bonds which he had recovered by paying back the
money which had been borrowed upon them. The

* Grafton.
+ Sir Henry Ellis.  Original letters illustrative of English
History, &c. From autographs in the British Museum.
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bonds of the queen were cancelled and sent to the
lord treasurer, and those that were of the city of
London were delivered to the lord mayor by
Gresham. In the month of October of the same
‘year he reached DBrussels in time to witness the ab-
dication of the Emperor Charles the Fifth in favour
of his son Philip the Second, the unloving and dis-
appointed husband of our Queen Mary. The scene
was very solemn and affecting; but it does not
appear that our merchant and financier has left
any written account of it.* The abdicating em-
peror earnestly but unnecessarily exhorted his son
Philip to maintain the Catholic faith. Philip, the
most intolerant of princes, began his reign with
the fixed resolution to allow of no toleration what-
ever in matters of religion, and no liberty in civil
government ; and from this moment that long and
terrible storm began to gather which stopped all
trade and destroyed all prosperity in the Low
Countries, but which, with the aid that Queen
Elizabeth sold or gave to the Dutech, ended in the
deep humiliation of Philip and the establishment
of a national independence in the Seven United
Provinces.  Gresham, who was now very fre-
quently in England, and for long. periods at a time,
attending partly to his own increasing commercial
aflairs, and partly to the queen’s business, spent the

* Mr. Burgon, whose research does him great houour, has
discovered in the State Paper Office an account of the abdi-
cation written by Sir John Mason, who had returned to
Brussels as Mary’s ambassador, and who was present at the
scene, Some very interesting extracts from this paper
are given in Mr. Burgon’s Life of Gresham. Sir John
Mason says, that the Iimperor Charles wept, and that all
present, whether strangers or his own subjeets, wept also,
“ some more, some less.”
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Christmas of 1555 in England, and was among
those who presented new-year’s gifts to her majesty.
At this time he was in the very highest favour at
court. So much was this the case that Queen
Mary even bestowed upon him chureh or monastic
lands to the yearly value of about 200/* DBut
court favour and great prosperity, particularly in
a city merchant, were likely to excite envy and
malice in those days; and it appears that in 1556
Gresham was rather severely handled by the Mar-
quess of Winchester, the old lord treasurer, who
‘“ informed the sovereign with half a tale,” or who
taxed the queen’s agent with not being quite so
honest as he ought to be. Yet the cloud must
have soon passed over, for Gresham was soon again
busily employed in the queen’s affairs, being sent
into the Low Countrics to make fresh loans, to
buy quantities of gunpowder, saltpetre, and other
provisions, for armours and munitions of war. Ife
was again allowed twenty shillings per diem, ¢ to
have allosvance of four clerks, every of them at
sixteen pence by the day,” and to have all his ex-
penses paid as before. Ile was instructed to wait
ipon King Philip, “our dearest lord and hus-
band,” who had determined never again to see
Queen Mary’s face, and to sue to him for a passport
for the exportation of military stores and treasure.
Mr. Boxall, secretary to the queen’s majesty, who
had given him good advice before, or good hints
how to trim the somewhat perilous boat he had
been so long embarked in, earnestly recommended
him to give his frequent attendance on King
Philip. Although forsaken and disliked by him,
Mary continued to entertain a very conjugal affec.

~* Burgon,
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tion for Philip. Again Gresham wrote letters to
her to tell her, with thanks to God, that her hus-
band was in as right good health as her majesty’s
heart could desire. It is curious, however, to ob-
serve that Gresham at this time writes to entreat
Secretary Boxall to solicit for him the queen’s
majesty’s pardon. This should seem to denote
cither that he was conscious of some offence, or
was apprehensive that my lord treasurer’s ill w1lI
had not subsided. In the month of June of this
year, 1558, Gresham, having raised a great sum of
money, ¢ thought it expedient to forbear for a
season to take up any more sums by way of in-
terest ;”” and requested to be allowed to come over
to England for one month. An English admiral
was sent to bring him over with his treasure. In
the month of August he was again dispatched to
Antwerp to borrow more money, and was again
ordered ¢ to repair with convenient speed to our
dearest lord and husband the king, in order to
obtain his licence for transporting the money
wanted (100,0000.). Gresham, without loss of
time, saw King Philip, and wrote to his court that
his majesty was in right good health, and intended
very shortly to be in England. A few days after
this he wrote to the queen herself, telling her how
well her husband was, and praying God to preserve
her noble majesty in health and long life, and long
to reign over us with increase of honour. DBut
when Mary received this letter, and the joyful news
(joyful if she believed it) that her husband was
coming again to England and to her, she was
dying; and on the 17th of November following
she expired. Philip, of course, had not come, and
after this event he could think of coming into
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England only in the wake of the Grand Armada.
Gresham was busily occupied in the queen’s affairs
when she died ; but it was fortunate for his coun-
try that his prayer for her long life and reign was
not heard. It may have been a hollow prayer
when it was offered, or perhaps it was offered no-
where except in the letters which were written to
the queen or to her privy council. # But it is
acainst all pmbability to assert that Gresham, pass-
ing nearly all this reign abroad, was only pa,rtzalljr
informed of the atrocious deeds which were com-
mitted at home. Ile was frequently in KEngland,
and for long periods at a time; he was several
times in England when the Smithfield fires were
blazing with their greatest fury, and he could not
have passed a single day in the city of London
without being made aware of the abominations and
horrors of the Marian persecution.




CHAPTER V.

GRESHAM BEGINS TO SERVE QUEEN ELIZABETIIL.

QueeEn EL1zABETII on her accession, and for some
time after, left it doubtful whether she was a Pro-
testant at heart ; whether it would be her poliey to
support the old religion which her half-sister Mary
had re-established as the national faith, or whether
she would take up and steadily adhere to the Re-
formed religion, which had been so cruelly perse-
cuted. She courteously received all Mary’s bishops,
with the exception of Bishop Bonner, whose cruel-
ties had been condemned even by many good Ca-
tholics. She retained in her council no fewer than
thirteen known and sincere Catholics, who had been
members of the council under Mary ; and the seven
new councillors she appointed, though probably
known to herself to be zealous Protestants, did not
bear that character with the rest of the world ; for
one and all of them, like her favourite minister,
‘Cecil, had shrunk under the fiery bigotry of Mary,
and had conformed to the Romish Church. Even
outward decency demanded some little time, but
policy required more; and it has been doubted
whether, if the Catholics had not been proved to
have lost ground immensely through the horrible
means which Mary had adopted to re-establish their
church, and if they had not ceased to be the great
majority of the nation, Iflizabeth would not have
left the Roman Church undisturbed. She was
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never in her heart a thorough Protestant, going
scarcely farther with the Reformers than her sire,
Henry the Eighth : she was too cool and calculating
for a zealot ; and even the fate of her mother, Anne
Boleyn, and the peculiar circumstances of her own
birth, failed to excite her.*

‘““The Romish religion,” says Camden, ¢ stood a
full month and more, after the death of Queen
Mary, in the same state as it was before.” Kliza-
beth, in fact, seems to have adopted at the begin-
ning of her reign the maxim recommended by one of
the most crafty of then living politicians,— that the
Protestants should be kept in hope, the Papists not
cast into despair.t Her real intentions were kept a
profound secret from the majority of her council ;
and her measures of change and reform in religion
were concerted only with Cecil, and one or two
other most crafty and cool statesmen, who appear
to have been thoroughly convinced of the fact, that
the Protestant party had now become infinitely
stronger than the Catholic.f This, as we have
said, was the eflect of Queen DMary’s inquisition
and Smithfield burnings. ‘¢ Many,” says Mr. Hal-
Jam, ““are said to have become Protestants under
Mary, who, at her coming to the throne, had re-
tained the contrary persuasion: and the strongest
proof of this may be drawn from the acquiescence
of the great body of the kingdom in the re-esta-
blishing of Protestantism by ISlizabeth, when com-
pared with the seditions and discontent on that ae-
count under Edward.” § Yet, at first, there veally

* Pictorial History of England.
T Sir Ralph Sadler.
T Pictorial History of England.

§ Constitutional History of England.

o~
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seemed to be no outward sign of Elizabeth’s inten-
tion to re-establish the Reformed faith. The Catho-
lic service was left undisturbed in the cathedrals
and churches of England ; on the 13th of Decem-
ber the body of Mary was interred in Westminster
Abbey, with all the solemn funeral rites used by
the Roman Church, and a mass of requiem ; and on
the 24th day of the same month a grand funeral
service for the late Emperor €harles V. was cele-
brated in the same place and in the same manner,
with a great attendance of Catholic priests, English
and foreign, and of noble lords and ladies of the
realm.

It was while matters were in this uncertain state
that Gresham presented himself, or was presented
by Cecil, who had long been his friend, to the new
sovereign. This presentation took place at Hat-
field on Sunday the 20th of November, only three
days after Queen Mary’s death, and three days
before Klizabeth quitted Hatfield, where she had
been residing a long time, to make her triumphal
entrance into London. As she had already ap-
pointed Cecil her principal Secretary of State,
Gresham came before her under the most favour-
able auspices. A new sovereign has generally a
ready ear for complaints uttered against his or her
immediate predecessor; and Elizabeth, who had
suffered imprisonment in the Tower, and who had
lived in constant alarm during the reign of her
sister, was not likely to prove an exception to this
general rule. Gresham complained to her ¢ how
he was handled in Queen Mary’s time for his good
service;” and upon this Elizabeth promised him,
by the faith of a queen, that she would not only
keep one ear shut to hear him, but also, even if he
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did her none other service than he had done to
King Edward, her late brother, and Queen Mary,
her late sister, she would give him as much lands
as ever both they did : ¢ which two promises,” says
Gresham, ‘made me a young man again, and
caused me to enter upon my great charge again
with heart and courage.”* At the end of the au-
dience her majesty gave him her hand to kiss, and
confirmed him in his place. Mary had left an
empty treasury; KElizabeth wanted money, and
who could negociate the foreign loans so well as
the long-practised Thomas Gresham? Before de-
parting for Flanders, the royal agent wrote a letter
of advice to the queen to explain to her majesty
how the nation had fallen into debt, and how all
her fine gold had been conveyed out of the realm.
He attributed these calamities chiefly to the follow-
ing causes : — 1. The great debasing of the coin of the
realm by Henry the Eighth ; 2. The wars carried on
by Henry, which made him fall into great debt in
Flanders, and obliged him to send over his fine
gold for payment of the same; 3. The exclusive
privileges allowed to the Steel-yard, and the grant-
ing that body licences for the carrying out of the
realm wool and other commodities at a much lower
duty than her own merchants.

He earnestly recommended to her majesty five
things, in order to restore this her realm to its
former prosperity.

““ First, your Highness hath none other ways,

* Letter to Cecil, as quoted by J. W. Burgon. This letter
was written several years after the accession of Elizabeth,
and when she seemed to be forgetful of the promise she had
made at Hatfield in the first happy days of her reign, when,
no doubt, all things were bright and easy in her eye.
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but when time and opportunity serveth, to bring
your base money into fine.

¢ Secondly, not to restore the Steel-yard to their
usurped privilege.

‘“ Thirdly, to grant as few licences as you can.

““ Fourthly, To come in as small debt as you can
beyend seas.

““ Fifthly, To keep your credit; and specially
with your own merchants ; for it is they must stand
Oy you at all events in your necessity.”*

This latter, especially, is good advice, and ear-
nestly urged ; and if there be errors in the letter,
and an over-anxiety about keeping gold in the
country, and inducing foreigners to bring or send
it over, Gresham must stand excused by the uni-
versal theory and practice of his time. In the letter
of advice, he tells Elizabeth that he had brought
the late queen’s majesty, her sister, out of debt of
the sum of 435,000/ ; but other debts were owing
in Flanders when Mary died : and this money was
to be paid in April and May 1559. Gresham
again recommended the government to stop the
fleet of merchant-ships loaded and bound for Ant-
werp, and so bring the merchants to their own
terms, and keep up the rate of exchange abroad.
¢“ This matter,” wrote Gresham to Cecil, “ must
be kept secret, that it may not come to the mer-
chants’ knowledge that you intend to use Zhem.”
He told Cecil that he must lay in wait until he
was (uite sure that all the cloths and kerseys were
entered and shipped; that then he must pounce
upon the fleet, declaring that none shall depart
till the Queen’s further pleasure be known; and

* Copy from Greshams original letter, in MS. in Doctor
Ward’s private copy of the Lives of the Gresham professors |
preserved in the Britich Museum.
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that, as his next step, he must send for my Lord

Tayor and the chief merchants of the city of Lon-
don to whom the goods belonged, and address
them in this wise—* So it is that the queen’s ma-
jesty is indebted in Flanders for no small sum ; for
the which you, my lord mayor and the city, do
stand bound for the payment ; and for that it shall
appear unto you that her highness is not unmind-
ful for the payment of the same, she hath thought
good to use you (as heretofore King Edward her
brother did) : whereby the exchange may be kept
up and raised, and to enrich this realm of fine gold,
here to remain ; as likewise we may have our com-
modities, and foreign, at some reasonable prices.
Whereby you merchants may flourish in the Com-
monweal, as heretofore you have done. And for
the accomplishment of the premises, the Queen’s
Majesty doth require at your hands to pay in I'lan-
ders 20s. sterling upon every cloth that is now
shipped, after the rate of 23s. Flemish for the
pound sterling; and her highness shall pay you
here again at double usance. Which sum must be
paid in Antwerp ; the one third part the 1st of
May,—one third part the 20th of May,—and the
other third part the last of May.”*

Gresham foresaw, and he told Cecil, that the
merchants would not much like this harsh treat-
ment, but that as all their goods were in the queen’s
power there could be no doubt but that her majesty
would bring them to consent to her own terms.
The measure, which is characteristic of the mixed
cunning and violence of the times, appears to have
been carried into effect as Gresham recommended,
and with the immediate success that he anticipated

* Letter in State Paper Office, as given'by J. W. Burgon,
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from it. DBesides his money dealings, the royal
agent was charged with the purchase of saltpetre,
ammunition, and arms, as he had been in (Jueen
Mary’s time ; the difference being, that Mary had
wanted the arms and gunpowder to keep down her
Protestant subjects, and that Elizabeth wanted them
to employ against her Catholic subjects in case
they should attempt any insurrection, and against
the Catholic party of Mary, Queen of Scots, in
Scotland, It was much more difficult to obtain
the licence for the exportation of these things than
it had been during the preceding reign, when the
queen of England, as wife of Philip II., was aided
and supported by his most Catholic Majesty the
sovereign of the Low Countries ; yet Gresham sue-
ceeded in obtaining from Philip’s government at
Brussels a permit to export munition and arms ;
and in the course of a short time the Protestant
insurgents rendered the government of Philip pow-
erless in a great part of the country, and courted
the protection of IKlizabeth, by rendering her all
the services they could. While the devout Catholies
of the Low Countries looked upon our queen with
horror and detestation for declaring against their
faith, the Protestants looked up to her with affee-
tion and reverence, and for a long time placed
nearly their whole hope in her. From the first she
had many friends in Antwerp; and when her ma-
jesty had declared herself against the papists at|
home, and not until then, Gresham declared himself; |
both at home and abroad, as a very zealous Pro-.
testant. In the month of April, 1560, he writes:
to Cecil in a very great passion about a ¢ villain |
friar,” who had in Auntwerp ¢ irreverently preached|
against the queen’s majesty.” Gresham’s wrath
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is, however, moderated by his hope of vengeance;
for he says, that the friar dares not for his life
come abroad, as the common people of the town
would dispateh him. ¢ liere be many papist-
knaves of our own nation,” says he; “and it is
thought that some of them hath set this friar to
work.” In a few days the friar was obliged to
make suit to the English factory, and to Gresham,
that he might be enabled to go abroad without
danger; expressing his sorrow for that which he
had said and preached against the Protestant
Queen. DBut Gresham was not inclined to forgive-
ness, and hoped that the ¢ villain friar” would be
soundly beaten, if not killed, by the mob. At
least he writes to Cecil, that he will not meddle
in the matter ; ¢ trusting ere that it be long, if he
do come abroad, he shall be well bastinadoed ; if
he do escape s0.”*

Meanwhile the smuggling of arms and ammu-
nition went on. It should appear that the Custom-
house officers, at home, were not so secret and ecir-
cumspect as Gresham was, abroad. As these goods
were again prohibited in toto, Gresham bribed the
searchers, to allow him to ship them. In his cor-
respondence with the council, he called these com-
bustibles, ‘ wvelvefs;” and repeatedly warned his
government to have the “velvets” sent by him
from Antwerp, ¢ secretly conveyed into the Tower;”
as, otherwise, the matter would be made known at
Brussels,and he would be exposed to severe penalties,
besides being rendered useless to the Queen for the

. time to come. In the month of June of this same
year, 1560, he writes in some consternation—At
six of the clock at night, the chief searcher (who

* State Papers.
F
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is all my worker, and conveyer of all my velvets),
gave me to understand that there had been an
Englishman with the Customer [head of the Cus-
tom-house of Antwerp]|, and had informed  him
that, of late, I had many velvets arrived at London
of all sorts; and that if he made a general search
now [in Gresham’s Antwerp stores], he should find
a great booty. Which matter the Customer opened
to the searcher (my friend), and commanded him
to be with him as the 15th, very early in the morn-
ing.” On the day named, the Customer and his
searcher and officers held a secret council, and
therein, in order to oblige the liberal-handed agent
of Queen Elizabeth, they all agreed that ne
search should be made for the munitions of war,
@lias the ¢ velvets ;” or, as Gresham himself words
it,—** they concluded not to make no search ; for,
if they should search and find nothing, it would
redound much to their dishonesties ; and they said
among themselves, that I could not take it in good
part at their hands, considering how beneficial I
have always been unto them.” And thus the matter |
ended, and our royal agent continued to ship his
gunpowders, under the name of velvets.*

At the end of this year, Gresham attained to
still higher honours, being appointed ambassador, ,
or temporary minister, at the Court of the Duchess;
of Parma, now regent of the Netherlands, and re--
ceiving thereupon the honour of knighthood, which
was in those days a real honour or distinction. .
Notwithstanding this promotion, he continued inj

* Gresham, however, entreated the proper parties in Eng--
land, ‘“ on the reverence of God,” to take better care for the:
future, and let no man know of the arms and ammunition
he was sending over.
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business as a merchant adventurer and banker, and
kept his shop open in Lombard Street, with a great
grasshopper (his family crest) over the door as a
sign.* His diplomatic duties, however, were not to
interfere with his duties as Queen’s agent and finan-
cier. Upon taking his departure from London, early
in 1561, he was commissioned to borrow 200 (JUOZ,,
and to send over more arms and ammunition. As
he had hit upon some new device for smuggling
the coined money or bullion out of the country, he
hoped for full sueccess; but as his project was sus-
pected, the Spaniards and the Italian merchants re-
sident in the country petitioned the Lady Regent
against him ; but Gresham was cunning enough to
outwit Spaniards and Italians, and he had many
friends sitting in the custom-houses, at the city-
gates, or employed as custom-house searchers, that
were ready, upon a consideration, to pass whatever
he chose. Accordingly we find that he smuggled
out the money, as well as amazing quantities of
ammunition, armour, and arms, as corslets, dags,
and hand-guns. Also he sent over cargoes of salt-
petre and sulphur, and other things strictly pro-
hibited by the Netherland 'government. At the
same time he was diligent in collecting and in re-
mitting to Cecil all sorts of political information,
having either friendly or paid agents in all direc-
tions. If Sir John Leigh, as a Catholic and court
favourite, had served Gresham in the days of Queen
Mary, it was now Gresham’s turn to serve Sir John,
who, like all papists, had become an object of sus-
picion to the Protestant government of Elizabeth.

P * Mr. Burgon says that Gresham’s shop stood on the site

E}w occupied by the banking-house of Messrs. Stone, Martin,
Co.
F 2
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In a letter to Queen Elizabeth herself, Gresham
enclosed a letter from Sir John Leigh, who was
again residing abroad, who was very apprehensive
of the Queen’s displeasure, and who offered, as a
means of obtaining her favour, to collect state in-
telligence for her in Flanders. In other words,
this aged and high-born Catholic offered to do the
work of aspy. Such were the difficulties, and such
was the morality of those times.

In addition to all his other duties, Gresham had
to attend to purchases for the Queen’s highness,
from pairs of Spanish silk hose' to a fine Turkey
horse whereon to mount her majesty ; to buy iron
chests and locks, well-going clocks, little nags.
black buttons, and all manner of commodities fon
Cecil, and the lords of the council, and the gallants
about court. The Turkey horse he bought for the
QQueen, he warranted as a ¢ very fair beast,” as *“ one
of the readiest horses that is in all Christendom, anc|
that runs the best.” The little pad and the mule
which the great Cecil so long rode about his
grounds at Theobalds, were probably sent over by
Gresham during the time that he conjoined the
two offices of ambassador and royal agent. e
also sent to Cecil seven pieces of tapestry, six velve:
chairs, and six chairs of Spanish leather, six silver
candlesticks, one hundred shirts made in Germany:
a wolf-gown, &e. &e.  There appear to have beern
occasional rubs and impediments and apprehensiony
of the court’s displeasure; for we find Greshany
writing to Cecil, to implore him to stand his friendl
and to befriend his ¢ poor wife ” in England, and
to be a suitor to the Queen for the getting out hil
pardon ; but, on the whole, he discharged his mul
tifarious duties greatly to the satisfaction of the
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Queen and government ; and if he sometimes alarm-
ed the court with rumours of things which were
never intended, or which at least never came to
pass, he nevertheless proved a good political intel-
ligencer. Ile was one of the first to announce the
coming of the great revolution in the Low Coun-
tries, and to tell Cecil that the people were so dis-
satisfied with the intolerant government of Philip
II., that if it came to a war Elizabeth would have
more assured friends among them than Philip.
Well knowing how the Queen’s heart stood affect-
ed, Gresham paid great court to Lord Robert Dud-
ley, who was youngest son of Gresham’s great
protector, the late Duke of Northumberland, and
who soon became Earl of Leicester, and the most
potent and profligate of court favourites. During
his embassy at Drussels, he nursed for Lord Robert
a little palfrey, which was destined to carry the
Queen. Yet he must have run himself into some
danger by intermeddling in the speculations that
were then and long afterwards afloat as to the
prince whom the virgin Queen ought and would
take for her husband. The King of Sweden’s mi-
nister and councillor recommended his royal mas-
ter’s eldest son as the properest person, and showed
Gresham a portrait of the prince. But Gresham
thought and said, that the best match for Elizabeth
would assuredly be the emperor’s son Prince Charles,
- whom he says *“ all men of experience do wish the
' Queen to marry.” He wrote not only to Cecil, but
to others upon this subject, expressing himself with
a warmth and decision which must have been very
displeasing to Elizabeth. Perhaps he hoped to
leave himself a loop-hole, by saying, ¢ But the will
of God and her majesty be fulfilled "’ Yet we may
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doubt whether his correspondence or imprudent
talk about these matters did not help to gather
some of those court clouds which now and then
obscured his brightness, and which threatened him
more than once with a total eclipse. The old
Marquess of Winchester, who had successively and,
for himself, prosperously served Henry VIIL,
Edward VI., and Mary, continued to hold, even
under Elizabeth, his post of Lord Treasurer. He
is said to have been no friend to Gresham, but to
impute his enmity to his dislike of Gresham’s Pro-
testantism is nonsenical ; for Gresham, like him-
self, had conformed to the times, being, as the

b B
marquess said of himself, no oak, but an osier. The

Lord Treasurer accused Gresham of having made
his public employment subservient to his private
advantages (which no doubt he had done), and of
keeping in his strong box a balance of 40,000/ of
the Queen’s money. Concurrent with these accus
sations were various complaints from English mer-
chants at home, and in the Netherlands. Gresham
had also incurred the displeasure of that prevailing
courtier, Henry Carey, Lord Hunsdon,” cousin-
german to Queen Elizabeth, who prized him greatly
for the stateliness of his deportment, and his skill
in courtly arts. This storm rose while Cecil was
absent in Scotland. Gresham declared that, in-
stead of 40,000/, he had not 300/ of the Queen’s
money in his possession, and that Secretary Cecil
knew it. Hesaid that the Lord Treasurer was of
fended with him because he was not privy to all
his doings, the Queen having commanded him to
make no man privy to them except Mr. Secretary,

* Hunsdon was the son of Mary sister of Elizabeth’s mo- |
ther Anne Boleyn. - '
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and his man Sir Thomas Parry. This, no doubt,
(and not the score of religion which haunts the
fancy of Gresham’s biographer,) had been all along
the cause of the Lord T'reasurer’s dislike; and it
might well have been the cause of his falling into
error as to the royal agent’s money accounts. A
minister of finance, as the Lord Treasurer then was,
could not be pleased with a financial agent who
never addressed his letters to him ; and as he was
left ignorant of the state of accounts, he might,
even without ill-will, have occasionally fancied the
balances different from what they really were.
Gresham says, in one of his letters to Parry, that
this was the third time that the Lord Treasurer had
served him thus, viz., once in King Edward’s time,
and once in Queen Mary’s time; and that when
his lordship came to see his accounts, he found the
government rather in his debt than otherwise.
But in King Edward’s time Gresham had corre-
sponded with the Duke of Northumberland and his
confidential secretary, and in Queen Mary’s time
he had hardly ever addressed the Lord Treasurer, in
whose department his business certainly lay. This,
of course, was pursuant to the instructions of those
who placed him or kept him in office. But the old
marquess, who could not safely show his animosity
in the higher quarters, might show it in the lower.
Gresham, who appears to have been for some time in
an agony of fear,trusted in God that the Queen would
remember her promise to keep one ear to hear
him when his accusers had possession of the other
ear. He protested his innocence of all the charges
brought against him, although it might have been
more difficult to disprove some of them than it was
to prove by his account-book that he had only a



112 _ LIFE OF GRESHAM.

small balance of the Queen’s money in his hands.
But Sir Thomas Parry stood his friend, Cecil soon
returned to court from Scotland, and the tempest
blew over. Against the complaining merchants
Gresham seems speedily to have obtained some
vengeance ; for, in order to * rob all Christendom
of their fine gold and silver,” and to raise the ex-
change, and so keep it up that ¢ the fine gold and
silver should remain for ever within our realm,
he forthwith recommended Cecil to have again
recourse to his sudden surprises and high- -handed.
practices with the merchant adventurers. In all
times nothing could be further from our royal
agent’s mind than the great laissez faire doctrine =
on the contrary, his doctrine was faites peur. e
writes to Cecil—¢ If* you will enter upon this
matter, you must in no wise relent by no persua-
sion of the merchants: whereby you may keep
them @ fear and in good order ; for otherwise, if
they get the bridle, you shall never rule them. . . .
As the merchants be one of the best members in
our commonwealth, so they be the very worst if
their doings be not looked into in time, and them-
selves forced to keep good order.”

As the state intrigues thickened, as the Catholic
sovereigns on the continent encouraged the Ca-
tholic subjects of Elizabeth, and as Elizabeth en-
couraged their disaffected Protestant subjects; and
as it became suspected that Philip II. intended to
join the IKrench, who had long had a small army
in Scotland, in supporting Mary Queen of Scots
and the papists of her kingdom, part of Gresham’s
business became more and more difficult; but the
disaffected Duteh and Flemish officers aided him,
and he prevailed over other classes of functionaries
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by bribing them highly. IHe also borrowed money
for the Queen in other countries, and contracted
with the famous Count Mansfeldt, who had silver
mines on his estates in Saxony, for 300,000 silver
dollars, at' the price of five shillings each, and on
interest at the rate of ten per cent. per annum, on
the usual security of the joint bonds of the Queen
and the city of London. But when the time ar-
rived for handing over the dollars, it was found
that the great count had engaged fur more than he
could, or for more than he would do; and to make
up the deficiency, and to sustain the Queen’s credit
abroad, Gresham again earnestly advised Cecil to
look to the merchant adventurers and staplers at
home, and to get another forced loan from them,
which Cecil appears to have done without loss of
time. Gresham did not go himself into Saxony,
but many were the journeys he made in Flanders.
In one of these journeys his horse fell with him,
and his leg was broken. The leg was set; but
Gresham is said to have continued lame ever
after.* He returned to Ingland, as soon as he
could walk on ship-board, in the month of March,
1561. In the month of July of that year, he
begged Cecil to appoint a day for the meeting of
the commissioners, who, with the friendly CELJI at
their head, were to examine his accounts. The
accounts appear to have been pleasantly passed by
the commissioners; and in the month of August of
the same year, Gresham was sent back to Flanders,
to get 30,000/. from our merchant adventurers, to
pay part of the Queen’s debt, and to ask time of
her creditors for the rest. The commotions in the
Low Countries had by this time greatly increased,

~ ¥ Burgon.

F 3
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and Count Egmont and the powerful Prince of
Orange, as devout Protestants and patriots, had
placed themselves at the head of the malcontents,
and were neglecting no opportunity to strengthen
their party so as to be able to defy Philip II. and
his Spaniards. Philip, though master of the mines
of Peru, was in as great straits for money as Eliza-
beth. Ile demanded a subsidy from the States of
the Low Countries ; but the States replied, that
they would grant nothing unless the Inquisition
were abolished, and liberty given in religious
matters. All this might favour Gresham on the
one side; but on the other side, his Protestant
friends, seeing that a recourse to arms was inevit-
able, must have been chary as to parting with their
money, or with their munitions of war. Gresham,
however, obtained a great supply of saltpetre, and
some armour and guns; and then he returned to
England. IHe made a new year’s present to Queen
EKlizabeth, and received one in return.®

During his now frequent absences in England,
his duties as Queen’s agent at Antwerp were en-
trusted to his old and faithful servant Richard .
Clough, a Welshman, and one of the most labori-
ous and minutest of correspondents. (Gresham
complained now and then of his being too much

* Gresham’s present to the Queen was 104 in golden angels,
enclosed in a purse of black silk and silver gilt. The
Queen’s present to him consisted of a gilt cup with a cover.
Gresham’s wife also made her new year’s day offering. Her
ladyship’s gift was of small value, and so was the Queen’s
return. Sir John Leigh was also among those who made pre-
sents to the Queen on this day. He gave a coffer of wood,
carved, painted, and gilt, with combs, glasses, and balls
within; and he got in return a gilt stoup with a cover. Vi-
chols’ Progresses of Queen Elizabeth
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given to the writing of very long letters, yet, judg-
ing from the specimens which Mr. Burgon has
printed from the originals in the State Paper
Office, Clough’s minute details are very amusing,
and not without their value in aiding us to form a
notion of the state of society in the Low Countries at
the middle of the sixteenth century. Although he
himself had found it so easy to break through its
rules and laws, Gresham was of opinion that the
custom-house at Antwerp was a much more effi-
cient establishment for the collecting of duties
than that of her majesty Queen Elizabeth at Lon-
don; and he now wrote to Richard Clough to
desire him to get and send him full information
as to its constitution and management, with all the
details connected with it. Clﬂugh who delighted
in details, went to work con amore, and soon Tfilled
twenty folio pages. IHonest Richard, in this letter,
sorely ran down the London custom-house as being
inefficient in the proper levying of tolls and duties
for the Queen’s majesty. Ie also abused the Lon-
don merchants and the rulers of the city, as a com-
pany ¢ that do study for nothing else but for their
own profit.” ¢ As, for ensample,” says Richard,
‘“ considering what a city London is, and that in
so many years they have not found the means to
make a Bourse! but must walk in the rain, when
it raineth, more liker pedlars than merchants ; ; and
in this country, and all other, there is no kind of
people that have occasion to meet, but they have
a place meet for that purpose.—Indeed, and if
your business were done, and that I might have the
leisure to go about it, and that you will be a means
to Mr. Secretary [Ceml] to have his favour there-
in, I will not doubt but to make so fair' a Bourse
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in London as the great Bourse is in Antwerp,
without molesting of any man more than he should
be well-disposed to give. Herein I am somewhat
tedious : desiring you to pardon me, for, being once
entered into this matter, I could not stay myself.”*

Gresham, as we have seen, inherited the notion
of a London Bourse, or Exchange, from his father
Sir Richard ; but Richard Clough, no doubt, had
a good deal to do in maturing the idea, and in aid-
ing him in the execution of it.

It does not appear that any immediate and im-
portant change was made in the London custom-
house. Some of the measures recommended by
Gresham and his man Clough might have raised
the Queen’s revenue for a season ; but others of
them would have imposed fresh restrictions upon
the commerce of the country, which was already
woefully gyved and overlaid with restrictions and
prohibitions.

* Letter from Richard Clough to Sir Thomas Gresham,
dated Auntwerp, 31st December, 1561.
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CHAPTER VI.

' POVERTY, PESTILENCE, AND WARS OF RELIGION.

Ix March, 1562, Gresham was again at Antwerp
upon his usual business. HHe, however, soon re-
turned to London to get his accounts passed, which
had not been examined for a year. Ie brought
the court three thousand six hundred and forty
pounds in his debt, for riding and posting charges,
house-hire, diet, and necessaries. By this time
he was busily employed in building his new and
spacious house, which afterwards became Gresham
College, and which Stow describes as being “ the
most spacious of all other thereabout; builded of
brick and timber.”* The house was surrounded
by open grounds—convertible into pleasant gar-
dens—which extended from Bishopsgate Street to
Broad Street. Iis foreign agents and correspon-
dents in the Low Countries, in Venice and else-
where, shipped for him such materials and commo-
dities as could not easily be had in England at that
time. The large sums he was expending on this
vast building were a proof of his wealth and a
provocative of envy.

But in the course of the same year, 1562,
Gresham was again at Antwerp, where he enter-
tained for a time the penurious Secretary Cecil’s
younger son Thomas, and his travelling tutor
Thomas Windebank, who afterwards came to
higher preferment. While they were in Irance,

* Survey of London,
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and much pinched for money, Gresham had sent
the travellers three hundred dollars, and had
ventured to request Cecil to increase his son’s
allowance. DBut the old secretary said that he had
already allowed too much, and that his son Tom
would come home ¢ like a spending sot, meet to keep
a tennis-court.” It must have been a great relief
to the Queen’s agent, when young Cecil and his
tutor left him, to go into Germany in quest of
the German language. The disaffected in the
Low Countries were getting ready for their long
stern contest with the bigot Spaniards, and in
the neighbouring kingdom of France a fierce
religious war broke out between the Catholies
and the Protestants, there called IHuguenots.
Gresham was instructed to keep a vigilant eye on
what was passing, and was frequently and sharply
interrogated as to the course of events by Secretary
Cecil. In this state of affairs it was difficult to
get Queen Elizabeth’s creditors to wait, and more
and more difficult to borrow fresh sums for her use ;
Gresham was, therefore, obliged to say patience!
patience ! to Secretary Cecil, who served a very
great, but very impatient mistress. As an intelli-
gencer the Queen’s agent did great things, and he
apparently sent over some more saltpetre for the
making of gunpowder ; telling Cecil that, for a
certdmt} , there would shnrtlv be a great league for
religion’s sake against Elizabeth, He praised the
Lord for having already sent safely over into Eng-
land such vast supplies of arms and warlike stores ;
and he prayed to the Lord that the Duke of Guise,
the head of the Catholic party in France, might
‘cut his own throat for lack of money.” Partly
because the Catholic party were so poor, Gresham
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eagerly recommended Elizabeth to supportand join
the French Huguenots, and thereby regain posses-
sion of Calais, and the other strips of territory in
France which had been given up by her sister
Mary.

Elizabeth, incensed she could not stop French
interference in Scotland, nor wholly exclude French
armies from that country, sent over succours to the
Hun"uen{:-t@, and entered into the civil and religious
war raging in France. The Prince of Cﬂndé the
chief leader of the French Protestants, had EG]lCltE{I
her assistance and protection, and had offered her,
as an immediate advantage, possession of the im-
portant maritime town of Havre-de-Grace. After
some short negociations, during which Sir Henry
Sydney, the able and accomplished father of the
poetical and still more accomplished Sir Phili
Sydney, was sent into France, ostensibly to medi-
ate between the Catholies and Protestants, Eliza-
beth concluded a compact with the Prince of Condé,
furnished him with money, and then sent 3000
men under Sir Edward Poynings to take and keep
possession of HHavre. The King of France, Charles
IX., was a sickly, imbecile boy ; his mother, Cathe-
rine de’ Medici, the fiercest of all the bigots of that
age of universal bigotry and intolerance, was re-
gent and de facto sovereign. No declaration of
hostilities was made to the French court by
Elizabeth, who asserted to the foreign ambassadors
at her own court, who remonstrated with her, that
her only object was to serve his majesty the young
King of France, and free him from the hands of the
Guises, who, according to her version, held the
youth an unwilling prisoner. ¢ But,” said the
Catholic envoys, ‘ you are siding with the mi-
nority of the French people, and joining your
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arms with rebels.” ¢ Not so,” replied Elizabeth,
“T am only seeking to serve the French King.”
Being called upon by the Huguenots, who were
beseiged in Rouen by the Catholics under the
command of the King of Navarre, Sir Edward
Poynings thought himself bound to send an Eng-
lish 1einforcement from Havre to that city. His
detachment was cut to pieces to a man, for the
besiegers carried Rouen by assault, and then gave
no quarter. DBut the handful of Englishmen be-
haved valiantly, and before they met their fate the
Catholic King of Navarre was mortally wounded.
During the siege, a FKrench gentleman of the
Huguenot, or Protestant party, had attempted to
assassinate the Duke of Guise. Throughout, this
was a war of assassination, murder, and wholesale
-massacres ; each French party vieing in ferocity
with the other. It was a war fitted to brutalize
the English soldiers that were engaged in it, and
to provoke that great Catholic league against her
throne which Elizabeth and her statesmen feared :
it would, in a manner, justify such a league; for,
although they had kept up intrigues with the
Catholic party here, neither France nor Spain had
attempted to send troops into Ingland, and Scot-
land was then an independent kingdom with treaties
and old French connexions of its own. But Eliza-
~beth had set her heart upon keeping Havre, and
wregaining Calais; and in her more ecstatic hu-
mours she probably dreamed of getting back
all that Edward III. or Henry V. had con-
quered in France. She resolved to reinforce
her very small army, and she sent over Ambrose
Dudley, Earl of Warwick, elder brother of her
favourite Leicester, with three thousand more men.
Warwick took the command of Havre, and began to
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fortify that place, which was threatened with a
siege by the Duke of Guise. By means of English
money, a considerable body of Protestant soldiers
were engaged in Germany; and this force, and
others under the command of Andelot and the
Admiral Coligni, obliged Guise to move from the
Seine and the neighbourhood of Havre towards the
river Loire. After a remarkable campaign, during
which Condé¢ and Coligni threatened the city of
Paris, a fierce battle was fought at Dreux, and the
Protestants were defeated. The action, however,
was not very decisive; and to support Coligni,
Elizabeth sent over some more money, and offered
to give her bond for a further sum if he could find
merchants disposed to lend on such a security.®
Karly in the following year, 1563, the war being
very popular with our Protestant churchmen and
with the majority of the nation, as being thought
to be in favour of men that were co-religionists,
or nearly so, the convocation of the clergy voted
Queen Elizabeth a subsidy of six shillings in the
pound, payable in three years. The parliament
had voted her a supply of a subsidy and two fif-
teenths. It should seem that some of this money
was immediately sent to the Huguenots, and some
to the Iarl of Warwick. The earl, however,
received strict orders to keep his troops within the
walls of Iavre, and not to join in the field the
Admiral Coligni, who, without his co-operation,
had reduced most of the important places in Nor-
mandy. 'The admiral, however, remonstrated with
Elizabeth on the strange neutrality of her little
army, and his complaints became louder when he

* Holinshed. DBurleigh State Papms Pictorial History
of England.
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saw that the Duke of Guise was preparing to erush
the Protestants on the Loire, and was laying siege
to Orleans with every prospect of taking that city.
But at this juncture a young man of Lyons, named
Poltrot, a fanatic Huguenot, came, dressed like a
horse-soldier, riding on a Spanish jennet, pretend-
ing to have a communication of importance to
make to the Duke of Guise, but instead of a letter
he drew a pistol from under his cloak, and shot the
unsuspecting duke. Guise was conveyed with all
speed to Paris, and there he died on the 24th of
February, six days after receiving his wound. The
death of this brave and accomplished soldier much
disheartened the French Catholics, and made them
eager to treat for a peace with the French Protes-
tants. The Huguenots, incensed at the neutrality
of the Earl of Warwick’s forces, and convinced in
their own minds that KElizabeth was only seeking
her own advantage and a fresh footing for the
English in France, readily agreed to negociate, and
another hollow pacification was soon concluded
between the Irench Catholies and the French
Protestants. The Admiral Coligni, who knew her
well, maintained that there was no trusting Cather-
ine de’ Medici, and that this treaty would end in
some treacherous massacre of the Huguenots; but
he had been overruled by his associates, and many
of those volatile men were now most anxious to
destroy the English army they had invited over to
assist them. As, beyond the sending of no great
sums of money, the Inglish queen had done so
little for the Huguenots, it was not to be expected
that they should take much care of her majesty’s
interests in their treaty; they merely stipulated
that, if she would give up Havre, her charges and
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the money she had advanced should be repaid by
the French court, and that Calais, at the expiration
of a certain term, should be restored to her. In
this instance, Elizabeth’s anger got the better of
her discretion : she sent Warwick orders to defend
Havre to the last extremity against the power of
the whole French monarchy, for Huguenots and
Catholics were now united, and were equally de-
termined to drive the English out of the place.
Warwick had about five thousand men, and during
the siege he was reinforced by eight hundred men.
He defended himself gallantly, and his troops beat
back the French in every assault and attempt to
storm the place. ~But the plague broke out in the
town ; and on the 28th of July, when the garrison
was reduced to fifteen hundred men, Warwick ca-
pitulated upon very honourable terms. But the
losses and woes attendant on this rash and un-
principled expedition did not end here. Warwick’s
soldiers brought the plague with them from Havre
to London, where it raged so fiercely and so long
that twenty thousand persons of all degrees are
said to have been carried off by it. It extended
also into various parts of the country. Not only
was there no term kept by the courts of law at
Michaelmas, but (extraordinary and most sad fact !)
there was no Lord Mayor’s dinner this year. ¢ The
Queen signified, that forasmuch as the plague was
so great in the city, the new mayor elected should
keep no feast at the Guildhall, for doubt that
through bringing together such a multitude the
infection might increase ; for that week there died
within the city and out-parishes more than two
thousand.”* Nor was this fierce plague the only

* Holinshed, Chroniecle.



124 LIFE OF GRESHAM.

woe. “To be short, the poor citizens of London
were this year plagued with a three-fold plague—
pestilence, scarcity of money, and dearth of vic-
tuals—the misery whereof were too long here to
write ; no doubt the poor remember it.”* In the
month of September there were earthquakes in
various parts of the kingdom, but strongest in Lin-
colnshire and Northamptonshire; and from the
1st of December till the 12th there was such
continual lightning and thunder, that the like had
not been seen and heard by any person then living.
The Catholic party saw in these things a visible
manifestation of the wrath of Heaven at the changes
which had taken place in religion. Sufficiently
discouraged by the result of this her first conti-
nental war, Elizabeth readily consented to give up
the cause of the Protestants in France, and to
econclude a fresh peace with the queen-regent
Catherine de¢’ Medici, who was most earnest in
detaching England from the Protestant subjects of
her son, against whom she was already preparing
the atrocious plot and massacre of St. Bartholo-
mew. A peace, signed at Troyes on the 11th of
April, 1564, was shortly after proclaimed with
sound of trumpet, before the Queen’s majesty in
her castle of Windsor.

* In the meanwhile, Sir Thomas Gresham had
been twice to Flanders on the Queen’s business,
and had twice returned to Kngland. During his
stay at Antwerp, he had been very busy in mak-
ing provision of saltpetre and bow-staves; and
although Philip II. was on the verge of ‘a war
with Klizabeth, and strict orders were given not
to allow of the export of any munitions of war,

% John Stow, Annals.
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Gresham succeeded in smuggling out his saltpetre
and bow-staves, and other articles. There is a
sort of a Lord Burleigh-shake-of-the-head wisdom
in a letter he writes to Cecil, at a time when
Elizabeth had taken the initiative, and was making
war in France for the Protestants. ¢ Sir,” he
says, ‘it is much doubted there will be much ado
this summer amongst Christian princes for the
religion : wherein King Philip and friends will
disturb all that they can for to maintain the pa-
pistry.”  On coming over, he found that the
plague was raging in London, and therefore, in-
stead of repairing to court, he very prudently went
to his fine manor-house at Intwood, in Norfolk,
and reported himself and his proceedings by letter
to Cecil. The great Elizabeth was given to little
savings, and at present she was sadly straitened for
money. The total of such reductions must have
amounted to a very insignificant sum, but it ap-
pears that she diminished the diet or daily pay of
many of her servants. She certainly reduced that
of Gresham. TI’erhaps she thought that a man
who had so many estates in Norfolk, and who was
building for himself a sumptuous palace in the city
of London, could very well bear some diminution
to his twenty shillings per diem ; and perhaps she
also thought that, as he could not succeed in bor-
rowing such large sums for her as he had done
in more peaceful and prosperous times, his al-
lowance ought to be less than it had been. Dut
the rich Sir Thomas did not enter into either
of these views of his case, and he set up a loud
lamentation about his twenty shillings. Ile enu-
merated to Cecil all the services he had rendered to
the king her majesty’s father, to the king her brother,
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to the late queen her sister, and to herself; he af-
firmed that he had done money business for Eliza-
beth alone to the amount of eight hundred and
thirty thousand pounds, that he had saved her much
cash, and had hitherto always accomplished her
majesty’s ‘commandments and instructions in all
points to her majesty’s great honour and credit
throughout all Christendom : he put in his broken
leg, as a soldier does his wounds, and he said that
he was become lame and was now waxing old !*
He also recalled the promises which the Queen
had made to him at Hatfield, when she told him
that she would do as much for him as had been
done by Edward VI. and Queen Mary together.
He declared that his expenses, when abroad, ex-
ceeded four times twenty shillings a-day; but he
said nothing of his numerous commissions and
profits, or of the large allowances paid him for
house-rent, posting, &e., &e. It is evident that
he was very fond of money, and that his *poor
wife” was fonder of money than he was himself,
and could not brook any diminution, however
small, of the incomings. He petitioned the QQueen,
but it should seem without any present effect.
Nevertheless, he was sent again to Antwerp in the
course of this same year of poverty, pestilence, and
famine ; and on his return he had a narrow escape
from being taken by some French cruizers and
other privateers who were then infesting the seas,
and greatly interrupting the trade of England.
As the plague was at its worst, he did not go to
London, but landed on the Norfolk coast and went
again to his house at Intwood.

* When he thus wrote, Gresham was not much above
forty. 1 J. W. Burgon.
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Early in the following year, 1564, Sir Thomas
was once more at Antwerp negociating with the
Queen’s creditors. The troubles of the Low Coun-
tries were still on the increase, and as far as the Spa-
nish government could do it, trade with England
was now prohibited and interrupted. An impartial
narrator must confess that the faults and provoca-
tions were not all on one side, and that Philip 1L
and his government in the Low Countries, who
had discovered Gresham’s dealings in articles con-
traband of war, bore a great deal before they reta-
liated. By a recent act of parliament, followed by
aroyal proclamation, England had prohibited the im-
portation of cutlery, pins, hats, girdles, ribands, and
other articles. These things had hitherto been chiefly
imported from the Low Countries, but now Gres-
ham and others had entered upon the speculation of
manufacturing them at home.” The proclamation
was therefore to act as a protection to the specula-
tion of the Queen’s agent and friends. Some Eng-
lish privateers, acting as downright pirates, had
made no distinction between French ships and Spa-
nish ships, but had plundered the latter wherever
and whenever they could overpower them; and
Elizabeth’s officers, and even her Admiralty, took
no heed to these pirates, while the English publie
at large seem to have considered it no sin to rob
the proud and papistical Spaniards. In the heart
of the Protestants of England there had long been
a declaration of war against King Philip. On the
other side, neither King Thilip nor any other Ca-
tholic sovereign could regard with complaisance or
coolness Elizabeth’s leagues with the Huguenots and

* Wheeler, Treaties of Commerce.
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her expeditions sent to France. Under all these
and other motives, the government of the Low
Countries had prohibited the importation of ¥ng-
lish cloths and wools, and had thus put an interdict
upon the most valuable part of our trade. This
had been done by a public proclamation on the 28th
of November, 1563. Elizabeth and Cecil were
thrown into consternation, ‘and they hastened to
send over the learned and shrewd Dr. Dale to give
explanation to the Regent Duchess of Parma, and
to induce her, by fair words, to recall her proclama-
tion, and throw the trade open as it had been be-
fore. Although his mission was so important and
urgent, and although the learned civilian had to
appear at the court of Brussels and maintain some
of the state of an ambassador, Elizabeth could
scarcely find it in her heart to allow him more
than twenty shillings per diem. DBut here she had
to deal with a wit. That best of all old letter
writers, James IHowell, who lived in the days of
James 1., Charles I., and the Commonwealth, and
whose pleasant gossiping letters have not yet been
surpassed, tells the following nice story :—* And
since I am fallen upon Doctor Dale, who was a
witty kind of droll, I will tell you, instead of news, a
facetious tale of his. When Queen Elizabeth did
first propose to him that foreign employment to
Flanders, among other encouragements, she told
him that he should have twenty shillings per diem
for his expenses. ¢ Then Madam,” said he, ¢ I will
spend nineteen shillings a-day.” ¢ What will you
do with the odd shilling ?’ said the Queen. ‘1 will
reserve that for my Kate, and for Tom and Dick ;’
meaning his wife and children! This induced the
Queen to enlarge his allowance.”—The increase of
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Dale’s ¢ diet ” was, however, in all probability but
small ; and James Howell tells another pleasant
story, touching the diplomatical doctor’s poverty.
¢ That makes me think on that famous civilian,
Doctor Dale, who, being employed in Flanders by
Queen Elizabeth, sent in a packet to the Secretary
of State two letters, one to the Queen, the other to
his wife. But that which was meant for the Queen
was superscribed, 70 /his dear Wife; and that for
his wife, 70 her most excellent Majesty: so that
the Queen having opened his letter, she found it
beginning with Sweet-heart, and afterwards with
My Dear,and Dear Love, with such expressions ;
acquainting her with the state of his body, and that
he began to want money. You may easily guess
what motions of mirth this mistake raised ;: but the
Doctor, by this oversight (or cunningness rather),
got a supply of money.”*

Doctor Dale did his spiriting at Brussels in the
manner that might have been expected from so
witty, ready-minded, and learned a personage; but
the Duchess of Parma must have known that man
of the declarations and protestations the Doctor
made in the name of his royal mistress (who in-
sisted that no offence had been given by the Eng-
lish to the Spaniards) were mere fictions to serve the
moment. Gresham had predicted that the mission
would be very difficult, and so the Doctor found
it. Philip’s regent proceeded to lay her interdict
upon some merchandise which had been shipped for
England, and upon which duty was said to have
been paid by the English. Dale remonstrated at
Brussels ; but at Antwerp Gresham appealed from
the government to the people; and the people,

* Epistolee Hoelianee,
G
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who saw nothing but ruin to themselves in the sus-
pension of the trade with England, were well dis-
posed to listen to him, and even to aid him, as
many of them had so often done before, in evading
the proclamations and laws. And again Gresham
wrote to Cecil that the Queen, his mistress, had
more friends in that part of the country than had
King Philip and the Duchess of Parma. The
Duchess-Regent represented that, upon sanitary
grounds, it was her duty to continue the prohi-
bition of the importation of English wools and
cloths, at least until next Easter; and wool and
woollen stuffs are still considered among the com-
modities most likely to communicate plague. DBut
the people of Antwerp wanted the English stufls
and the trade so much, that they feared not the
pestilence, and Gresham and Dale ‘told the govern-
ment that they had allowed the 1mpmtatm 1 when
the plague was raging in London, whereas now it
was declining, or was altogether gone. There was
the same poverty in Antwerp as in London, and an
insurrection was every day expected. The circum-
stantial Richard Clough says in one of his letters,
¢“ There is such misery within this town, that the
like hath not been seen. Almost every night
houses are broken up and robbed.” Nevertheless
the Duchess-Regent, by another proclamation, ex-
tended the term of her prohibition from Iaster to
Michaelmas. Elizabeth’s government now resolved
to attempt frightening the government of the Low
Countries, by showing them the lamentable conse-
quences which must follow the total removal of the
English trade from Antwerp to Hamburgh, or to
some other free town either of the Hanseatic Le&ﬂ‘ue,
or under the protection of the emperor; and they '
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notified that they would make such removal unless
the restrictions were removed. Master John Sheres
was sent over to Brussels, with minute instructions
in Cecil’s hand-writing. The great secretacy felt,
and powerfully expressed in them, his sense of the
value of our trade, and the facility with which good
merchandise can command good markets. Sheres,
in case of being asked where the British merchants
could expeet to find so good a mart as Antwerp,
was instructed by Cecil to give this sort of answer :
““ You are to say that to what place our merchants
will or shall go with their cloths, yeu know not ;
but well you are assured that our merchants make
a full account that the commodities of our country
are of that nature, that wheresoever they shall be
carried they will well obtain a mart.”*

But neither menaces nor flatteries, neither Doctor
Valentine Dale, nor John Sheres, gentleman, could
make any impression upon the court of Drussels.
That court could only do what Philip II. com-
manded ; and the Spanish king having determined
upon a war against Protestantism, would no longer
allow Elizabeth the opportunity of furnishing her-
self with the munitions of war in his dominions.
Philip also calculated that Ingland must sufier
greatly by this interruption of her trade; and his
stern mind was not to be moved from its purpose
by the reflection (if it ever occurred to him) that
his own subjects in the Low Countries must suffer
as much as the English by the interdicts. It was
soon found that Philip’s subjects suffered a vast
deal more than the English ; and thus these com-
mercial reasons, joined to the sympathy in religion,

* Copy of Ceecil’s instructions to John Sheres in State
Paper Office, as given by J. W. Burgon.
G2
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drove Philip’s lieges to court the protection of
Elizabeth.

Even while Doctor Dale was negotiating, the
Queen, by proclamation, prohibited the importation
of all Low Country merchandise into any part of
her dominions. This was early in the year 1564.
The consequences were immediately seen in the
increased poverty and disaffection of Antwerp and
other 'towns. The magistrates of Antwerp im-
plored Cecil to use his influence with his Queen to
procure the re-establishment of trade, promising on
their part to spare no exertion, to turn every stone,
in order to obtain the consent of their sovereign
King Philip. The same magistrates also applied to
Gresham. The magistrates of Bruges prayed the
English merchants to come and establish themselves
in their city, which was then under the government
of the great patriot Count Egmont. It was but a
waste of time and trouble (except that opportunity
was given to the English commissioners to acquaint
themselves with the political state of the eountry,
and to form closer connexions with IKgmont and
the other patriot and Protestant leaders); but in
the month of Mareh, 1565, Elizabeth sent over
Anthony Brown, first Viscount Montagu, Doctor
Wotton, and Mr. Haddon, to hold a colloquy or
conference at Bruges with commissioners for his
majesty the King of Spain. The impoverished
Flemings received the bnrrhsh commissioners with
great respect and much joy, fondly hoping that
they might be a means of restoring trade and pro-
sperity to the country ; and wherever the English-
men stopped they were presented with wine at the!
charge of the town.

* Gresham’s and Clough’s Letters, as quoted by J. Ww..
Burgon.
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The discussions at Bruges, with many interrup-
tions between, lasted six months. Each party ae-
cused the other, or the government of the other,
of having provoked this quarrel, and both required
conditions and concessions which the other would
not give. We can well believe that on the part of
the Spaniards there was no intention to bring the
conferences to such a termination as should again
throw open the Low Countries to the trade of
England, and the purchases and practices of Sir
Thomas Gresham, which went to furnish Queen
Elizabeth, the very head of Protestantism, whom
King Philip had determined to attack, with the
¢ warlike stuff”” which she yet wanted, although
the arsenals and magazines of England were far
better stocked than ever they had been before.
The Spanish negotiators gave in fifty-nine causes of
complaint, or ‘“ articles of griefs,” some of which
had reference to events which had happened in the
reign of Edward V1., or at a still remoter period ;
but the exploits of our privateers were not for-
gotten, and they demanded restitution for unwar-
rantable depredations and seizures of ships, goods,
&c. In the month of September, Elizabeth sent
her wearied commissioners permission to return;
and the conferences at Bruges were suspended by
mutual consent. But the London merchants pressed
hard for * some friendly accord,” and by Easter of
the following year Elizabeth’s commissioners were
again at Bruges, waiting for the three commission-
ers for the King of Spain, whe had engaged to meet
them there. The Englishmen were kept waiting
for some time. It is quite evident that the suspi-
cious court of Spain did not much relish these con-
ferences. Count Iorn, one of the idols of the pa-
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triotic party, and the bosom friend of Count Eg-
mont, with whose name his own is inseparably
coupled in the history of the Great Revolution
of the Low Countries,* had incurred the sus-
picion of Philip, and was said to be ordered to
be sent into Spain. Now Count Horn had been
one of the three commissioners who met the Eng-
lishmen at Bruges in the preceding year, and he
had, in opposition to his colleagues, shown a
friendly feeling towards the Inglish. The fact is
not recorded, but, from the political course which
Horn steered, and which cost him his head on a
scafiold not many months after the date at which
we are now arrived, it may be presumed that he
had conferred with our commissioners about other
matters besides those of commerce, and that he had
been shrewdly suspected, if not detected, by Philip’s
friends and agents. Another commissioner was,
however, substituted for Count IHorn, and the con-
ferences were renewed some time in April (1566).
After many meetings, in which nothing was con-
cluded, the parties about the middle of June again
suspended the colloquy by mutual consent. They
had, however, agreed that the treaty for free inter-
course should be considered as still in force ; and
that the merchant strangers settled in England, or
in the Low Countries, should be kindly treated on
both sides. They were to meet again; but the
march of revolution rendered that impracticable ;
and the same great cause compelled Philip to give
up for the present whatever designs he had upon
Ingland, in order to occupy himself about the re-

* ¢« Egmont and Horn, heard ye that holy ery !
Martyrs of Freedom ! from your seats in Heaven !”
Southey, Carmen Triumphale.
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duetion of his refractory subjects in the Low Coun-
tries. As in Scotland, under John Knox, the war
“began with preaching. A number of Protestant
ministers out of Holland and Germany (it is said
that many Anabaptists and other anti-social fana-
tics were among them)®, took the field in great
numbers. They preached in the fields outside the
towns, and were not to be stopped or interrupted
by the monks and the Ilomish priests, who threat-
ened them, and excommunicated them, and rang in
horrible discord all their church-bells in the towns
while the Reformers were preaching. 'T'he greater
field-preachings were generally preceded by three
or four days’ notice. At Antwerp proclamation
was made in the name of the Regent one Saturday,
that no man should go to the field-sermon on Sun-
day upon pain of hanging; yet, when the Sunday
came, 16,000 persons, all well armed and in battle
array, weift out of the town to hear the sermon;
and, when they had heard it, they returned into the
town, and going straight to the house of the high
bailiff, they demanded the liberation of a preacher
whom he had arrested two or three days before.
The high bailiff refused to comply ; and thereupon
the armed people went to the prison, broke it open,
and delivered the Protestant preacher. And this
being done, every man departed quietly to his
home.+

¥ * Cardinal Bentivoglio, speaking as a Catholie, and rather
like an Irishman, says that the number of sects was almost
greater than that of the sectarians —
“ Erano quast piu le Sette, che t loro Settarii.”
Della Guerra di Flandra.,
+ Letter of Richard Clough in State Paper Office, as
quoted by J. W. Burgon.
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Similar occurrences took place at many other
towns. At one place, the preacher being at his
sermon outside the town, and the monks ringing an
alarm peal inside the town to interrupt him, and
call a force against him, the people ran back to the
town, “and if their feet had not served them the
better, the monks had all been slain by the boors.”
The Duchess of Parma collected a force of horse to
overrun the people at the preaching in the fields at
Antwerp ; but the municipality of the town sent to
assure her, that if she shed the blood of the poorest
man that went to the preaching, they were quite
certain that before night every spiritual man, and
every papist within the city would be slain, and
that, if they, the magistrates, should attempt to
defend the priests, they would die also. The Re-
gent, who was neither bold nor bloody-minded,
countermanded her order. Nevertheless, at five
o’clock in the morning of Sunday, when the con-
gregation went out to the preaching, they took out
with them between 400 and 500 soldiers, many
pieces of artillery, 150 horsemen, and between
4000 and 5000 guns and pistols. The number of
the congregation was estimated at from 20,000 to
30,000. As soon as the sermon was done, and the
psalms were sung, there was such a peal of guns as
had never been heard before ; and after this firing
the word was, “To your tents, O Israel!” and
every man went quietly to his home. On Monday
there was another great preaching, which was
equally well attended, and which went off precisely
in the same manner. ¢ But,” says the Inglish
spectator, ¢ an if they had been molested, and but
one man hurt, here would have been a sorrowful
day to the Papists, and great doubt to others
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also.”* This was in the month of July, 1566.
The Spanish court had given no answer to the
petition of the people against the Inquisition, and
therefore all the Protestants, of whatsoever sect,
were preparing themselves for a desperate war,
which was a civil war, as well as a war against
Spain ; for in every part of the Low Countries the
Papists were numerous, and in Flanders and Dra-
bant they far exceeded the Protestants in number.
The Congregation began to buy up all the horses
in the country, and to distribute money among
such of the Protestants as were too poor to buy
arms for themselves. It was seen at Antwerp that
many of the best and wealthiest men of the town
were with the Congregation; but this was still
more strikingly the case in the other great trading
towns north of the Scheldt. The Protestants sent
in another petition to the Duchess-Regent, and inti-
mated that they must have their answer by the
23rd of August. The Regent, who could not give
this answer, and who could do nothing without
orders from Madrid, fell into great alarm, and
packed off' her plate and jewels for Cologne. On
the 21st of August there was in the fair and rich
city of Antwerp ¢ the marvelousest piece of work
that ever was seen done in so short a time; and so
terrible in the doing, that it would make a man
afraid to think upon it, being more like a dream
than such a piece of work.”t

t * Letter of Richard Clough in State Paper Office, as
quoted by J. W. Burgon.

. T Letter.from Richard Clough to Gresham., Id.

G 3
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CHAPTER VIL

THE TROUBLES IN THE LOW COUNTRIES.

Sir Thomas Gresham, who could now do very
little in the Low Countries, was absent in England,
and busied about erecting the Dourse, or Royal
Ixchange; but his careful servant Richard Clough
was at Antwerp, taking care of his household
goods and other property, and he was looking out
of the window of his master’s house when the
most famous iconoclastic riot of modern ages com-
menced. ,

At five o’clock in the evening on the 21st of
August, 1566, as the Catholic priests were thinking
of singing complines, in the church of Our Lady
(the Cathedral of Antwerp), a company rushed
into the church, and began to sing psalms as they
were sung at the field-preachings. At the begin-
ning it was but a small company, consisting chiefly
of dirty boys of the town. The Margrave and some
other lords went to the church and rebuked them,
but all in vain : foras soon as the lords turned their
backs, the boys ¢ to it again,” and the company in-
~ creased. Then, atabout six o’clock, the Reformers
broke up the choir, and utterly destroyed most of
the church books. After this work of destruction,
they fell upon the image of Our Lady, which had
been carried about the town in procession on the
preceding Sunday, and they defaced the image and
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utterly ruined the chapel of Our Lady. While this
was doing, and while other image-breakers were
going through the streets towards other churches,
the respectable citizens stood before the doors of
their houses ¢“ in harness,” looking upon the fellows
as they passed, but doing nothing to prevent or
check them. When Gresham’s servant thought it
safe so to do, he quitted his master’s house, and
went with thousands of the substantial men of
Antwerp to see what stir was in the churches.

lough deseribes Our Lady’s church as ¢ looking
like a hell, where were above a thousand torches
burning, and such a noise as if heaven and earth
had gone together, with falling of images and
beating down of costly works; in such sort, that
the spoil was so great that a man could not well
pass through the church.” Organs, paintings,
rich carvings, and all things else were destroyed,
and one of the richest churches in Europe was left,
internally, a wreck and ruin. From the church
of Our Lady, Gresham’s man went to the other
churches, and to the convents and monasteries in
the town, which, one by one, were visited by the
same furious band of iconoclasts. What struck
Richard Clough as well as others who have narrated
this night’s proceedings, was the smallness of the
band of destructionists. Clough says that in some
of the churches he could not perceive above ten or
a dozen that were doing the work, and that these
were ““all boys and rascals ;" but he adds the signi-
ficant fact that there were in the same churches
‘“ many lookers-on, or as some thought, setters-on.”
The historian Strada says that the whole band of
destructionists never exceeded one hundred. Ben-
tivoglio says that the business. was undertaken and
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performed by a few, but that many desired it, and
in the end all consented to it.* All the parish
churches were treated as bad as the cathedral ; and
all the furniture of the churches, with the images

~of virgins and saints, the pictures, books, and

registers were destroyed with a dispatch which
quite astonished Richard Clough, and which was
compared by Strada to the hasty work of devils
and goblins. The monks were sent flying in all
directions, and the religious houses of women were
broken open.and ransacked from hall to dormitory ;
but our Welshman tells us that he doth understand
that the mob “ neither said nor did anything to the
nuns ; but when all was broken, they left it there,
and so departed.” The cry was, that they came not to
steal, but only to destroy what was idolatrous and
displeasing to God. It is said that, on their first
outbreak they stole nothing, but delivered all the
rich church plate, the ehalices of gold and silver,
and the golden and jewelled crosses to the chief
magistrates after they had broken and defaced
them ; and that they hanged a poor fellow who
had secreted some property to the value of only
four or five shillings. But similar stories are told
of a thousand insurrections, riots, and revolutions,
and are strictly true of none. Perhaps, at the com-
mencement, the leading enthusiasts (whether it be
for religion, as at Antwerp, or for republicanism, as
was the case with the French revolutionists in 1792)
may impose upon themselves a rigid rule of this
sort, but they never could have imposed so much
self-denial upon all of the thousands and the tens
of thousands that acted with them or followed up

* Strada de Bello Belgico. Bentivoglio della Guerra di
Fiandra,



TROUBLES IN THE LOW COUNTRIES. 141

their operations. Richard Clough, who marvels.
one day at the reports that are spread about the
immaculate purity and disinterestedness (as to gold,
and silver, and all spoil) of the multitude, tells us.
on the next day that they are stealing and plun-
dering at a mighty rate. ¢ And whereas,” saith
Master Richard, ¢ it was well allowed, in a manner,
of all men, the pulling down of the images, it is
disliked of most men that they have made such a
spoil as they have done, in stealing all the gold,
silver, and jewels within the churches; and break-
ing up of doors where they had nothing to do,
they have spoiled not only the evidence [docu-
ments, registers, title-deeds, &c.], but the evidence
of many in this town, who had brought their
evidence into the church for fear of fire or other
[accident]. As also, whereas, there was many
fair sepultures, [monuments and tombs] in the
churches, they have broken and defaced them all.”
They had done more than this: and in sundry
ways the Antwerp mob had committed, and the
wealthier citizens had connived at, deeds which
filled every believing Catholie, whether a Spaniard
or their own countryman, with horror and indig-
nation, and which were sure to render the war which
was now about to begin one of vengeance and ex-
termination. They had mockingly called upon the
effigies of Christ, the Virgin, and saints to join
in singing their Geneva psalms, to join them in
shouting their old war-ery—* Long live the beg-
gars!| Vivent les Guewxr!” and, before breaking
them into pieces, they had thrust swords and spears
into these revered images. The historian Strada,
speaking like a devout Catholic, says, ¢ They hurled
down from their pedestals on the walls huge sta-
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tues of saints, among which was an antique and
great crucifixion, with the thieves hanging one on
either side of our Saviour. They pulled down our
Saviour with ropes, and broke the figure in pieces;
but they touched not the two thieves, as if they
worshipped them, and would keep them as their
gods. The sacramental chalices which they found in
the vestry-room they filled with the wine which had
been prepared for the altar, and they drank off the
wine in derision, and they greased their shoes with
the chrisme or holy oil," laughing and making
merry all the while.”* The work of destruction,
which was begun in Antwerp at six o’clock in the
evening, was finished at three hours after midnight,
when mob, spectators, and setters-on, who had no-
where met with any let or hindrance, went quietly to
their homes. Desides the cathedral and monastic

stablishments, they had spoiled between twenty-
five and thirty churches. The destruction of fine
old statues and pictures (curious where they were
not fine, being, many of them, works of the earliest
masters of IFlanders, Germany, and Italy), and of
rare books and manuscripts, had been prodigious
and lamentable. Strada, who had the love of
letters deeply in him, and who was an elegant
-critic as well as historian, laments the havoe made
in the monastic libraries: and says, that the rare
pictures, the productions of great masters, des-
troyed in the cathedral church alone, were valued
at four hundred thousand ducats.

Other towns speedily followed the example of
Antwerp; and moveable columuns of fanatics went
about from place to place, breaking open the
churches, destroying the furniture, images, plc-

* De Bello Belgico.
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tures, books and manuseripts, and stealing the gold
and silver and other portable and valuable commo-
dities. The Catholic inhabitants of the country,
not expecting this sudden and miglhty storm, were
unarmed and wholly unprepared ; and the Duchess-
Regent had but a very small number of troops
on whom she could depend. Thus circumstanced,
the Regent sought to gain time by giving promises
which were never meant to be kept.

Within the city of Antwerp the Refermers very
soon continued their work. Iut this was now done
in a more regular manner, and by the direction
and under the. eye of the ll’llIHICIpEL]lt} and lords of
the city. W here : any statues or pictures remained,
they were ordered to be pulled down and broken
and cut to pieces. The like was done with the
beautifully carved altar-pieces, and with other
church marbles and stones. Statues which had
only recently cost very large sums of money were
demolished. I\Gtwﬂhstandluw all this havoe, and
this reign of terror, on, the very next ‘iundh.
some of the Catliolic priests went to their cl'mrches
and began to preach. DBut many people stood u
and said that their doctrine was false doctrine,
which must not be preached at all ; and as a ter-
rible riot was beginning which might have ended
in bloodshed, the magistrates sent their officers to
command the Catholie priests not only to cease
preaching, but also to close their churches, telling
them that if they did not do it they would shut up
the churches for them. Those who had been used
to preach in the fields, now came in and preached
in all the churches in the new town; and as the
churches in the old town were forcibly shut up, -
the Reformers had very soon all the preaching to
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themselves. And then men began to see how
little the Reformers were agreed among themselves
on doctrinal points or in practice, and how fierce
and uncompromising were all the sects into which
-they were divided. '
All commerce was now at a stand-still, all credit
‘was gone: no man would trust another ; nearly
~every man feared every other man; and poor
Richard Clough, with many a God help us ! wrote
‘to his master that nothing more could be done for
the Queen’s majesty in borrowing money or in pur-
chasing arms and ammunition, and that the Queen’s
creditors were all becoming impatient and clamor-
ous. Yet at this moment Gresham, driven by the
Queen and Cecil, not only asked for further delay
in some payments, but also ordered more money to
be taken up by exchange. The poor Welshman
thought that the knight his master had taken leave
of his senses, and with much naiveté he told him
so. As Richard Clough could do nothing, Sir
Thomas Gresham was obliged to go over to An-
twerp himself, in the very midst of this hurly-burly.
[ This, he says, was ‘the thirty-first journey of
charge ” he made since Queen KElizabeth’s acces-
sion.| He went very unwillingly, and made his
stay as short as he could. He gave some new
bonds and securities, and prevailed upon some of
Elizabeth’s creditors to wait ; and then, seeing that
no money was to be obtained, he gave out in the
Antwerp Bourse that he wanted none. He wrote
to Cecil, ¢ I shall give the Bourse and all other
merchants to understand that I have no more need
of money. . . . For that I do see and feel al-
ready that here is no more money to be had at no
price. . . . I have gone through all the monied
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men, by one practice or other, and specially with
all them which I was wont to deal withal, and of
whom there was not a penny to be had.” He
could not find even means of getting a horse or a
sword to the Queen’s liking: albeit he was more
fortunate in procuring some head-gear, or ¢ Lead-
pieces of silk,” for her majesty’s wearing. He saw
clearly the mischief and the bloody war that would
come of the image-breaking, and he earnestly re-
commended Secretary Cecil to look out for some
other realm and place * for the utterance of our
commodities,” being quite sure that there could be
no good trade in the Low Countries for many a
year. Ie dined and conferred with the Prince of
Orange, who was now governor of Antwerp, and
was boldly putting himself forward as the head of
the Protestant party, not without hopes, nor even
without assurances from England, of being backed
and supported by Queen Elizabeth. The Prinee
of Orange told Gresham that he well knew that
the King of Spain would be exasperated at the
doings of the Reformers, and would never keep
the promises which the Regent had made, but pro-
ceed against those who had offended him with the
sword. ¢ In all his talk,” says Gresham, ¢ he said
unto me, ‘I know this will nothing content the
king :” and at dinner be carved for me himself, all
the dinner-time ; and in the midst of dinner, he
drank a carouse to the Queen’s majesty, which
carouse the princess his wife, and withal the board
[table] did the like. And since that time, here is
by me, one Giles Hoffman (whom the Queen’s
majesty oweth a good piece of money), who had
great discourse with me about this business; who
is a Protestant for his life ; and asked me whether
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I would go to the sermon or not. T said, ¢ Ay..
And in conclusion he asked me, ¢ How think you.
Mr. Gresham ? Forasmuch as the Queen’s ma-
jesty and her realm is of this religion, think you
that she giveth aid to our noblemen, as she did in
France, for the religion’s sake?” To that 1 an~
swered, and asked him whether the noblemen had
demanded any help of her majesty? Ie said
he could not tell. ¢Then, I made answer, I
was no councillor, nor never dealt in such mat-
ters.” ¥

This was politic conduct, and such as fitted well
on a man like Gresham, who had successfully got
through so many phases of the Tudor absolutism,
and who knew the present necessity there was for
his mistress the Queen to mask her intentions from
Spain and EFrance. DBut surely it was not quite so
politic in Gresham to choose this moment of pe-
verty and diffienlty for pressing the Queen for a
reward for hLis services, and for reminding her
again of her promise to do more for him than had
been done by Edward VI. and Queen Mary. Yet
he did all this in the letters which he now wrote
to the Queen from Antwerp, and in which he told
her that after much shorter services than these
which he had rendered to her majesty, King Id-
ward and Queen Mary had given to him and his
heirs for ever, lands worth 3C0/. per annum !

The Prince of Orange feasted GGresham a second
time, and also did him the honour of dining with
him, with his wife the princess, his brother, and
other of his relations, at a house Sir Thomas had
a little out of the town. Doctor Wotton, one of

* Letter in State Paper Office, as given by Mr. Burgon.
t 1d. Id.
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_the three commissioners, who, since the conferences
‘at DBruges, had been at the spa of Aix-la-Chapelie
for the benefit of his broken health, reached Antwerp
‘at this juncture, and dined with Gresham and the
Prince and Princess of Orange. The prince and
“his brother used great courtesy towards the doctor,
and evidently sounded him as they had done Gre-
sham, in the hope of discovering how far Elizabeth
would go in support of their cause. Gresham left
Antwerp about the 18th of September, 1566, fully
convinced, in his own mind, that the people of
the country were ready to cut one another’s throats
for matters of religion, that the King of Spain was
determined, at all costs, ““to set up the mass and
the idols again;” and that the Prince of Orange
was equally determined to resist the King of "upam

having assurances of support from several Pro-
testant princes, and a confident hope of success.
Strada, as a Catholic and a Jesuit, could not be
expected to be impartial in describing a war be-
tween DProtestants and Papists, or in assigning
the feelings and motives which led to one of the
longest and most sanguinary struggles that have
taken place between the two conflicting faiths ; but
through his connexion with the Farnese family
(the family of that illustrious general the Duke of
Parma, who fought so long in the Low Countries),
Strada had access to many sources of information,
and he had a turn for collecting minute details.

He says that it was at the dinner given by Gres-
ham, the agent of Queen Ilizabeth, to the Prince
of Orange and his family, that the prince, ordina-
rily so little given to speaking that he was called
¢ Silence,” but warmed with wine and good cheer,
spoke up and out against an edict which had been
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just issued by the Emperor Maximilian, and which
forbade all Germans under pain of death, to bear:
‘arms against the King of Spain. According to
Strada, the Prince of Oranﬂe exclaimed that the
Emperor and the King of Spa,m and all that were
of theu' opinion, were in a great mistake ! that not
only the German Protestants would take up arms,
but also many other nations bordering upon the
empire; that the Swedes, the Danes, and many
other peoples who both would and could help the
confederated Low Countrymen, would not be found
wanting in the hour of need !*

Richard Clough remained in Gresham’s house
at Antwerp to witness the progress of the commo-
tions, and make report thereof to his master. The
preachers, and the priests and friars, eontinued
their uncompromising war; and the lords of the
town appear for some time to have acted as mode-
rators, and to have hanged, with some impartiality,
Protestant rioters and Catholic disturbers of the
peace. On the Friday of one week, a gentleman,
who was drunk at the time of the riot, and five
“rascal people,” were hanged for breaking again
into the cathedral ; and on the Friday of the next
week, a preacher, who, contrary to orders, had per-
sisted in preaching outside of the little town of
Allst, not far from Antwerp, was hanged with four
of his followers. ¢ These things,” Clough says,
“were very ill taken amongst the commons.
There was some doubt that there would be a down-
right split between the aristocracy and the people.
This would have ruined the revolution at once.
“If the nobles do fall in with the king,” wrote
Clough, ¢ then all is lost that they have done; and

* De Bello Belgico.
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the king will have his will. But if the nobles do
hold with the commons, then let the king come
with what power he will, it will be but lost labour.”
He continued to send over to Gresham for the use
of Mr. Secretary (Cecil) maps and charts of the
country, plans of the fortified places, and the con-
troversial pamphlets about polities and religion,
which were now printing in great numbers at An-
twerp and at DBrussels; and, having no money to
send, he recommended Gresham to put Mr. Secre-
tary in remembrance that the parliament was now
sitting, and that some alterations might be made in
the laws which regulated the interest upon money in
England, saying, that, if this were done, he was
sure that plenty of money might be raised in Lon-
don whenever her majesty should have need of it.
The more organized and more moderate portion
of the Reformers in the Low Countries became
greatly alarmed at the report that Philip I1. was
about to send the Duke of Alva with a powerful
army, to take vengeance for the excesses which had
been committed, to establish the Inquisition, and
overthrow all the old charters and civil liberties of
the country. The reformed church of Antwerp
sent an address to Secretary Cecil, and another
to Sir Thomas Gresham, imploring them to use
their good offices with her majesty the Queen, and
with the other princes and lords of the Protestant
kingdom of England, in favour of the suffering
church in the Low Countries. These deputies of
the Reformed church of Antwerp condemned and
disclaimed all participation in the violent and evil
deeds which had been done by a few men who
pretended to belong to their body; and they ex-
pressed the hope that Elizabeth would intercede in
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their behalf, and prevent the ruin with which the
whole of their country was threatened by the King
of Spain.

Their tone was as humble as it well could be.
Cecil was still cautious as to committing his royal
mistress openly. Shortly after receiving the memo-.
rials, he dispatched Gresham to Antwerp to attend .
to various affairs, and to sound the Prince of
Orange and Count Horn. Gresham reached the
distracted city at the beginning of March, 1567. .
The panic continued great. One of the chief of:
the congregation, not quite satisfied with Cecil’s.
letter, asked Gresham to tell him in confidence
whether, if he and other respectable Protestants,
his friends, emigrated into ISngland, they would
be allowed to live there in quietness and safety ? .
Gresham answered with a very decided ¢ Yes,”
_and told him that many had already gone over to

England for religion. In reporting this matter to
Cecil, Gresham told him with much glee, that if
the Protestant faith were not secured there, the.
greater part of the city of Antwerp would fly to
England.  Something like this happened before
long, and as many of these emigrants carried large
capitals, or some useful industry with them, Eng-
land benefited greatly by their skill, and would
have derived still more extensive advantages from
it, but for the jealousies of the English traders and
manufacturers, and the blundering public economy
of those ages. Gresham had *“very great dis-
course”’ with the Prince of Orange and Count
Horn, who were in close communication with
Count Egmont, and who united their voices in ap-
plauding ¢ the wise and grave government of
Queen Klizabeth,” Ile tells us that the Duchess of
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Parma caused him to be watched—a measure not
very surprising in that regent. Ile told Cecil that
there were above forty thousand Protestants in
the city of Antwerp alone, who would die rather
than that the word of God should be put to silence.
A few days after Gresham’s arrival in that city,
the Protestants collected about 1200 fighting men
in the immediate neighbourhood. 'These soldiers
began to break open all the Catholic churches, and
to demolish the pictures and statues which had
escaped the previous destructions: their captains
or chief commanders went daily into Antwerp to
confer with the Prince of Orange.* The Regent
sent 1000 foot and 200 horse to attack this force ;
and on the 15th of March a battle was fought
close to the town, of which Gresham and his friend,
Thomas Churchyard, were spectators. The Pro-
testants, being volunteers or raw soldiers, were
beaten by the Regent’s veterans, and after they
had lost about 100 men they took refuge in a
strong church. The Regent’s people lost fifty
men, and fearing that a sally would be made upon
them from the populous city, they retreated, in-
stead of staying to attack the church. Twenty
thousand people put themselves under arms within
the city while the fight was in progress, and barri-
caded the streets, and collected cannons and cul-
verins, and threatened to make a sortie. But all
these armed hosts were not of one mind either in
religion or in polities, and the Prince of Orange
had deemed it expedient to keep the gates of the
town closed, and prohibit any sally. I‘or this the
prince ran a very narrow chance of being massacred
near one of the city gates by one of the armed

* Letter from Gresham to Cecil.
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multitudes, who were driven furious by hearing the
shouts and shrieks of their defeated friends outside :
the city walls. From his conduect on this day, it
appears that the silent and cautious Prince of"
Orange, having still some misgivings, was desirous |
of making it appear to King Philip that he was:
carried away by an irresistible torrent, and acted
under compulsion, and for the preservation of his
own life, the lives of his family and friends, and of
all the nobles and gentlemen, who certainly were
all menaced by the populace. The mob set up a

cry that the prince and the lords had betrayed

them ; and they surrounded the town-house, wherein

the lords were assembled, with their armed bands,

and their cannons and culverins, and threatened to

batter down the house over their lordships’ heads,

and kill them all, if they did not give up that im-

portant building, and the gates of the city to the

people. After sundry communications between the

Prince of Orange and his party of noblemen, and

the commons, it was agreed that the burghers

should have the keeping of the keys of the town;

and that they should preach and live according to

their own conscience. By this time it was five

o’clock in the afternoon, and far too late to make a

sortie in pursuit of the Regent’s soldiers, who had

begun their retreat about the hour of noon. DBut

upon the instant there were chosen twelve captains

for the Protestants, and two generals to overlook

the twelve captains. One of the generals thus

chosen was the sworn servant and fast friend of
Count Egmont; he was, besides, a man of large

landed prﬂperty, and an officer well experienced in

war.”™

* Gresham’s Letters to Cecil.
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Blood had been shed before in affrays and riots,
but this was the first regular battle between the in-
surgents and the troops of King Philip. Although
he was exposed to no real danger, and was treated
with much consideration and kindness by all par-
ties within the city, by the people when at the
height of their fury, as well as by the prince and
lords, the affair seems to have made a very alarming
and lasting impression upon the mind of Gresham.
His friend or acquaintance and countryman, T'homas
Churchyard, did not get so quietly through the
turmoil, for Churchyard was known to the people
at Antwerp as a veteran soldier who had ‘‘served
in the Emperor’s days,” and who was therefore
very capable of being a good leader. All the na-
tions, with the exception of the IEnglish, had re-
ceived orders early in the morning “ to be in their
armour and weapons.” The English were only
instructed to keep within the English house. Dut
when the battle was toward, and the people of the
town wanted to break out of the town, they burst
open the lodging of Thomas Churchyard, and
called him forth, and said that he should be their
leader. ¢ Which thing,” saith our fighting country-
man, ‘“ I refused as far as I durst, alleging I was
ignorant of such affairs ; and whereupon they bent
their pikes on me in a great fury. I, beholding the
extremity I was in, gave them my faith; and so
came into the street among the rest of their com-
pany, where I was so received, as few would have
believed the manner thereof, but such as had seen
it.”* Such is Churchyard’s own account of his
being in arms among the people of Antwerp ; and

* T.Churchyard. A Lamentable and Pitiful Description

of the Woful Wars in Flanders. 4to. 1578.
H
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the declaration is signed by Sir Thomas Gresham,
as a witness to the truth thereof. The care taken
to have this official signature shows that Church-
yard, as well as the other Englishmen in Antwerp,
knew that it did not suit Queen Elizabeth’s present
purpose and policy to have it bruited that one of
her subjects had taken the command of the fiery
reformers, and was at the head of those who would
have marched out against the troops of the king of
Spain. But from what we know of Churchyard’s
life, character, and adventures, we are disposed to
doubt whether, in his love of fighting, and his zeal
for the reformed faith, and from force of habit, he
would not have quitted his lodging and joined the
men of Antwerp without any compulsion on their
part. We are the more confirmed in this hypo-
thesis, from what Churchyard himself tells us in
one of the books which he published at a later
date, when Queen Elizabeth was at open war with
Philip II., and when there was no longer the ne-
cessity of concealing the succour she gave and had
given to his revolted subjects in the Low Countries.
In this curious little book Master Thomas speaks
out, and evidently takes pride in the military skill
'm{l prowess he displayed on this occasion at An-
twerp. He says that the people of Antwerp ¢ see-
ing the government refuse them everything, called
courage to themselves, and so resolved to make a
stranger their captain, they being intermixed with
many valiant soldiers, that came from the siege
of Valenciennes. So they came suddenly to Cap-
tain Churchyard’s lodging, and burst open his
door, commanding him in all haste to come out,
and take the charge of those that would fight for
the Gospel, who attended his coming well armed in
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the streets. Churchyard told them he would serve
among them, but was unable to govern a multi-
tude. Whereat they bent their pikes on him, and
threatened to kill him if he did refuse their loving
offer. IIe thereupon gave his promise to obey, and
so without any armour came into the street, where
was raised such a shout and noise of people, and so
many caps flung up, that it was a wonder to hear
and see it! Ile presently guessed their number
was great, and their quarrel good; so in a few
words he desired such as would not fight to depart
to their wives and children : whereat all the people
cried ‘Forward! forward! We will follow
gan Laii oo

e was a very curious character, being a poet
as well as a soldier, or ‘ oneequally addicted to
arts and arms.” He was born in the town of
Shrewsbury, somewhere about the year 1516. He
tells us in Ihvme that he was born of a wealthy
family, and to an estate—

““ So born I was to house and land by right,
But in a bag to court I brought the same,”

Or, as he has it in another of his poems—

“ From noble stock by true descent,
Unworthy I, my race doth rise :
Good land T had, but not content,
Desire to climb did blind mine eyes,

* A True Discourse Historical of the Succeeding Gover-
nors in the Netherlands, and the Civil Wars there, begun in
the year 1565, with the Memorable Services of our Honour-
able English Gene.'n als, Captains, and Soldiers, &e. London,
1602, :

o

I
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My home and soil I set at nought,

My mind was bent to wander still.

To court I came, and then I thought
To have both world and wealth at will
This reckoning rash I made in haste;

Mine host was absent, you must see.”
E

‘> IHaving emptied his money-bag at court, he took
to campaigning. He served in the Scotch wars
under that renowned captain, Sir William Drury,
was afterwards present at the siege of Leith, and
after many adventures which he has related in
various of his numerous works, he returned from
Scotland into England, poorer and more thread-
bare than he was before he crossed the Tweed. He
stayed not long in his own country.

“ Well yet my mind could never rest at home,
My shoes were made of running leather, sure.”t

- Going over to the Continent, he served several
German princes in the wars they were waging for
Protestantism with the Emperor Charles V. It is
not very certain that he was always constant to
one side, which soldiers of fortune rarely were ; but
if he had any touch of the calculating Dugald
Dalgetty spirit, he certainly did not thrive by it.
Ie tells us that he was unlucky abroad as well as
at home, in war as at court, and that he got nothing
except some reputation.

‘“ Full thirty years both court and war I fried,
And still I sought acquaintance with the best,
And served the State, and did such hap abide
As might befall : and fortune sent the rest.
When drum did sound, I was a soldier prest

* A Pirate’s Tragedy.
t A Tragical Discourse of the Unhappy Man’s Life.
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To sea or land, as princes’ quarrels stood ;
And for the same full oft I lost my blood.

But God he .kn-::-w's, my‘gain was small I ween,
For though I did my credit still increase,
I got no wealth by war, ne yet by peace !”’*

On the 19th of March, only six days after the
Antwerp battle, Sir Thomas Gresham took his
hurried and last departure from Antwerp. It
appears that he never more returned to any part_of
the Low Countries. His occupation was gone : the
land of commerce and banking became a camp, or
one vast battle-field ; and in this state it continued
for nearly a quarter of a century. Part of the
trade passed over to Ingland, and part took refuge
in the lands of bogs and marshes, and behind the
dykes and canals of Holland, where a persevering
people, cordially aided by KElizabeth, and assisted
by other Protestant princes, succeeded in with-
standing all the power that Spain could send
against them, and in establishing' the reformed faith
and a national liberty, when Flanders and the other
Belgic provinces were subdued by the Spaniards
and restored to the communion of the church of
Rome. This war in the Low Countries long pre-
vented Philip II. from turning his arms against
England ; and when he declared war against Eli-
zabeth his resources were so exhausted by his
seemingly interminable contest with the Dutch,
that he could only make one great effort, and when
his grand Armada had been destroyed or scattered
by the heroic sailors of England, or by the storms

* A Tragical Discourse of the Unhappy Man’s Life. For
an account of Churchyard’s Writings, see Appendix.
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and tempests of Heaven, he could never again
make any serious attempt against us, but was
obliged to act on the defensive, being condemned
to the bitter humiliation of seeing his coasts swept
and his ports destroyed by our Drakes and Caven-
dishes, and his galleons, loaded with the treasures
of Mexico and Peru, constantly intercepted and
taken by our English cruisers. The captains of
her war-ships and privateers then became Eliza-
beth’s bankers; they did their business more ex-
peditiously than Gresham had been accustomed to
do his; they never troubled their heads about
bonds and exchanges, and great were the sums
they took up in bullion and in specie for her majesty
and for themselves.

Gresham had taken his last farewell of Antwerp
and the Low Countries just in time. He had not
been gone many weeks ere blood began to flow in
torrents. In the month of August the malicious,
stern, and merciless duke of Alva arrived at Brus-
sels with a veteran army of 20,000 men, having
other troops ready at his call, in Spain, Sicily,
Naples, and Lombardy. DBy a series of treache-
rous acts he got into his power the persons of
Counts Egmont and Horn, and of many other
noblemen and gentlemen, who either were proved
Protestants and patriots, or were suspected of fa-
vouring the popular cause and the reformed reli-
gion. These state prisoners were hurried away to
the castle of Ghent, there, as Alva told them, to
abide the pleasure of King Philip. The people of
Antwerp now flocked over by thousands into Eng-
land, carrying with them their moveable property,
their money, their useful arts, and their edifying
example of industry. Richard Clough, who re-
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mained behind some short time to wind up Gre-
sham’s affairs, wrote rather quaintly, ¢ And where
they go, the great quantity of saltpetre and brimastone
will follow.” This was in allusion to the manufacture
of gunpowder, which Klizabeth had long wanted to
establish in her own dominions, with the perfection
in which the people of Antwerp practised it. But
better commodities than saltpetre and brimstone
followed the Low Country emigrants, who then
best knew how to use ‘them, and a new era was
begun in the industrial and commercial history of
this island. The duke of Alva, with his Spanish
soldiers and priests and monks, took possession of
Antwerp, and girded it roundabout with mighty
bulwarks and forts; but from that moment the
trade of the place was no more. At the end of
this year (1567) the mild and merciful regent, the
duchess of Parma, quitted Brussels for Italy, and
the duke of Alva was thus left sole governor.of the
country. Forthwith Alva erected and put in mo-
tion a bloody state tribunal, which heard evidence
only on one side, and gave sentence without appeal.
The duke was backed not only by the Spaniards,
but also by nearly all the Catholics of the country,
who seem to have considered that a too signal and
sanguinary vengeance could not be taken for the
insults offered to the churches and priests, and the
outrages committed on the most sacred objects of
their religion and superstition. The recollection of
the deeds which had been done in the church of
our Lady at Antwerp steeled many a heart which
was not cruel by nature, and which probably was
cruel only in this. Seventeen heads had rolled on
the scaffold very soon after Alva’s first coming ;
but his state tribunal now selected more illustrious

-
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victims. On the 1st and 2nd days of June (1568),
twenty-two noblemen and gentlemen were behead-
ed at Brussels; and on the 5th of June, the Counts
Egmont and Horn were brought from the castle of
Ghent, and made to aseend the same bloody scaf-
fold at Brussels. Egmont suffered first, and he died
with courage, after having written a dignified letter
to the king, and a tender letter to his beloved wife
to take his last farewell of her and his numerous
family. His friend Horn was executed immedi-
ately after him. The estates of both were declared
by the tribunal to be confiscated to the king, by
their guilt and treason. But this blood-shedding
did irreparable harm and no good to the cause of
Philip. It acted like oil poured upon flames; and
the intense heat and animosity of the revolution
became an unquenchable fire. Although Brussels
was crowded with troops and papists, many of the
spectators of the execution rushed to the scaftold, and
dipped their handkerchiefs in the blood of the two
illustrious martyrs ; and these blood-stained hand-
kerchiefs were treasured as the Catholics treasured
the relics of saints ; but they were kept also as pledges
and incentives to vengeance. Though high in birth
and endowments, and eminently popular, Egmont
and Horn were as nothing in a revolution, com-
pared with the cool, imperturbable, impenetrable,
and most politic prince of Orange ; and ¢ Silence ”
was not to be entrapped by any stratagem or de-
vice. The duke of Alva had tried to get him into
his power, as he had done his two friends; but the
prince had courteously replied that he would con-
sider of his invitation to court ; and instead of going,
he collected together a good Protestant army, at
the head of which he now was. It is said, that
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when the Cardinal Granville, who had provoked or
been present at the beginning of these troubles in
the Low Countries, but who had retired to Rome,
first heard of the cunning seizure of Egmont and
Horn, and the other nobles and gentlemen, he said
to the bringer of the news, ¢ Has the duke taken
¢ Silence?’ ” and that upon the messenger replying
in the negative, he exclaimed, ‘* Nay, then, if that
fish hath escaped the net, the duke of Alva’s draught
is nothing worth !”* Whether the cardinal said
these words or said them not, history records that
the silent prince of Orange lived to make the duke
of Alva, and his master King Philip, feel and bit-
terly rue the truth that was in the sentence.

* History of the House of Orange, &c., by Richard Bur-
ton. We believe that this is one of the many clever books
which Defoe wrote and published under a fictitious name.
There were few men living then, and there are not many
living now, that could write so clever and spirited an epitome
of a great and very complicated history.

H 3
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CHAPTER VIII.

THE LADY MARY GREY.

Avrrnovcn barred out from Antwerp and the Low
Countries, Gresham ceased neither to do business
on his own account as a merchant adventurer, nor
to act as agent for Queen Elizabeth. It was only
the scene of his occupations and services that was
changed, and he soon realised the vision of his
father, and the hint of his chief clerk or agent,
Richard Clough, that loans might be raised for
government in the city of London quite as well as
at Antwerp. Nothing was wanting to this desirable
end but fair dealing on the part of those who bor-
rowed, which was sure to be followed by confidence
and readiness on the part of those who lent. In
good part our kings and queens had been obliged
to raise their loans in foreign countries, because
their own subjects, living under their arbitrary
rule, and having slight pmtectiﬁn either in courts
of law or in parliament itself against the Tudor
despotism, were afraid to trust them, and thus always
pleaded poverty when they made application in the
city. A better state of things was now coming,
and was rendered imperatively necessary by the
closing of the foreign loan market; but the im-
provement was at first gradual and slow, and the
first loans raised in London by Gresham for liza-
beth had very much the appearance and real cha-
racter of forced loans—the worst and most dan-
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gerous resources of despotism, which are sure in
the end to overthrow every government that per-
severes in them.

In the year 1570 Elizabeth got a subsidy to be
levied throughout England, but it produced no
more than 35,477.. 6s. 8d. As more money was
indispensable, Gresham was empowered to negoti-
ate with the merchant-adventurers of ILondon.
This was no easy matter, for Elizabeth, like her
predecessors, had done a good deal to scare away
eredit and confidence. Whenever she had been in
want of a small sum of money, she had been aec-
customed to desire or command some one of the
twelve city companies to furnish it; and it does
not appear that, in these cases, she ever spoke either
of interest or of security. On one occasion slre re-
quired the worshipful Company of Ironmongers to
send her 60/., and if they were unprovided they
were to borrow it for her immediately, and pay the
interest themselves. [Her father, Henry V1II., had
even obliged this company to sell their plate in
order to satisfy his rapacious demands.] The
merchant-adventurers were thrown into consterna-
tion when Gresham proposed to them this great
loan for such an imperious and unserupulous bor-
rower as the queen had hitherto been. To many
of them money was owing already, and when re-
payment could not be obtained for small sums, it
seemed hopeless to expect it for large ones. At
last the merchants referred the matter to a common
hall, where the loan was refused by a show of hands.
Similar demands had been refused in the city in
precisely the same manner, in the days of Cardinal
Wolsey ; but that was before Henry VIII. had
begun to show the tiger part of his nature, and to
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make his subjects tremble at his growl ; and the
magnificent, and not unamiable or unpopular minis-
ter-cardinal generally succeeded in cajoling the
citizens into compliance, and in getting, if not all,
a part of the money for the king. Gresham was
now obliged to do what Wolsey had done—to flatter
some, and to terrify others of the merchant-adven-
turers with the queen’s awful displeasure; but it
should appear that he also held out to them a cer-
tain prospect of repayment, with interest for their
money. At first he met their refusal by a show
of great surprise and indignation. Next, he
caused the queen’s council to write a letter express-
ing their surprise and displeasure. Then, while
the letter was working its effect, he went quietly,
and in a conciliatory tone, to the merchants whom
he had marked out for express favour, and he soon
obtained some 21,000/. for six months, to bear
interest at the rate of 10 per cent. per annum.
The loan had to be renewed at the expiration of
the six months ; but in the meanwhile the merchants
had become convinced that principal and interest
were safe in the royal hands, and that Gresham
had understood their interests, and the interests of
the sovereign, better than either party had under-
stood them for themselves. From this time we
hear no more of foreign loans.™

It appears, however, from Gresham’s own cor-
respondence with Cecil (now Lord Burleigh, and a
more solemn, and at the same time a more crafty -
personage than ever), that he had a world of pains
to keep the court or government punectual in its pay-
ments. He speaks of being daily beset by alder-

@ % ¢ London.” Article on the Old Royal Exchange and its
Founder, vol. ii. p. 286.
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men of the city and others, all praying that they
might not fail of getting their money at the time
fixed. And, in order to encourage the court in the
practice of an entirely new virtue, he tells Burleigh
that if her majesty will be but punctual, he would
warrant her soon being able to borrow as much as
40,000L., nay, perhaps (mirabile dictu!), even as
much as 50,000/., within the city of London. Both
the queen and her ministers were addicted to hoard-
ing. On one occasion Gresham reminds Burleigh,
that there are 25,000/, or 30,000{. in Spanish mo-
ney lying idle in the I‘ﬂwer and he recommends
that this money should be recmned and issued, “if
it cannot otherwise be holpen (helped).”

Gresham got one per cent. as commission or
brokerage upon all the money he borrowed for the
queen ; and it should appear that he continued to
receive some *“ diet.,” For the times, he had cer-
tainly grown enormously wealthy.

Leaving his two great London edifices, the Ex-
change and Gresham House, for another chapter,
we may devote a few pages to his country residences,
and to some incidents of his private life. Gresham
had no fewer than four or five stately mansions in
* the county of Norfolk ; but of these his favourite
and chief residence was Intwood Ilouse, or, as he
always calls it, his poor house at Intwood. Besides
these, he had, in his latter years a fine seat
(Osterley) in the county of Middlesex, not far from
Brentford, a magnificent old place (Mayfield) in
Sussex, and apparently one or two houses in other
parts of the kingdom in which he occasionally re-
sided.

Osterley Park (now the property of the countess
of Jersey) came into the possession of our splendid
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merchant betore the year 1562. It isbelieved that
he knocked down an old house and built a new one
upon the site. Norden, who wrote in 1593, de-
scribes Osterley House as ¢“ a fair and stately build-
ing of brick,” and the park as being extensive, and
“¢ garnished with many fair ponds, which afforded
not only fish and fowl and swans, and other water-
fowl, but also great use for mills, as paper-mills,
oil-mills, and corn-mills.” Norden adds that there
was also ¢“ a very fair heronry, for the increase and
preservation whereof sundry allurements were de-
vised and set up.” This mention of paper-mills
will claim the attention of all lovers of books.
We had been accustomed to import our paper
chiefly from the Low Countries. If weare to be-
lieve his friend or retainer, Thomas Churchyard,
Gresham was one of the earliest, if not the very
first that established a paper-mill in England.
The poor soldier-poet saith—

¢Glass was at firsl as strange to make or view

As paper now that iz devised anew,

Of new I mean in England ; save one man

That hath great wealth, and might much treasure spare,
Who with some charge a paper-mill began ;

And after built a stately work most rare—

The Royal Exchange.*””

It has been queried whether the poet, in speaking
of his patron as one that had much treasure to
spare, did not intend to give a hint that he (the
poet) was very poor.T Dutas Churchyard appears
to have done a good deal of work of various kinds

Churchyard. A Description and Discourse of Paper, &c.
I London.
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for Gresham, it is to be hoped that he got some pay
for it (though possibly he was not paid quite so
liberally for his verses as the flying Dutchman was
paid by the city of London for cutting capers on
the top of St. Paul’s. 'The best poetry, in those
days, did not fetch much, and poor Churchyard’s
was none of the best). But rhymer or poet, bad or
of the best then to be found, Sir Thomas Gresham
employed Thomas Churchy ard to write for him a
play and a pageant, to be produced and represented
upon the happy and glorious occasion of a visit paid
him at Osterley IHouse by Queen E]lza.beth, in.
the year 1570. Quaint old Fuller, the worthy re-
corder of our Worthies, tells]a pleasant and well- -
known story connected with this visit of the queen
to Osterley House :—

¢ Her majesty found fault with the court of the
house, as too great, affirming that it would appear
more handsome if divided with a wall in the middle.
What doth Sir Thomas, but, in the night-time,
send for workmen to London (money commands all
things), who so speedily and silently apply their
business, that the next morning discovered that
court double, which the night had left single be-
fore. It is questionable whether the queen, next
day, was more contented with the conformity to her
fancy, or more pleased with the surprise and sudden-
performance thereof: whilst her courtiers disported
themselves with their several expressions; some
avowing it was no wonder he could so soon change
a building, who could build a Change; others
(reflecting on some known differences in this
knight’s family) affirmed that any house is easier
divided than united.”* It is not .wealth that always

~* Fuller, Worthies, vol, ii, 'We believe Fuller allude
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makes the best temple for the household gods, and
neither wealth ner caution could keep sorrow and
sickness and fears out of this splendid mansion. In
the year 1570 one of Gresham’s servants fell sick of
the plague in Osterley House ; upon which the knight
and his family fled in great dismay into Sussex.
Mayfield Place in Sussex had been for eentu-
ries a favourite residence of the Catholic archbi-
shops of Canterbury. It is notascertained at what
period, or in what manner (whether by purchase
or by grant from the crown), Gresham became the
owner of it. The ruins which yet remain show
what must have been the extent and magnificence of
the building. It was Gresham’s chief seat, and the
goods and chattels belonging to it were estimated
by Gresham himself at 7553/ 10s. 8d.—an enor-
mous sum for those days.* IHere, too, the wealthy
knight had the honour of entertaining the queen.
In the year 1573, when making one of her many
progresses, Elizabeth went out of Kent into Sussex

to frequent differences or quarrels between Gresham and his
wife, who appears to have been but a shrew. There is a
bathos in everything if one would find it out. Mr. Bur-
gon has discovered, from certain minutes in the Privy Council
books of the period, that some of Gresham’s park-paling at
Osterley was burned while the queen was there; that her
majesty being very much offended, commanded that the
offenders should be searched out and punished ; and that
shortly after four individuals were committed to the Mar-
shalsea prison, charged with the offence. The same indus-
trious Investigator has further discovered that Gresham’s
great enclosure at Osterley was very unpopular, and that
complaints were laid against him by sundry poor men for
having enclosed certain common ground to the prejudice of
the poor.

* A MS. Journal of Sir Thomas Gresham, as quoted by
Ward in his Lives of Gresham, the Gresham Professors, &c.
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and stayed a few days at Mayfield. A room in the
ruined house is shown to this day as ¢ the queen’s
chamber.” In meost of his places Gresham sought
to unite pleasure and profit. At Osterley he had
oil-mills, corn-mills, and a paper-mill, in his park ;
at Mayfield he had iron-works, with a forge and a
furnace for melting iron. It is possible that it was
here he set up that manufacture of knives and other
hardware which led to the prohibition of the ware
of the Low Countries, and to the displeasure and
retaliation of the Brussels government.

All Gresham’s houses appear to have been richly
furnished. At Westacre, one of his Norfolk man-
sions, the eflects were valued at 1655/ 1ls. DBy
an inventory of the goods at his house in Bishops-
gate Street, taken after his decease, they are said
to have amounted to 1127/. 15s. 8d.*

Numerous and very varied were the services
which Gresham had performed for his royal mis-
tress. At one time Elizabeth made a keeper or
jailer of him. The unfortunate Lady Jane Grey
left two sisters behind her in the world, which was
truly to them a world of woe. The elder of these
two young ladies, the Lady Catherine Grey, was
contracted in marriage to Lord Herbert, son of the
Earl of Pembroke, on the same black day on which
her sister Lady Jane was united to Lord Guildford
Dudley. On the accession of Queen Mary, the
- time-serving, politic father of the young bride-
groom procured a divorce and dissolution of her
marriage, which had never been consummated.
From this time, in the year 1554, down to the year
1660 (the second year of the reign of Elizabeth),

* Ward.
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the Lady Catherine had lived in quiet obscurity ;
but in the course of 1660 it was discovered at court
that she had formed a clandestine marriage with
the Earl of Hertford, son of the late Lord Pro-
tector, the Duke of Somerset.* The lady was not
the queen’s ward, nor was she the ward of any one
else; and, ha,unw attained to her majority, there
was nnthmn* in the law of the land, any more than
in the law of God, to forbid this marriage. DBut
the queen mnsidered that there were reasons of
state that forbade it, and that the union of a mem-
ber of a family which had claimed the crown by
right of descent, with a considerable nobleman,
the son of a man who had so recently governed the
state with the authority of a king, might lead to
plots and insurrections, or otherwise prove pl‘Ejl.l-
dicial to her own peace and interests. Itlizabeth’s
wrath at the discovery of the marriage was not
allayed by her learning, immediately after, that the
young lady was pregnant. By a stretch of autho-
rity familiar to the Tudors, she sent the Lady
Catherine a close prisoner to the Tower, and then
summoned her husband, Hertford, who was absent
in France, to answer for his conduct. The earl
travelled home as fast as he could ; and instead of
denying the marriage and casting dishonour on
the noble lady, as many advised him to do in order
to gratify the queen and save himself from her
wrath, he boldly avowed the marriage, and main-
tained that it had been legally performed, and was
‘suitable to the birth and condition of both con-

* Hertford was the eldest son of Somerset by his second
wife. He had been restored to his father’s title of Earl of

Hertford a few months after the accession of Queen Eliza-
beth.
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tracting parties. He also was committed to the
Tower, and Elizabeth appointed a special commis-
sion, from which there was to be no appeal, to in-
quire into the matter, An early day was then
named for the earl’s appearing before this arbitrary,
and, in fact, illegal commission; and as Lord
Hertford could not produce the witnesses to the
nuptials within the time limited, or (what was
equally probable) as the witnesses feared the wrath
of the queen and purposely kept away, the com-
merce between him and his wife was declaved
unlawful, and their posterity illegitimate. The
unfortunate Lady Catherine gave birth to a child
not long after her committal to the Tower; and,
in spite of the arbitrary decision of the queen and
her special commission, and the high ecclesiastical
dignity of some of the commissioners, the people
considered the infant as the fruit of lawful and
honourable marriage, as it most undoubtedly was.*
As they lay both in the Tower, Warner, the lieu-
tenant, probably thinking that it was opposing the
laws of God and nature to keep man and wife
asunder, permitted them to meet in secret. A
second child was born, to produce aggravated rage
on the part of the queen. The Earl of Hertford
was sentenced in the unlawful and detestable Star-
chamber to pay a fine of 15,000/., for seducing (as
‘the sentence said) a female of the blood royal, and
for breaking his prison to renew his heinous offence.
The poor lieutenant, Warner, lost his place, and
the unhappy Lady Catherine was kept in the Tower,
or in private custody, till death liberated her from the
suspicious tyranny of her relative Elizabeth, in the

* One of the commissioners was Parker, the new arch-
bishop of Canterbury. Another was Bishop Grindal.
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beginning of the year 1567. It was not the practice
of our great virgin-queen to allow her state prisoners
many luxuries or comforts. IHowever exalted their
rank, and whether in the Tower or in the private
keeping of some of the queen’s most trusty servants,
these vietims seem one and all to have been left in
a condition of sordid misery, unless their friends
could smuggle in some comforts, or their keepers
should chance to take compassion upon them.
When Lady Catherine Grey, or, as we ought rather
to call her, the Countess of Hertford, had been
lying about a year and a half in the Tower, her
uncle, the Lord George Grey, wrote an affecting
and unusually bold letter in her behalf to Secre-
tary Cecil. His lordship says, ¢ It is a great while,
methinketh, cousin Cecil, since 1 sent unto you in
my niece’s behalf, albeit I know (opportunity so
serving) you are not unmindful of her miserable
and comfortless estate. And who, wanting the
prince’s favour, may count himself to live in any
realm ? and because this time of all others hath been
counted a time of merey and forgiveness, I cannot
but recommend her woful life unto you. In faith,
I would I were the queen’s confessor this Lent,
that I might join her in penance to forgive and
forget ; or otherwise able to step into the pulpit,
to tell her highness that God will not forgive her,
unless she freely forgive all the world.”* But
‘“ the reason of state” always rendered Elizabeth
inaccessible to pity. For attempting legally to
record the proofs of his children’s legitimacy, the
Earl of Hertford was afterwards’ imprisoned, with-
out law or reason—except that awful reason of

* Sir Henry Ellis. Original Letters illustrative of Eng-
lish History, &e. From autographs in the British Museum.
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state—for nine whole years. By following up this
same reason of state the Turkish sultans were wont
to keep all the princes of the blood immured for
life in the seraglio, and to strangle them whenever
they were troublesome, or whenever it was sus-
pected that they might, by some possibility, be
troublesome. The difference between this Turkish
practice and the practice of Queen Elizabeth is not
S0 very great.

In the summer of 1565, when the Lady Cathe-
rine had been, after many petitions, entrusted to
the custody of her kind uncle the Lord George
Grey, and had been sent down to his castle at
Pyrgo; but when her beloved husband the Earl of
Hertford, in spite of the touching petitions and
appeals to the queen of his widowed mother, the
Duchess of Somerset, was lying in close prison,
the Lady Mary Grey, the other sister of the Lady
Jane, and younger sister to the Lady Catherine,
fell into cruel trouble. In her early youth the
Lady Mary had been betrothed to Arthur, Lord
Grey of Wilton ; but that match had been broken
off, and, warned by the fate of her sister Catherine,
she seems to have shrunk from the danger of ex-
citing the queen’s wrath by allying herself with
any man of rank, name, and influence. DPossibly
she thought that an inferior match with a com-
moner of low degree (which might render ridicu-
lous the notion of her progeny succeeding to the
throne) would be allowed to pass by the queen
without danger and persecution. The Lady Mary,
like her sister Catherine before her, was living in
or about the Court, and, although of the ¢right
royal blood of England,” she may have been con-
sidered and treated as a mere maid of honour. In
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person she was very delicate and diminutive ; it is
even hinted that she was deformed. There was
then living in the Court, in the office of ¢ sergeant-
porter,” or *‘ gentleman-porter of the queen’s
household, and master of the revels at Court,” a
person named Thomas Keys. Ile was a handsome
man, but of gigantic stature, more than double
the age of the lady, and a widower, and the father
of several children. Ile had been trusted by the
court and government in several important matters,
and appears to have acquitted himself with great
credit. Upon this gentleman the Lady Mary fixed
her affection. Quaint old Fuller says, ¢ Frighted
by the infelicity of her two elder sisters, Jane
and Catherine, she forgot her honour to remember
her safety ; and married one whom she could love,
and none need fear.”

This wedding took place, some time in the month
of August (1565), at about nine o’clock at night,
in the sergeant-porter’s chamber, by the water-
gate at Westminster ; and there were present at
it, besides the clergyman, the sergeant’s brother,
Mr. Edward Keys, Mr. Cheyny’s man, Master
Martin Cawsley, dwelling at Cambridge, and Mis.
Goldwell, the servant of the Lady Howard.* If
secrecy was intended, it was not found possible.
The affair was presently bruited everywhere.t On
the 21st of August, Secretary Cecil wrote from
Windsor to Sir Thomas Smith, ¢ Here is an un-
happy chance and monstrous. The sergeant-porter
being the biggest gentleman in this court, hath
married secretly the Lady Mary Grey, the least of |

* Domestic Correspondence in State Paper Cflice, as quoted
by J. W. Burgon.
+ Sce the Ellis Letters.
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all the court. They are committed to several
[separate] prisons. The offence is very great.
And so now being hasted by the French ambas-
sador, I end.”* Lord Howard wrote as if the mar-
riage would ruin queen and kingdom. There were
searching examinations of the unlucky couple be-
fore the Privy Council, the members of which
appear to have been animated by the same spirit
as the Santa Hermandad, or Inquisition of Ma-
drid. The marriage was clearly proved, and it was
also proved that poor Lady Mary, in property and
expectations, had only some 100/ a-year!y It
does not appear to have been discovered to what
place of confinement the Lady Mary was com-
mitted in the first instance. Iler gigantic hushand
was sent to the Fleet prison, and was there baxr-
barously treated. Iis mind apparently was not
so big as his body ; and instead of acting as Lady
Catherine’s husband the Earl of Hertford had done,
be very soon offered to renounce the lady and con-
sent to the nullification of their marriage. But
Bishop Grindal, who had a great deal to do with
the business, and the keeping poor Thomas Keys
in the Fleet, gave it as his opinion that such re-
nunciation would not be available in law. The
Fleet prison had not improved since the year 1542,
when the gallant and poetical Earl of Surrey, an
inmate of it, deseribed it as ‘“a noisome place,”
with a pestilent atmosphere. The sergeant-porter
suffered severely from this confinement, and wrote
the most piteous letters to the lords of the council
to obtain his enlargement and to suffer him to

* Sir Henry Ellis. Original Letters, &e.
+ Domestic Correspordence in State Paper Office, as
quoted by J. W. Burgon.



176 LIFE OF GRESHAM.

go and live in the country on his parole. In one
of these letters, written very nearly a year after
his committal, and dated from ¢ This miserable
place the I'leet,” he reminds their lordships of his
past confidential services; he states that he had
served at court for two and twenty years, that he
had expected to obtain some higher employment,
and that his health is breaking from want of liberty
to exercise his body. A short time after Keys had
written this letter, Bishop Grindal, who says he
has ¢ still stayed him in the Fleet,” writes to Ceeil
that Keys was suffering very severely. The bishop
says * His body being such, as ye know it to be,
his continuance in the Fleet will put him to great
adventures.”* From this it should appear that the
sergeant-porter was very fat as well as very tall.
His case became worse instead of better, for a new
warden was appointed to the Fleet prison; and
this official debarred Keys the little air and exer-
cise he had previously enjoyed within the prison,
shutting him up for nine months in his close cell.{"
At the end of two years he was still lying in that

* Domestic Correspondence in State Paper Office, as quoted
by J. W. Burgon. :

t The new warden of the Fleet, in fact, appears to have
been a monster of spite and cruelty. The queen had allowed
poor Keys to eat meat in prison; butfthe warden gave orders
that none should be cooked for him. The prisoner had been
allowed a little bow to refresh himself by shooting at birds
out of his window: the warden prohibited this solace and
exercise. Every indignity was put upon the lawful husband
of the grand-daughter of King Henry the Seventh. He says,
that on one occasion some beef was given to him which
had fallen into some poison prepared to kill a mangy dog ; and
that he was obliged to send for a celebrated physician, whose
attendance cost him 6s. 84. See the passages of Keys' very
curious letters, as given by Mr. Burgon.
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noisome prison, and writing the most imploring,
penitential, and pious letters to Secretary Cecil,
and to that very upright and pious personage the
queen’s favourite, the Farl of Leicester, who was
_rather more than suspected of having murdered his
young wife at Cumnor Hall. Poor XKeys com-
plains that his poor innocent children are suffering
with him; and that the expenses of living in the
Fleet are excessive. Whether he died there or
in another place has not been shown.

The close confinement (in gaol) of his wife, the
little Lady Mary, was not of long continuance.
A few weeks after her committal to prison, she
was taken out, and given over to the keeping of
William Hawtrey, Ksq., a wealthy gentleman who
resided at the Chequers, a pleasant seat in Buck-
inghamshire, at the foot of the Chiltern hills. As
money was saved thereby, it became a common
practice with Elizabeth thus to quarter her state
prisoners upon her nobles and rich gentry, they be-
ing made answerable in case of any escape. Thus
Mary Queen of Scots herself was quartered suc-
cessively upon several noble English families, who
one and all appear to have heen thus put to great
expense, and to have been bitterly grieved in more
ways than one, by having their houses converted
into prisons and themselves into gaolers.® Wil-
liam Hawtrey, Esq., was peremptorily summoned
to court, “to take into his charge and custody the
Lady Mary Grey,” who was ‘to remain at his
house without conference with any ; suffering only
one waiting-woman to attend upon her, without
liberty of going abroad.” The queen afterwards

* See Burleigh State Papers, &ec, -
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allowed her a groom as well as a female servant.
From her not unpleasant or unhealthy place ofi
captivity in DBuckinghamshire, the Lady Mary
wrote to court as many, and as penitential and
abject letters as her hapless husband Thomas Keys
indited from the Fleet prison;—and with just as
much success. After passing two years with the
Hawtreys at the Chequers, the Lady Mary, by
command of the queen, was given in charge
to her maternal step-grandmother, the dowagen
Duchess of Suffolk. This high and mighty dame,
who evidently neither liked the charge nor cared
“ much for the poor little victim, set up a piteous
lamentation to “ good Mr. Secretary” about hen
lack of money, and lack of stuffs and furniture.
and about the miserable supply the Lady Mary
brought with her. ¢ Would to God,” says the
duchess, to the great Cecil, *“ you had seen what
stuffit is!. . . . She hath nothing but an old livery
feather-bed, all-to torn and full of patches, with-
out either bolster or counterpane, but two old
pillows, oné longer than the other; an old quilt
of silk, so torn as the cotton of it comes out; sucH
a”little piteous canopy (curtain) of red sarsnet!
as was scant good enough to hang over some secret
stool ; and two little pieces of old hangings, bothl
of them not seven yards broad. Wherefore, I pray
you, heartily consider of this; and if you shall
think it meet, be a means for her, to the queen’s
majesty, that she might have the furniture of one
chamber for herself and her maid: and she and I
will play the good housewives, and make shift witH
her old bed for her man. Also, I would (if X
durst) beg further, some old silver pots to feteH
her drink in; and two little cups to drink in, onel
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for beer, another for wine. A bason and an ewer
I fear were too much; but all these things she
lacks, and it were meet she had; and she hath
nothing in the world. And truly, if I were able
to give it her, she should never trouble her ma-
jesty for it; but lookye, what it shall please her
. majesty to appoint for her, shall be always ready
- to be delivered again, in as good case as by her
wearing of it it shall be left, whensoever it shall
please her majesty to call for it.”* The duchess
describes Lady Mary’s grief and penitence as being
both excessive, and says that she is so sad and so
ashamed of her fault, that she can scarcely get her
to eat anything ;—that in the two days she has
been with her, she has not eaten so much as a
chicken’s leg, and she fears that she will die
of her grief. The old dame tells the starch secre-
tary that she thinks a little comfort would do
good ; but Cecil was not the man to give this
comfort, nor was the sovereign he served, woman
though she was, to be moved by such griefs in one
whose family claims to the erown had been by some
deemed better than her own. The Lady Mary re-
mained with the Duchess of Suffolk until the
month of June, 1569, when she was transferred to
the charge of — Sir THOMAS GrEsmAM. Our
royal merchant was then living in London, in the
vast mansion he had built himself by Bishopsgate
Street; and it appears that the poor, suffering,
helpless, and last sister of Lady Jane Grey, whom
Gresham’s father and uncle had assisted in pro-

* This seems to us the most interesting of all the letters
and papers which the industry and perseverance of Mr. Bar-
gon have brought from the dark and dusty recesses of the
State Paper Office, -

I2



180 LIFE OF GRESHAM.

claiming Queen of England, was living under his
roof a prisoner, when he feasted Queen Elizabeth!
-on that day of his crowning glory, when the Ex-
change was visited and named the ¢ Royal’ by the
Queen. It has been suggested that it is possible
that the two descendants from Henry VII. may
have met on this occasion ; and that the meet-
ing of the haughty queen in all the splendoun
of royalty with the fallen Lady Mary, would
form a subject for a painter.* But such ‘&
picture, painted by a man of feeling and genius.
were too painful to look upon; and the chances
are that the meeting never took place, and that
the poor, forlorn, little Mary Grey was on this
festive occasion locked up in one of Gresham’
garrets.

Our royal merchant did not like the charge anc
trouble, any more than the Buckinghamshire gen-
tleman had liked it; and he raised as great an out-
cry about her want of furniture and stuff as the
old Duchess of Suffolk had done. Many were the
letters he wrote to Cecil and the Earl of Leicester:
begging to be relieved of the charge, and com-
plaining of the great trouble and confinement ii
cost my Lady Gresham, who appears to have been
principal turnkey, and to have thus been abridgec
of her liberty in going abroad and taking her
pleasures. Gresham calls it his wife’s  bondage
and heart-sorrow.” He never wrote more pressing
letters than those which he sent to Leicester on
this subject, imploring him to urge ¢ the removing
of my Lady Mary Grey.” At times he seemu
to have imagined that he had a good excuse

* Burgon.
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Thus, when she had been sixteen months an inmate
of his house, he writes to court that Lady Gre-
sham’s mother is four-score-and-ten years old, and
weak, and not likely to live much longer, and that
his wife would fain ride into Norfolk to see her.
On another occasion he and his wife are going to
ride to his house at Mayfield in Sussex, thirty-five
miles from London, and they would fain know
what they are to do with my Lady Mary, ¢ trust-
ing that now her majesty would be so good as to
remove her,” — that is, send her to some other
gentleman. But all was in vain: the queen seems
to have thought that her captive could not be
in safer or better keeping, and—sometimes in the
London house, and sometimes at Osterley Park—
the Lady Mary continued to reside with the Gre-
shams from the month of June, 1569, to the end
of 1572. 'There are beautiful and tender passages
in her story, with an overflowing of the natural
affections, not often to be found in the history of
the illustrious of this period. We pity the heart
that cannot feel these things on account of the
mesalliance, and the inferiority of a scutcheon.
In the month of September,1571, news was brought
to Gresham’s house that poor Keys had departed
this life. 1f he did not die in the Fleet—which it
is highly probable that he did—there can be little
doubt but that he was killed by his close confine-
ment in that vile place, and by his losses, troubles,
and anxieties. When Gresham broke the matter
to Lady Mary, she took it grievously to heart, and
forthwith requested Gresham to write to Cecil to
implore the queen to give her leave fo keep and
bring wp poor ~Keys’s orphan children. She
also requested Gresham to allow her to wear
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mourning ; but our royal merchant was much too
cautious a man to grant this request without having
the previous consent of the queen, and therefore
he wrote to the great Lord Burleigh about it.
Whether the request was granted or denied we
know not. Hitherto the poor little lady had
always subscribed her letters with her maiden
name, ‘ Mary Grey;’ but now she signed a letter to
Lord Burleigh with her matrimonial name, ¢ Mary
Keys.” It appears that she did this but once, and
that it was done in the very bitterness of her grief
and resentment. It was the sting of the tiny in-
sect crushed by a giant’s tread. She told the
astutious minister of Elizabeth that since God had
taken away the occasion of her majesty’s displea-
sure, she hoped to be restored to liberty. But she
did not obtain her release quite so soon; and al-
though she was removed out of Gresham’s custody
at the end of 1572, it is doubtful whether she was
not turned over to some other keeper for some
time longer. Nor is it indeed likely that she was
ever allowed to live anywhere except under a
rigid surveillance. She did not live very long.
She ended her days a widow; and died in the
parish of St. Botolph without Aldersgate, on the
20th of April, 1578, not seven years after poor
Keys. She finished her days in poverty, leaving
little behind her except a few trinkets and a score
or two of books. She appears to have been very
fond of her books, and to have solaced herself in
her captivity and grief with reading. As some of
her books were French, and one or two Italian, it
may be presumed that she knew these languages,
and that, like her eldest sister the Lady Jane Grey,
she was an accomplished person—extraordinarily
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CHAPTER IX.

i THE EXCHANGE AND GRESHAM COLLEGE.

Sik Tromas Gresuam, says old Fuller, with
his usual quaintness and point, was ¢ the founder
of two stately fabries; the old Exchange, a kind
of college for merchants, and Gresham College, a
kind of Exchange for scholars.” * The reader has
seen that Gresham’s father, Sir Richard, conceived
the notion of erecting a Bourse or Exchange, and
even made some efforts to carry out his project ;
and that Richard Clough spake very emphatically
and confidently upon a like project. FPennant, in
his eagerness to do honour to his countrymen of
the principality, says that the original hint was
given to Sir Thomas by a Welshman, that is to say,
by Richard Clough.t But Pennant, who was ill
informed as to most of the particulars connected
with the building of the Exchange, is®certainly
mistaken in this. Yet, if Gresham’s father, Sir
Richard, had the merit of giving the original hint
many years before Richard Clough was heard of,
that persevering Welshman may be entitled to the
merit of reviving or urging the notion, and of aid-
ing Sir Thomas Gresham (who no more than him-
self could lay claim to the original hint) in exe-
cuting it. Old Fuller reports a tradition, in which
there may be some truth. After mentioning that

* Worthies. + Some Account of London.
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- Clough ¢ by God’s blessing grew very rich,”
Fuller says, ¢ And there want not those who will
avouch that some thousands of pounds were dis-
bursed by him for the building of the Bourse, or
Royal Exchange. Such maintain that it was agreed
betwixt him and Sir Thomas Gresham that the
survivor should be chief heir to both; on which
account they say that the knight carried away the
main of the estaie.”

Not many things can be further from the truth
than the broad assertion which is made by Pen-
nant and many other writers, and which has been
so very generally believed to be true, that the
expensive, princely pile (the old EI&.CI’I&HWL) was
the result of the munificence of a private citizen,
Sir Thomas Gresham. It was an excellent thing
to do, and very probably it would not bhave been
done <o soon if our wealthy and influential knight
had not taken it in hand ; but Sir Thomas did not
contribute all the money ; he certainly looked for,
and as certainly obtained, some interest for bLis
money. This was not the munificence of a donor,
but the calculation of a projector and capitalist.
The whole work was done, not by a private citizen,
but by many citizens and city companies and the
corporation of London; and if some of these citi-
zens did not co-operate very willingly, it may have
been in part because they saw that it would not be
so good an investment for their money as it would
be for that of Gresham. Moreover, compulsion
was used from the first, and men naturally dislike
things, good and prof 1ta.ble in themselves, if they
are forced upon them.

In the year 1564, or, counting by the new style,
at the beginning {Jf 1565, Gresham made a pro-

I3
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posal to the court of aldermen, that if they would
purchase and give him a piece of ground in a pro-
per place, and large enough for the purpose, he
would build upon it a Bourse or Exchange, with
large and covered walks, where the merchants and
traders of all sorts might daily assemble, converse
together, and transact business with one another,
at all seasons, without any interruption from the
weather, or other impediment of any kind.* The
merchants and citizens had previously had many
meetings and consultations upon the subject ; for
the inconveniences attending the meeting in the
open air in Lombard Street had long been felt, and
now the religious wars in France and the troubles
in the Low Countries were driving to London
many foreign merchants and traders, who could
speak of the comfort and convenience of the conti-
nental bourses. At the same time, and partly
through this immigration of foreign speculators
and capitalists, the trade of London was rapidly on
the increase. The court of aldermen accepted the
proposal made to them by Sir Thomas Gresham,
and the subseription was set on foot to raise money
for purchasing the land on which the bourse was
to be built. No fewer than seven hundred and fifty
citizens subscribed in small sums, the total sum
immediately wanted being short of 4000/. The
list of the names of the original subseribers is still
preserved. The subseription commenced in March,
1565, and ended in October, 1566.f The bargain
for the land was concluded in the month of Sep-
tember ; but the ground was cleared and the first
sfone laid some months earlier.

“In the year 1566,” says Stow, ¢ certain houses

* Ward. + Burgon.
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upon Cornhill, and the like upon the back thereof,
in the ward of Broad Street, with three alleys—the
first called Swan Alley, opening into Cornhill ; the
second called Mew Alley, passing through out of
Cornhill into Broad Street Ward, over against St.
Bartholomew Lane ; the third called St. Christo-
pher’s Alley, opening into Broad Street Ward, and
into St. Christopher’s parish—econtaining in all
four score households—were first purchased by the
citizens of London for more than 3532/, and were
then sold for 478/. to such persons as should take
them down and carry the stuff from thence. Also
the ground, or plot, was made plain at the charges
of the eity ; and then possession thereof was by
certain aldermen, in the name of the whole citizens,
given to Sir Thomas Gresham, knight, agent to the
queen’s highness, thereupon to build a bourse, or
place for merchants to assemble in, at his own pro-
per charges: and he on the 7th of June laying the
first stone of the foundation, being brick, accom-
panied with some aldermen, every of them laid
a piece of gold, which the workmen took up, and
forthwith followed upon the same with such dili-
gence, that by the month of November in the year
1567 the same was covered with slate, and shortly
after fully finished.” *

The citizens, in conveying the ground to Sir
Thomas Gresham, entered into certain covenants
with him, and they afterwards complained that
these covenants were broken. They also affirmed
that the ground cost them more than 4000/ It
has not been discovered how much the materials
and building cost Sir Thomas; but as he derived
the then large sum of TOO/ a-year as rent from

* Survey of London.
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the Exchange, and as labour was then cheap, and
much of the building material furnished by his
own estates, he no doubt got something like in-
terest for his outlay. The freestone used in the
edifice he got on one of his Norfolk estates; the
timber was cut on an estate he had in Suffolk
called Rinhall, or Ringshall, near Battisford. The
great common called Battisford Tye was formerly
well wooded, and in a certain part of it the remains
of large saw-pits are still discernible. According
to the local tradition, those pits were employed in
sawing the timber for the Exchange, the frame-
work of which was entirely made here. Some of
the stone, the slates, the iron-work, the wainscot,
and the glass, seem nearly all to have come from
Antwerp, where Richard Clough was frequently
engaged in shipping them. Gresham’s architect
was one Henrick, a Fleming. DMany of the brick-
layers and other workmen came also from the Low
Countries, Sir Thomas having stipulated with the
court of aldermen that he should be allowed to
employ foreigners. This excited the jealousy of
the English bricklayers, and led to some rioting
and fighting. The statues which decorated the
building seem in all probability to have been made
in Iflanders. In short, the building and every thing
about it had a Flemish character, the design itself
being an imitation of the Great Bourse or Exchange
of Antwerp. The wood-cut will convey a good
notion of the interior. There are two prints in
existence, one of the interior, and one of the ex-
terior. The plates were engraved in 1569, and
most probably at Gresham’s own order. They
have an inscription in the English, French, Dutch,
and Latin languages. In English it runs thus:
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¢ Sir Thomas Gresham, knight, at his own costs
and charges, to the ornament and public use of this
royal city of London, caused this place from the
foundation to be erected, the 7th June, anno 1566 ;
and is full ended, anno 1569.” 'The principal fea-
ture of the exterior view is a lofty square tower,.
surmounted by a ball and grasshopper. Within
this tower was a bell, which sounded when ’Change
hours began and when they ended. Gresham was
as fond of his family crest, the grasshopper, as the
Baron of Bradwardine was of his, the bear : all the
four corners of the building were ornamented with
an enormous grasshopper. In this manner the
lively insect came to be taken as a representative
or metaphor for the Ixchange. DBishop Hall says,
in his description of the ¢ brain-sick youth ”—

¢ And now he plies the news-full grasshopper,
Of voyages and ventures to inquire.”

The building consisted of two portions, an upper
and a lower: the upper portion was laid out in
shops, one hundred in number, and the lower into
walks and rooms for the merchants, with shops on
the exterior. It was to increase the reputation of
the place, and especially to get tenants for these
shops, and not to open the Exchange, which had
been finished and opened long before, that Queen
Elizabeth was induced by Gresham to pay her
much celebrated visit to the spot in the year 1571.
The manceuvre was very ingenious and charac-
teristic of the man. Ior more than a year after
the completion of the Exchange, the shops remained
almost empty, thus causing much disappointment
to the founder, who had anticipated a handsome
income from them in the shape of rent. Gresham’s
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imagination went to work, and hit upon a new
“device.” It was noised abroad that the queen was
coming in state to visit the Burse, and Gresham
‘““went twice in one day round about the upper
part, and besought those few shopkeepers then pre-
sent that they would furnish and adorn with wares

-

[Queen Elizabeth.]
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and wax-lights as many shops as they either could
or would, and they should have all those shops so
furnished rent-free that year, which otherwise at
that time was forty shillings the shop by the year.”#*
All things being prepared, and all the city bells
ringing, on the 23rd of January, 1571, ¢ the queen’s
majesty, attended with her nobility, came from her
house at the Strand, called Somerset House, and
“ entered the city by Temple Bar, through Ileet-
street, Cheap, and so by the north side of the
Burse to Sir Thomas Gresham’s in Bishopsgate-
street, where she dined. After dinner, her ma-
jesty returning through Cornhill, entered the Burse
on the south side; and after that she had viewed
every part thereof above the ground, especially the
Pawne [the upper part of the building wherein
were the hundred shops or stalls], which was richly
furnished with all sorts of the finest wares in the
city, she caused the same Burse, by an herald and
trumpet, to be proclaimed the Royal Exchange,
and so to be called from thenceforth, and not other-
wise.”’+

After this grand celebration, Gresham’s bazaar,
or shops, began to fill, and the rents to be raised!
¢ And within two years after, he raised that rent
unto four marks a year; and within a while after
that he raised his rent of every shop unto four
pounds ten shillings a year, and then all shops were
well furnished according to that time; for then
the milliners or haberdashers in that place sold
mousetraps, birdcages, shoeing horns, lanthorns,
and Jew’s trumpets, &c. There was also at that
time that kept shops in the upper Pawne of the
Royal IExchange, armourers that sold both old and

* Blow.: | i
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new armour, apothecaries, booksellers, goldsmiths,
and glass-sellers ; although now it is as plenteously
stored with all kind of rich wares and fine com-
modities as any particular place in Europe, unto
which place many foreign princes daily send, to
be served of the best sort.”*

But great fame, ‘as well as great profit, was de-
rived by Gresham from this royal visit. Dramatic
poets took up the subject, and treated it not only
in English, but also in Latin. From the silence
of poor Thomas Churchyard, we are afraid that the
rich merchant did not encourage his Muse on this
occasion. Instead of Churchyard, we have Thomas
Heywood celebrating the queen’s visit, and Gre-
sham’s wealth and glory, In treating of our mer-
chant’s exceeding riches and loyalty, Heywood
becomes rather rhapsodical, and makes the cool
and cautious Gresham perform the extravagant
feat which is related of Cleopatra. Ile makes
Gresham reduce a costly pearl to powder, put the
powder into a cup of wine, and then swallow wine
and pearl-powder with these words :—

¢« Here fiftecn hundred pound at one clap goes!
Instead of sugar, Gresham drinks the pearl
Unto his queen and mistress : Pledge 1t, lords !”

The sober, calculating Gresham was about the
last man in the world to commit such an Pxpencive
folly, and Elizabeth was the last sovereign in the
world to be pleased by it. She would g a,cll}r have
taken a pearl of price to put into her jewel casket,
or to wear upon her neck ; but she would certamly
have fallen into a passion of rage at the idea of its

* Stow.
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being ground into a powder, and poured into the
merchant’s stomach, although metaphorically, and
as mere rhyme, she might like the extravagant
compliment well enough, for we kunow that in the
way of compliment nothing was too extravagant
for her.

It appears from various complaints of the eitizens,
that parts, at least, of the Exchange had been run
up with too much haste, or had been built of bad
materials. On the ground-floor there were said to
be holes in the walls, and indications which seemed
to threaten the passers by with a tumble down of
the upper stories. But it these things were con-
sidered as nuisances by the street passengers, many
and serious were the nuisances to which the fre-
quenters of the Exchange were exposed themselves.
The entrance was beset by ¢ rat-catchers, sellers
of dogs, birds, plants, trees, and other things, to
the great annoyance and trouble of merchants,
gents, ladies, and others” resorting thereto. Corn-
hill and the neighbouring streets were filled all
day long with apple-women and orange-women,
who are said to have kept up a constant cursing
and swearing, and with unruly boys and children,
and young rogues who never ceased shouting and
hallooing. Moreover, whenever there was to be
any bull-baiting, or bear-baiting, or other pleasant
pastime of that kind, the bear-wards brought their
bears, dogs, and bulls, their baboons and trum-
peters, into Cornhill, right before the Exchange,
and there made proeclamation (commonly at high
’Change time) of the sport which was toward, and
of the hour when the dogs and the bears, or the
dogs and the bulls, would begin to fight; all
which, as the soberer citizens complained, caused
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‘ the drawing together of tumult, and other incon-
venience.” *

Gresham’s building did not exist quite a century,
being burned to the ground in the great fire of
London in the year 1666. The statues of kings
and queens fell to the ground upon their faces,
and the greater part of the building fell upon
them ¢ with such a noise as was dreadful and as-
tonishing.” ¢ But Sir Thomas Gresham’s statue,”
says LEvelyn, ¢ though fallen from its niche, re-
mained entire, when all those of the kings since
the Conquest were broken to pieces.” Samuel
Rolle, a clergyman of the time, who wrote a great
many discourses and meditations about that awful
visitation, the great fire, devoted a whole chapter

[Statue of Gresham.]

% Inquest-Book of Cornhill, as quoted by J. W. Burgon
in Appendix to Life of Gresham.
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to the escape of Gresham’s statue, moralizing
thereupon, and showing ‘‘ how great and particular
respect did the fire show to the effigies of that
worthy knight.”

Sir Christopher Wren, who had the glory, at a
later period, of building St. Paul’s church, and so
many other beautiful churches in London, pre-
sented a magnificent plan for rebuilding the Ex-
change ; but the Gresham Committee and the other
city magnates preferred employing a Mr. Jerman,
one of the city surveyors.

Jerman’s design did not differ very materially
from Gresham’s or Henrick’s copy of the Bourse
of Antwerp. The first foundation-stone was Jlaid
on the 6th of May, 1667. On the 23rd of October
of the same year Charles the Second went into the
city ¢ with his kettle-drums and trumpets,” and
laid the base of the column on the west side of the
north entrance ; after which he was regaled ¢ with
a chine of beef, grand dish of fowl, gammons of
bacon, dried tongues, anchovies, caviare, &c., and
plenty of several sorts of wine. He gave 20/ in
gold to the workmen. The entertainment was in
a shed, built and adorned on purpose, upon the
Scotch Walk.,” Eight days after, the Duke of
York (subsequently James the Second) -laid the
base of the eastern column, and was regaled in the
same manner as the king. There was an unusual
quantum of ceremony and stone-laying, for on the
18th of November Prince Rupert laid the first
stone of the pillar on the east side of the south
entrance, and was magnificently entertained.

Old Cibber, the sculptor, father to the dramatist,
and Gibbons, the carver and sculptor, were em-
ployed to decorate the interior of the new building
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with statues of kings, carvings, &e. In the midst
of the uncovered quadrangle was placed the statue
of Charles the Second by “Gibbons ; but the statue
of Sir Thomas Gresham, the Grlgnml founder, was
placed in an obscure corner of the Exchange, under
the north piazza, where it was commonly shrouded
with placards, shop-bills, and advertisements.* It
would have been well if the citizens had not
shrouded more of Gresham than this stone statue.
The noble owner of Stowe, who erected a Dritish
Valhalla, or temple of British worthies, in his
delicious gardens, placed in the Temple a bust of
the old London merchant, and under it the follow-
ing inscription i—
Sik THoMAS GRESHAM,
‘ﬂrllﬂ BY THE HONOURABLE PROFESSION OF A DMERCHANT
HAVING ENRICHED HIMSELF AND HIS COUNTRY,
FoR CARRYING ON THE COMMERCE OF THE WORLD,
BuiLt THE RovaL ExcuaNGe.

The recent history of the great centre of the
commerce of the world is familiar to all. The
edifice erected in the time of Charles the Second
was burned down on the night of Wednesday, the
10th of January, 1838. The foundation of the new
building was laid shortly after, and the new Ex-
change was opened by her Majesty Queen Vie-
toria on the 28th of October, 1844,

We have alluded to the vast mansion or city
palace which Gresham built for his own habitation
in Bishopsgate Street, or rather on the ground
which lies between that street and Broad Street.
It was begun, on a scale of rare extent; about the

* Rev, H, Hunter, D.D., History of London, published
in 1811,
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[The Second Exchange.]

year 1559. It was finished some time in the year
1562, and was looked upon as a most sumptuous
house. Stow, in speaking of the buildings in that
neighbourhood, says that there are ¢ some houses
for men of worship, namely, one most spacious of
all other thereabout, builded of brick and timber
by Sir Thomas Gresham, Knt.” To speak ecri-
tically of the building, from the engravings of it
which remain (and the mean-spirited barbarism of
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| 'The Third Exchange. |
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our grandfathers has left us nothing else), we!
should say that the building was noticeable rathert
from its extent than from any beauty in its archi--
tecture. Like the Exchange, it was built after as
Flemish model, and mostly by Flemish artisans..
A quadrilateral range of building, one story high,
with attics above, enclosed a large open square,,
which was ornamented by a row of trees on each off!
its sides. But the building, the quadrangle, with:
nearly everything about it, had a quiet, collegiate:
air; and when two hundred years had made it
venerable, it must, with its associations, have beeni
an interesting place to all persons of taste and feel--
ing. It was here that Gresham feasted the great!
Elizabeth, and kept in captivity the poor Ladyy
Mary Grey, who must ofttimes have looked outl
from the windows upon the quiet quadrangle or:
upon the busy street, envying the condition of the!
poorest woman that passed through them toiling;
for her daily bread. But Gresham Ilouse had!
pleasanter associations than these. Although our!
city knight liked to get, and to keep what he got,,
and although he might have repeated the words:
which an old chronicler puts into the mouth of’
William the Conqueror, when his impatient son,
Robert, demanded the cession of the dukedom of!
Normandy, ¢ My son, I wot not to throw off my
clothes till I go to bed,” yet Gresham, after the
death of his only son, was quite capable of a
posthumous generosity and munificence, and of'
judging of the means of applying a portion of his
%reat wealth to the intellectual improvement of his
ellow-citizens. His Cambridge studies, his travels,
his long residences abroad, and his intimate con-
nexion with some of the best educated men at
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home, had given him a respect and love for the
liberal arts, and, with the means, he had the am-
bition of doing something important for their pro-
mulgation. According to a respectable citizen,
who, at the beginning of the last century, made
some praiseworthy but not very successful efforts
to shame a shameless age and enforce the execution
of our great merchant’s intention, Gresham con-
sidered with Solomon, *‘that the merchandise of
wisdom is better than the merchandise of silver,
and the gain thereof than fine gold.” * Ie there-
fore resolved, that after his own death, and the
death of his wife, Lady Gresham, his large and
stately London house should be converted into a
college or seat of learning, and be endowed with
the rents of shops, &c. derivable from the Royal
Exchange. The edifice seemed as if it had been
built for such a purpose. It is thought + that it
was about the year 1575 that he had sufficiently
matured his plan to announce his intention openly
of founding a college in London for the gratuitous
instruction of young citizens and of all who might
choose to go and attend the lectures. As soon as
his intention was made known, the university of
Cambridge, his own Alma Mater, conjured him
to abandon his notion of founding a college in
London, and to endow a new college at Cambridge
instead. They applied to Lady Burleigh, whose
powerful husband was their chancellor, and Gre-

* An Account of the Rise, Foundation, Progress, and
Present State of Gresham College in London ; with the Life
of the Founder, Sir Thomas Gresham : as also of some late
endeavours for obtaining the Revival and Restitution of the
Lectures there, with some Remarks thereon. London, 1707.

T Mr. Burgon.

K
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sham’s patron and fast friend, to induce her to use
her influence with the rich merchant who intended
to do so much for learning (as they thought) in a
wrong place, for the Cambridge doctors could not
conceive that the tree of learning could grow and
flourish in the atmosphere of London.* 1t is pro-
bable that Lady Burleigh never interfered in the
matter, and never pleaded either for Cambridge or
“for London. If her great husband’s weight had
been thrown into the scale for Cambridge, we are
persuaded that Cambridge would have had the
benefit of Gresham’s bequest; and seeing how
shamefully that part of his will has been adminis-
tered in London, we may wish that the property
had really gone to his own Alma Mater ; for if it
had been left to Cambridge, Cambridge would have
known how to keep it. -

By his last will and testament, which bears the
-date of the 5th day of July, in the seventeenth
-year of the reign of our sovereign lady Queen Eli-
~ zabeth, and in the year of our Lord God 1575, he

ordained that the Lady Gresham should enjoy his

now dwelling-house in the parish of St. Helen’s in

* Ward has given at full length two letters of the Uni-
versity of Cambridge to Sir Thomas Gresham, and one letter
to Lady Burleigh. All the three letters are in Latin, and
written in a very fantastical and pedantic style. The first
of the letters to Gresham is dated in Mareh, 1575, and is
addressed simply “ Domino Thome Gressamo;’ but the
second, which is dated in April in the same year, is addressed,
with much more form and pomp, “ Ornatissimo vire Domino
Thome Gressamo bonarum literarum optimo mecenati.” The
- letter to Cecil’s wife is dated the same day as the second of
- the two letters to Gresham, and is addressed * Illustrissime
Domine, Domine de Burghley, bonarum literarum patrone
amantissime,”
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Bishopsgate-street, as well as the rents arising from
the Royal Exchange, its pawnes, shops, cellars,
vaults, messuages, tenements, &c., during her life-
time, in case she should survive him; but that
from the period of her death both those properties
should be vested in the hands of the corporation of
London and the Mercers’ Company. These two
bodies corporate were conjointly to nominate seven
competent professors meet to read lectures succes-
sively, one on every day of the week, on the seven
sciences of divinity, astronomy, music, geometry,
law, medicine, and rhetoric. The lectures were to
be delivered in Gresham House or College, and the
professors were to be comfortably lodged therein.
T'he salaries of the lecturers, which were far more
than defrayed by the rents arising from the Royal
Exchange, were fixed at 50/. per annum each.*
This, as has been remarked, was a more liberal
remuneration than Henry the Kighth had appointed
for the regius professors of divinity at Oxford and
Cambridge, and was equivalent to at least four or
five hundred pounds a-year to each professor at
the present day.t It might have been expected
from a financier and thorough man of business like
Gresham, that he would have foreseen that the in-
creasing trade, industry, and ingenuity of the coun-
try would rapidly bring in money, and decrease the
representative value of the pound sterling and of
all other coin; that the rents derivable from the
Royal Exchange must be rapidly raised in propor-
tion ; and that with this foresight he would have
refrained from fixing the salaries according to the

* Sir Thomas Gresham’s Will, as given in Ward’s Lives
of the Gresham Professors.
t+ J. W. Burgon.
K 2
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value of money and of the rents derivable from the
Exchange in his day. But in such cases as these
an enlightened and high-minded legislature would
so far interfere with the mere letter of a will as to
alter it into the intention of the donor ; and the
real intention of Gresham could only have been
that the seven professors should have and enjoy in
all time to come what should be equivalent to the
fifty pounds per annum of his own time, and the
amounts of which would be defrayed by the rising
rents of the Exchange. As Queen Elizabeth always
preferred unmarried clergymen to married ones,
and as the statutes of our two universities made
fellowships cease with matrimony, and, perhaps, as
(Gresham imagined that although seven men might
live peaceably in one house, seven men’s wives
would not do so, he ordained that his professor-
ships must all be filled by single men. ¢ And my
will is,” said he, ¢ that none shall be chosen to read
any of the said lectures, so long as he shall be mar-
ried, nor be suffered to read any of the said lectures
after that he shall be married, neither shall he re-
ceive any fee or stipend appointed for the reading
of the said lectures.” Nothing could be more
earnestly worded than all these parts of the will,
or more clear and unequivocal than the whole body
of this last will and testament. Ie conjures the
parties charged with the administration of his will
to see his intentions carried out, ¢ as they will
answer the same before Almighty God,” and he
tells them that the default thereof *¢ shall be to the
reproach and condemnation of the said corporations
afore G'od!” TIn concluding his will he says, ¢ In
witness whereof, I, the said Sir Thomas Gresham,
have written this will, all with mine own hand;
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and to each of the eight leaves have subseribed my
name ; and to a label fixed thereunto all the eight
leaves, have set my seal with the grasshopper.”
There is an old pamphlet entitled ¢ Sir Thomas
Gresham his Ghost.” It is very scarce, and we
have not yet been able to obtain a sight of it ; but
we faney that his uneasy spirit is made to haunt the
corporation of London and the Mercers’ Company
for their gross disregard of his solemn injunc-
tions.*

Waller, who was sometime secretary to the Royal
Society, says, in an autobiographical sketch, which
was prefixed to his posthumous works—* It is in-
deed but a melancholy reflection, that while so
many rich and great men leave considerable sums
for founding hospitals and the like pious uses, few
since Sir Thomas Gresham should do anything of
this kind for the promoting of knowledge, which
no doubt would be as much for the good of the
nation and glory of God, as the others of relieving
the poor.” Such bequests have indeed been rare,
and therefore it is the more lamentable that the

* The library of the British Museum possesses a copy of
this satire ; but when we asked for it, it was in the hands of the
binders. It was published as early as 1647, when complaints
were already raised against the great negligence of the
Gresham professors. Mr. Burgon, who has seen the old
tract, says—* Facing the tltIL-pd“E, the old knight is repre-
sented in his shroud, holding a blazing torch; as if his in-
dignant spirit had r&tmued to visit earth, and to complain,
with the author, that his lectures were read only in Term
time : when the lectures were ¢ so superbiously pettish, that
they will resolve no query that may advantage the dubitor :
nay, they are come to that strain that they will do as they
list ; read what, when, how, and where they list; and not
at a]l if they list; and indeed they have their means for a
sﬂng’ ”-Appeudu to Life and Times of Sir 1. Gresham.,
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good example set by Gresham should have been in
a manner destroyed by those bodies whose bounden
duty it was to uphold it and diffuse the benefits
which might have resulted from it. In his great
scheme of education the mind of our royal mer-
chant took a much higher flicht than that which
has been taken, even in our own times, by public
educationists, who seem to have considered that
reading, writing, and arithmetic were education
enough for plain citizens. Iis notion was that the
citizens of London, who wereall to have free aceess
to the lectures, would be quite capable of learning
the higher sciences, the elegant arts, and the charms
of literary composition. He instituted a lecture-
ship upon astronomy at a time when the science
was not taught in any school or university in this
country, when its rudiments were almost unknown,
and when many of the foremost men of the age
believed in astrology. Ever since the destruction
of the chantries by the church reformers of Henry
the Eighth and Edward the Sixth, the taste for
music had been on the decline, and England was
beginning to cease to be the musical country which
she had been. Gresham included music among his
endowed lectures, intending to give a new impulse
to that delightful science in the capital of the em-
pire. And, upon the whole, though subjected to
disheartening inconveniences and long interrup-
tions, the musical class of Gresham College ap-
pears to have conferred more benefit upon society
than any of the other classes. For many years
past the zealous labours, the professional taste and
skill, the good writing, the practical lecturing,
and the varied accomplishments of Mr. Taylor, the
present Gresham professor of musie, have been
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above all praise, and have gone far to carry out
the intentions of the testator, and to redeem the
negligence, incompetency, and mean selfishness of
other men connected with that foundation. If
from the first there had been a succession of profes-
sors like Mr. Taylor, Gresham College would never
have become a nonentity or a laughing-stock, and
a taste for the arts which civilize, adorn, and cheer
the life of man would not have been allowed to
perish and decline as it long did among those ¢ in
populous city pent.”

Nor did Sir Thomas Gresham forget charities
and pious uses in his will. Inhis lifetime he had
built at the back of his London mansion eight sub=
stantial alms-houses, and to the inmate of each of
these houses he bequeathed the annual sum of
6l. 138s. 4d., to be paid ‘¢ at four usual terms in
the year yearly, that is to say, at the Feast of St.
Michael the Archangel, the Nativity of our Lord
God, the Annunciation of the blessed Virgin
Mary, and the Nativity of St. John the Baptist,
by even portions.” Furthermore heleft 50/. a-year
to be distributed among the poor prisoners for debt
in Newgate, Ludgate, the King’s Bench, the Mar-
shalsea, and the Compter prisons. These and
other sums were to be paid by the corporation and
the Mercers’ Company, out of the revenues de-
rived from the Exchange, for those rents amounted
to more than 700/ per annum, and the salaries of
the seven Gresham professors came only to 3501
per annum. He left 100/ a-year to his Company
for four dinners in the course of the year; and no
doubt the worshipful Mercers, however careless as
to other parts of his last will and testament, took
especial care to keep up these celebrations, and to
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eat the dinners thus provided for them—taking
also into account the difference between the costs
of a civic feast in the seventeenth and the eight-
eenth and nineteenth centuries. With a little less
eating and drinking and Jow self-seeking, and a
little more elevation of taste and principle, how
much might some of these city companies, with
their great and growing wealth, have done for the
great cause of national education and refinement !
But we live in the confident hope that better days
for the city of London are coming, and that these
ancient incorporations, by reforming themselves,
will escape destruction by the force of publie
opinion, or by that rude and hasty reform from
without which so generally goes into extremes.
There are already some faint indications of im-
provement.

e




CHAPTER X.

DEATH OF SIR THOMAS GRESHAM, AND THE FATE
OF GRESHAM COLLEGE.

Sir Tnomas Gresaam had only one son and
legitimate child, Richard, who died in 1564, before
he began to build the Royal Exchange. He had
an illegitimate daughter by a Flemish woman,
whom he brought up in his own house in England.
Lady Gresham, who had children by her first
husband, whom she was anxious to enrich, does
not appear to have liked this domestic arrangement,
or the prospect of the Ilemish-born young lady
sharing in the wealth of her father. Hence, as
we believe, principally arose those family con-
tentions and that divided house to which the wits
made allusion when speaking of the division which
the courtly knight made in his court-yard at
Osterley. Of the grasping disposition of old Lady
Gresham and her son William Read, Esq., there
is abundant proof upon record. Gresham, how-
ever, 1s said to have given his daughter a good
education, and a good dower. The last fact seems
to be proved by the importance of the family into
which she married. Anne Gresham could call the
great Lord Bacon her brother-in-law: her husband
was Sir Nathaniel Bacon, second son of Sir Ni-
cholas, the lord keeper, by his first wife, Jane
Fernely ; and as her father, Sir Thomas Gresham,
K 3
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had married this lady’s elder sister, there was a |
relationship or family connexion, though of an
irregular kind, between Anne Gresham and her
husband. As her name does not occur in his
will, it is supposed that Gresham’s daughter died
before the year- 1575, when that will was made.
But nothing seems to be known about the lady,
except that_she was born in the Low Countries,
was brought.up in England, and was married to
Sir Nathaniel Bacon, brother to the great Lord
Verulam.*

Sir Thomas Gresham himself did not long sur-
vive the writing of his will : he died, apparently of
apoplexy, in the sixtieth or sixty-first year of his
age. Holinshed has briefly recorded his decease, and
the record seems to show that, old and wealthy as
he was, the last moments of his life were devoted
to business. “ On Saturday, the 21st of November,
1579, between six and seven of the clock in the even-
ing, coming from the Exchange to his house
( whlch he had sumptuously bullded) in'Bishopsgate-
street, he suddenly fell down in his kitchen, and
bemg taken up, was found speechless, and pre-
sently dead.”f By his death many large estates in
several counties of KEngland, amounting at that
time to the yearly value of two thousand three
hundred pounds and upwards, came to his lady,
who survived him many years. He in fact took no-
thing from her, for neither Gresham House nor the
rents of the Exchange were to be appropriated to
the college until after her decease; and yet she
begrudged those two well intended donations,

* Sir Nathaniel Bacon had another wife, and he was
buried with them or between them.
+ Chronicle.
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and quarrelled and litigated with the corporation
about insignificant sums ; and it is quite clear that
if she could have annulled the will she would have
done so, in- order to add Gresham House and the
rents derived from the Exchange to the great
estates which she left to her son by her first
marriage. On the 15th of Deecember the remains
of our great merchant were deposited in St. Helen’s
Church, Bishopsgate-street, close to his own house,
and the resting-place of his son Richard. Ile had
prepared for himself a sumptuous tomb or monu-
ment during his lifetime; but neither his widow
nor his step-son, William Read, who came into the
possession of his splendid fortune, ever put any in-
seription on the tomb, and if remained without a
date and without a name until the year 1736, when
the following brief inseription was cut on the solid
black marble slab which covers the alabaster tomb,
by order of the churchwardens:

Sir Tumomas Gresmam, KnicHr,
Bury?® Decem"r the 15, 1579,

The reader may yet visit the tomb and moralize
over it. It stands in the north-eastern corner of
St. Ielen’s Church, close under a large Gothic
window, the rich painted glass of which contains
the arms of Gresham and the arms of the Mercers’.
Company. It is said, however, that the obsequies
were very solemn and splendid, and cost 800/
They were attended by a hundred poor men and
the like number of poor women, whom he had
ordered to be clothed in black gowns, of 5s. 8d. a-
yard.® He had promised the parishioners to erect

.# Wﬂr d »
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a steeple on St. Helen’s Church, but his wealthy
widow never troubled herself about the matter.
The breath of life was scarcely out of him ere his
intentions were disregarded by those who were
nearest to him and who were so enriched by his
death.

The Lady Gresham continued to reside at the
mansion in Bishopsgate-street during the winter,
and at Osterley Park in the summer time. She
was the greatest or richest widow of those days.
Little else is ’known of her except that she sub-
seribed 100/, to the defence of the country in 1588,
when England was menaced by the Spanish Ar-
mada ; and that she twice attempted to act con-
trary to her husband’s will, and to derive unfair
advantages from that small portion of property
which was intrusted to her for her life-time only.
And these last things she did in spite of the
solemn trust and confidence which her husband in
his will said he placed in her, as his faithful loving
wife. In that last deed he said—*1I do wholly
put my trust in her; and have no doubt but she
will accomplish the same accordingly, and all other
things, as shall be requisite and expedient for both
our honesties, fames, and good reports in this tran-
sitory world, and to the profit of the common weal
and relief of careful and true poor, according to
the pleasure and will of Almighty God.”

Soon after the decease of Sir Thomas some dif-
ferences about the will arose between his widow
and Sir Henry Nevill, who had married a niece of
Sir Thomas, and by consanguinity Sir Thomas’s
heir at law. The widow tried to set aside some of
the intentions of the will ; but an act of parliament,
which was passed in the year 1581 for establishing
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an agreement between Sir Henry and the widow,
confirmed all the good uses and intents of the will
of Sir Thomas Gresham, and sanctioned and gua-
ranteed not only the private appointments of his
will, but likewise his public benefactions (as the
college and professorships) and his charities to the
poor. After the passing of this act, the wealthy
widow still continued to receive the rents and
profits of the Royal Exchange, which then amounted
to the yearly value of 751/ 5s., over and above all
charges and reprises. But not contented with all
this in wsufructu, and looking beyond the natural
term of her own life, Lady Gresham, in the year
1592, endeavoured to get another act of parlia-
ment, to empower her and her heirs to make leases
from time to time of twenty-one years, or three
lives, of the shops in the Exchange, reserving the
fines to herself. And for this end she petitioned
the privy council, suggesting or insisting that she
ought to have what she asked for, inasmuch as the
two corporations (the Mercers’ Company and the
City Corporation) would assuredly not employ the
profits thereof according to the will of Sir Thomas
Gresham, in paying the seven professors. [It is
to be deplored that the greedy old lady was but too
true a prophet !] If she could have carried her
point, Sir Thomas’s donation for the college must
have been greatly prejudiced, by her withholding
the fines, in which consisted a considerable part of
the revenue derivable from the Exchange. DBut
the lord mayor and aldermen of the day met her
petition with a spirited and convincing answer.
They showed that her demand was utterly against
both the last will and testament of her late husband,
and expressly against the act of parliament of
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1581 ;—that the request of the Lady Gresham was.
against all reason and equity ; for that the citizens
of London purchased in fee simple the soil where-
upon the Royal Exchange was built, and paid for:
the same above 4000/, and in the eighth year of
her majesty’s reign conveyed the same to Sir
Thomas Gresham, upon condition to have re-
assurance made according to certain covenants,
which had never been done. ¢ And albeit,” con-
tinued the lord mayor and aldermen, “ the citizens
might lawfully have entered for breach of the said
condition, and presently taken the rents and profits -
of the whole, yet they have contented themselves
to accept of the same according to the last will,
and act of parliament, and have suffered the said
TLiady Gresham to take the whole profits. And yet
they have been at great charges in the defending
of titles made to some part of the same, and in
paying of quit-rents, tithes, and widows’ dowers,
which they still continue to this day. Touching
the employments of the profits of the Exchange,
according to the purport of the testament of Sir
Thomas Gresham, it is thereunto answered, that it
is meant, and so it shall be performed, that the
same, after the death of the Lady Gresham, shall
be employed justly and truly, according to the
trust and confidence in them reposed. Which if
they should break, there are courts of equity that
can take order for remedy thereof. But forasmuch
as the said Lady Gresham is to have the same [the
rents from the IExchange and the mansion]| during
her life, and the employments are not to be made
till after her death, therefore this complaint is now
made before any injury be offered. And as it is
now causeless, so the said lord mayor and aldermen
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do assuredly persuade themselves there shall not at
any time be any cause given on their parts to com-
plain against them. Wherefore their most humble
suit is, that the said Exchange may be by them
enjoyed, according to the said will and act of par-
liament.” * This answer of the lord mayor and
aldermen put a stop to my Lady Gresham’s peti-
tion, and to any further attempts of the like nature
for that time. Nevertheless, the leases of twenty-
-one years, which had been let by Sir Thomas
Gresham to the tenants upon the Buyal Exchange,
being nearly expired before the death of his widow,
she prewalled upon them to take fresh leases of her
for the like term (of twenty-one years) at the old
rent, together with the addition of a fine amounting
to 4000/, This was done in the year 1596, and
the greater part of the fine was paid to her ladyship
while living, not many months before the estate,
in conformity with Sir Thomas’s will, came into the
possession of the corporation of London and the
Merceis’ Company. Thus the widow made it quite
evident that, regardless of the solemn injunctions of
her husband’s wﬂl she was more anxious to get
money for herself and her son and heir, William
Read, Esq., than to settle Gresham College, or to
give to it that whieh Sir Thomas had bequeathed.
When a party so near to the testator could thus
disregard his intentions, it is less surprising,
t}murr*h still lamentable, that others, at a distant
permd of time, should throw dirt upon the last
testament. The reader will be indifferent about
the facts (perhaps he may believe that the old
woman is still alive, and presides, with an undi-
minished selfishness, over some of the civic incor-
CE oW,
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porations), but she died, at a very old age, on the
23d of November, 1596, at Osterley Park, and was
buried in the church of St. Helen, Bishopsgate
Street, in the same vault with her husband Sir
Thomas, on the 14th of December of the same
year. The recent biographer of Sir Thomas
Gresham, being predetermined, in the true, or
false, spirit of a biographer, to eulogise nearly
everything connected with the name of his hero,
does not go into these matters. He mentions,
with a slight expression of regret, that the old
lady attempted twice ‘to derive unreasonable ad-
vantages from the property entrusted to her during
her lifetime;” but for the particulars of these
transactions he refers the reader to old Stow,
whose books are not much read by the generality,
saying that it is not agreeable to transeribe them,
nor is it necessary since her ladyship’s intentions
were frustrated.® DBut the biographer could not
be otherwise than conversant with the facts, and
these convincing things ought to have moderated
his estimate of Lady Gresham’s character—ought
to have shown him what manner of woman her
ladyship really was. It is an ungracious task to
blot out praise and substitute censure; and we
have no disposition to cavil with a gentleman to
whose patient researches we are so much indebted ;
but truth i1s always a good, and the mystification of
it an evil; and the biographer, by making Lady
Gresham’s character and humour a test whereby
to judge of the disposition of her noble and most
unfortunate captive the Lady Mary Grey (a per-
sonage that must always occupy a place in the ex-
tensive field of English history), forces us, in the
* J, W. Burgon.
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spirit of justice, and with the sympathy ever due to
the unfortunate and guiltless, to reproduce the
evidence against Lady Gresham, and to attempt to
demonstrate that the widow of Sir Thomas was
but a low-minded and miserly woman. It is true
that her intentions with regard to the Exchange
property were frustrated, though not entirely ; but
the frustration or defeat of a bad intention does not
destroy the evil of the intention. Still, however,
we might have let these matters pass, although
they are given in detail by the very respectable
Ward, Gresham’s first biographer, but for the im-
plicative injustice done to the hapless heroine of
one of the most pathetic true stories in existence.
The recent biographer, who never enters into the
pathos of that story, for the nanating of which he
has collected the best and most touching materials,
and who cannot see that what he calls ¢ a touch of
the ludicrous” adds to, instead of detracting from,
the pathos of that episode, says that of the cha-
racter of Lady Mary Grey ‘we have little means
of judging, unless, indeed, Lady Gresham’s dissa-
tisfaction at having her for a constant inmate is
to be received as evidence against her.”* Now
Lady Gresham was a miser, or avid for money ;
and as Queen Elizabeth paid most irregularly and
inadequately, or paid not at all for the supportsof
such state prisoners, so quartered upon her wealthy
subjects, it is easy to conceive that the sister of
Lady Jane Grey was not a welcome inmate in her
house. Besides, as we have shown, the vigilance
required by the queen from the keepers of her poor
state prisoner, interfered much with Lady Gresham’s

* J. W. Burgon. Life and Times of Sir Thomas
Gresham.
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own comforts and personal freedom of motion ; and
a mean and sordid nature would visit upon the
helpless immediate cause of this expense and dis-
comfort the resentment which was due properly to
the queen. Jailers, in the ordinary rule, have not
been found to be the best-tempered class of man-
kind ; and if they were so they might possibly be
bad jailers. Now Lady Gresham was the jailer of
the hapless granddaughter of Henry the Seventh,
and, in order to do her office so as to satisfy the
queen, she was compelled to be herself a prisoner
in her own splendid mansions. Can the quarrels
or complaints of such a person, so situated, be
taken as evidence against the character of the
hapless Lady Mary?

But the avarice of Lady Gresham did not end
with her own life. Her son, and the heir of her
great property, William Read, Esq., was a con-
genial successor. This gentleman was fifty-eight
years old, or thereupon, when his mother died.
At the beglnmng of King James’s reign he was
knighted, and in the year 1606, as administrator
of La.dy Gresham, he brought a writ of error
against a creditor of Sir Thomas Gresham. He
appears to have been a grasping and a very litigious
man, for the little that is known of his history is
knewn through lawsuits. He took to himself and
enjoyed (if there was enjoyment in it) the mass
of the fortune which the royal agent and merchant
had 'accamulated ; and he stirred not a step, nor
moved a finger, for the execution of Sir Thomas
Gresham’s intentions. He left the tomb in St.
Helen’s Church without an inseription, even when
his mother was joint tenant of the vault beneath.
Like his mother, and beyond her term, he lived to
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a very old age. In the year 1621 he was out-
lawed upon an indictment for not repairing a
certain bridge, which he was bound in law to keep
in proper repair. He was admitted to his writ of
error, and moved to pursue it by his attorney.
This was against the method of the court, and it
was resolved that he must appear in person. Ac-
cordingly Sir William Read was, brought from
his house, ten miles from Lnnd{}n, in a horse
litter, and upon men’s shoulders into court. He
there assigned his error, and put in bail to pro-
secute. 'The error was, that in the indictment
about the bridge, he was deseribed as residing in
the county of Middlesex, without any particular
place being mentioned within the said county.
This omission was considered as cause sufficient for
reversing the outlawry, and it was reversed forth-
with. He: was then eighty-three years old, and
had kept his chamber for a year or more.* DBut
enough of Sir William Read.

In the twenty-third of Elizabeth, an act of par-
liament was obtained for confirming and ratifying
the last will and testament of Sir Thomas Gresham.
In the year 1614, the twelfth of King James the
First, and eighteen years after the death of Gre-
sham’s widow—and not earlier—the two corpora-
tions entrusted with the management of Gresham
College obtained a patent from the erown, to hold
for ever the rents of the Royal Exchange and
the mansion-house in Bishopsgate-street, upon the
terms and conditions expressed in the last will of
the donor.t But before this time the two corpo-
rations had put themselves in possession of the
property, and had appointed persons ¢ meet to

* Ward. + Id.
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read the several lectures” in the mansion-house of
Sir Thomas Gresham. They took possession of’
the property in the month of December, 1596, just
after the funeral of the widow. With a modest
doubt as to their own competency to judge of the
proper persons to lecture on divinity, astronomy,
music, geometry, law, medicine, and rhetorie, the
mayor, aldermen, and commons of the City of
London applied for advice and assistance to the
Universities of Oxford and Cambridge, in order
that, ¢ being assisted by their grave directions, they
might proceed to make election of the fittest person
in every faculty.” The corporation, on this oc-
casion, expressed themselves with some earnestness
and fervour. They said to the Universities—
‘¢ Herein, as we shall perform a special part of our
own duty, so we doubt not but that yourselves
shall do a good and acceptable work to Almighty
God, and bind ourselves, and this whole eity, in

mutual respect and good correspondence of hke
desire to procure the good (wherein we may) of
the Universities, and of every part and member
thereof,”* The master and wardens of the mystery
of Mercers, in the name of the whole company,
wrote letters to the same effect. Oxford imme-
diately complied with the request, and named
various qualified men as fit to be chosen from ;
but Gresham’s own Alma Mater, Cambridge, either
from resentment at his refusing to enrich their
University, or from some other motives, refused to
give any reply without first consulting Lord
Burleigh, their chancellor, ¢ doubting,” as they
said, ‘‘ that it would be greatly prejudicial to their
own University.,” It does not appear how the

* Letters, as quoted by Ward.
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matter issued with regard to Cambridge, but the
City trustees in making their choice seem to have
manifested an equal respect to each University, for
of the first professors three were chosen from
Oxford and three from Cambridge. The seventh
—the professor of music—who was named by
Queen Elizabeth, was a graduate of both Uni-
versities.

The trustees then proceeded to draw up a set of
rules, to direct the professors as to the manner in
which they should manage their lectures. The
present right-minded Gresham professor of musie,
the best ornament and champion of the institution,
says, ‘“ The following passage, which occurs in the
directions to the professor of law, will equally
serve to guide every other professor in the dis-
charge of his duty, and is, in fact, an exposition
of onr founder’s design in the establishment of
Gresham College : ¢ It is thought meet, in respect
of the end of ordaining these lectures, as well as
for the quality of the hearers, who for the most
part are like to be merchants and other citizens,
that the said lectures be not read after the manner
of the universities, but that the reader cull out
such heads of his subject as may best serve the
good liking and capacity of the said auditory.””*
Their regulations about the astronomy and geo-
metry lectures were good and simple. The astro-
nomy professor was to read ¢ the principles of the
sphere and the theoriques of the 'planets,” and to
explain the use of common instruments for the

¥ Gresham College. Three Inaugural Lectures, delivered
in the Theatre of the City of London School, January 29th
and 31st, and February 1st, 1838. By Edward Taylor,
Gresham Professor of Musie.
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capacity of mariners,” and he was to apply these
things * to use by reading geography and the ari
of navigation.” The geometry professor was tc
lecture for one term on arithmetic; the next or
theoretical geometry ; the third on practical geo-
metry.

These citizens clearly understood that the lec-
tures were meant, and ought to be, popular and
attractive ; and that to deliver them in Latin, ox
to make them difficult, abstruse, and drily theore-
tical, would be a defeating of the end proposed by
Gresham. On the subject of the delightful scienee
of musie, they said very explicitly and very wisely.
that the lecture should ‘be read in manner fol-
lowing, that is to say, the theoretic part for one
~half hour or thereabouts, and the praectical part,
by help of voices or instruments, for the rest of
the hour.” Mr. Taylor, in our own day, has ad-
hered to this good rule, and with excellent effeet.
as will be testified by those who have attended his
instruetive and amusing lectures.

Under these good rules and other ‘good regula-
tions, which seem for a time to have been carefully
attended to by the trustees and by the professors
they appointed, Gresham College rose into cele-
brity and attained to much of the usefulness con-
templated by its founder, who had taught the
citizens by example ‘‘ that commercial activity is
not of necessity dissociated from the love of scienee
and literature, and that commercial success may be
obtained without an abandonment of mental culti-
vation.”* 'The college being the fixed abode of
several men of high attainments, attracted many
congenial minds, and became a centre of union for

_* Edward Taylor. |
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men of letters and science. It appearsto have been
under the old sloping roof of the mansion in Bishops-
gate-street that the first foundation was laid for
that scientific association which afterwards took
the name of ‘The Royal Society;” while it is
quite certain that it was within the walls of that
house that the members of that society first con-
gregated and tried their experiments in physies.-
After the Great Fire of London the Gresham
professors placed their rooms for a time at the
disposal of their houseless fellow-citizens. The
building became a temporary Mansion House as
well as a temporary Exchange; some of the spa-
cious rooms were converted into courts of law, and
others were fitted up as a residence for the Lord
Mayor ; shops were allowed to be erected in the
piazzas and galleries, and the merchants assembled
at Change hours in the quadrangle until the Royal
Exchange was rebuilt. [The same site has afforded
our merchants the same accommodation since the
burning down of the last Exchange in 1838. ]
During the seventeenth century we find eminent
names among the Gresham professors, as Gunter,
Wren, Briggs, Greaves, Barrow, Hooke, Bull—
Mus. Doe., Sir William Petty, &e.; but in the
eighteenth century few or no distinguished names
appear on the lists. In 1657, nine years before
the Great Fire of London, Christopher Wren, then
a young man distinguished for his knowledge of
mathematics and astronomy, was appointed to the
astronomy chair. He drew around him other
scientific inquirers, and he and his brother pro-
fessors, Doctor Barrow, Sir William Petty, and
Mr. Hooke, may be styled the real founders of the
Royal Society. ¢ The place where they assembled,”
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says Sprat, ‘was Gresham College, in which
building, by the munificence of a citizen, there
have been lectures for the several arts, endowed so
liberally, that if it were beyond sea it would be
called a university. DBy a rare happiness in the
constitution (of which I know not where to find|
the like example), the professors have been chiefly
of the most learned men of the nation, though
the choice has been wholly in the disposal of the
citizens.” *

¢ Here,” adds the historian, who wrote during
the flourishing period of which he speaks, ¢ the
Royal Society has one public room to meet in;
another for a repository to keep their instruments,
books, and rarities, having permission also to use
several other rooms as their occasions required.”+

It was within the walls of Gresham College that
Petty and other scientific men turned their atten-
tion to the important subject of naval architecture ;
it was here that Boyle, the first of our great che-
mists and natural philosophers, explained the pro-
perties of air, and made many of his most valuable
experiments ; and it was here, under the old
Flemish-shaped roof, that Charles the Second
signed the charter of the Royal Society—appa-
rently without comprehending the great results
that were to be derived from the investigations
and labours of the ingenious and learned fellows)
The amusing gossip Pepys tells us that on the 9th
of January, 1665, he saw the Royal Society bring
their new book to court, ¢ wherein,” he adds, “is
nobly writ their charter and laws, and comes to be
signed by the duke } as a fellow ; and all the fel{

* Sprat. Hist. Roy. Soec. T Id.; ids
i The Duke of York, afterwards James 11.
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lows’ hands are to be entered there, and lie as a
monument ; and the king hath put his, with the
word Founper.” And he also tells us how the
merry, profligate king laughed at the gentlemen in
Gresham College for spending their time in making
boats and in weighing air! Ile says, in his easy
way, “ Went to Whitehall, where, in the duke’s
chamber, the king came and stayed an hour or
two, laughing at Sir W. Petty, who was there
‘about his boat, and at Gresham College in gene-
'ral 3 at which poor Petty was, I perceived, at some
loss, but did argue discreetly, and bear the unrea-
'sonable follies of the king’s objections and other
'bystanders with great discretion, and offered to
‘take odds against the king’s best boats; but the
'king would not lay, but cried him down with words
‘only. Gresham College he mightily laughed at,
for spending time only in weighing of air, and
‘doing nothing else since they sat.”* It was the
‘illustrious Boyle that was weighing the air, and
that made those discoveries in pneumatics to which
the world has been so vastly indebted. At a some-
what later date the great Newton, and Locke, and
Crew, one of the earliest of our naturalists, and
other men eminent in their day in their several
sciences, frequented Gresham College as members
of the Royal Society, and passed much of their
time within its walls, which, by this circumstance
alone, ought to have been hallowed in the eyes of

* Memoirs of Samuel Pepys, Esq., F.R.S,, Secretary to
the Admiralty in the reigns of Charles IT. and James II.
Comprising his Diary from 1659 to 1669, deciphered by the
Rev. John Smith, A.B., from the original short-hand MS.
in the Pepysian Library, and a selection from his Private
Lorrespondence, edited by Richard Lord Braybrooke.
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the citizens of London of all ages. The Society
continued to make use of the liberally allotted
parts of the edifice until the year 1710, when they
purchased the house of Dr. Brown, in Crane Court,
Fleet Street, and removed thither, with their cu-
riosities, books, and instruments. But for a good
many years before this removal of the Royal
Society the Gresham lectures had miserably de-

clined, the two trustee corporations grudging the
~ money, and appointing indolent or incapable pro-
fessors, and the professors driving away their au-
ditory in disgust,

As early as the year 1701 the trustees of the
Gresham property endeavoured to make extensive
innovations, and having already suspended, for two
years, all payments to the professors, they petitioned
Parliament to allow them to make great and last-
ing changes. They said that the building of
Gresham College had grown old and ruinous, and
that it stood on a considerable quantity of ground,
a great part of which, now lying waste, might be
let upon building leases at the rate of 4307 12s.
per annum ; that the best thing to do would be to
pull down the large old mansion, build a smaller
house for the professors, and let out the ground.
The lecturers joined in the petition. All parties,
however, had the decency to express an earnest
desire to perpetuate the memory of so worthy a
citizen as Sir Thomas Gresham, to maintain the
institution and the uses appointed by Sir Thomas’s
will. Parliament refused its assent to the prayer
of the petition ; but from this moment the college,
the building, and everything about it, appear to
have been shamefully neglected ; the two wealthy
trustee corporations pleading poverty, and feasting
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away more sumptuously and gluttonously than
ever. As the auditory fell off, the city magnates
thought that any man was good enough for a
dumb or a non-lecturing professor; and in some
instanees they put broken-down tradesmen, or con-
nexions, or dependents, or mere lacqueys of their
own into the college, in order that they might
draw the annual salaries which the founder had
intended for the support of competent and emi-
nent men. The institution became contemptible
in the eyes of the citizens, and the citizens had
not taste and spirit enough to take any steps or
to raise any reproach against the two trustee cor-
porations. In the year 1706, however, some ci-
tizens of a higher and more intellectual order
made strenuous efforts for obtaining the revival
and restitution of the lectures. They applied to
the Mercers’ Company and to the City Corpo-
ration, as the parties jointly concerned in the
execution of Gresham’s will and intentions. The
Mercers behaved in an impudent and shameless
manner, referring these well-intentioned gentlemen
to their clerk, a certain Mr. Essington, who dis-
played much official insolence and impertinence,
and did all that he could to hinder the investigation,
and to prevent the gentlemen interested in the case
from obtaining the information they required.
[We believe that the clerks of these mighty city
companies are now sometimes styled secretaries,
but the higher designation and inecreased emolu-
ments do not always appear to have elevated their
tastes, or improved their manners, or given them a
greater desire to facilitate the progress of informa-
tion. If a man of letters apply to any office of
government (not excepting the highest) for per-
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mission to consult registers or other documents, he
is sure, at the very least, of a courteous reception,
or a polite reply ; but if the nature of his researches
leads him to make application to these city com-
panies, or their clerks or other officials, he is almost
equally certain to find an unmannerly and diseou-
raging reception, or to get an answer importing
that the said well-fed and well-paid officials neither
know nor care anything about the subject upon
which he is engaged,—albeit that subject may be
the Life of the greatest ornament and benefactor
of the Society or Company to which these officials
belong. This should not be, nor will it be always
so. The great bodies of the greatest and richest
city in the world must take more interest in what
is most honourable to the city, and in what deeply
interests all the enlightened part of the nation, or
they will fall and perish, and like Gresham’s old
mansion in Bishopsgate-street, which they helped
to destroy, they will be spoken of as things that
were.] DBut, to return to the worthy citizens of
1706, who endeavoured to preserve Gresham Col-
lege and revive the lectures; they found that the
original agreement or compact made by the lord
mayor, aldermen, and commonalty of the city of
London and corporation of Mercers with the first
Gresham professors was kept under lock and key
by Mr. Essington, the clerk of the Mercers’
Company, who, ¢ for reasons best known to him-
self,” refused them a sight of the document. The
gentlemen petitioned the lord mayor, Sir Thomas
Rawlinson ; and as their next step they drew up “ A
representation of the case of Gresham College, re-
lating to the lectures there,” which they presented
in print to the lord mayor, aldermen, members of



FATE OF GRESHAM COLLEGE. 229

the Mercers’ Company, &e. This paper was well
and earnestly written ; it showed that all good taste
and love for the diffusion of knowledge had not
deserted the city of London. It said that the
noble founder of Gresham College ¢ designed it
as a nursery of arts and sciences, for replenishing
the minds of all that were curious and inquisitive
with Userurn. KvowrLeper.”—¢ And doubtless,”
it added, ¢ Sir Thomas Gresham foresaw that this
would not only tend to the enlarging the capacities,
and refining the intellectuals, but to the reforming
the manners of the age; not only by preventing
many of those occasions wherein vice and immo-
rality offer their temptations, when youth have
presented to them matters more worthy to employ
both their thoughts and time about; but by being
a means to eradicate vicious habits, and to implant
the seeds of virtue, and of stirring up in the minds
of generous and worthy spirits a noble emulation
of excelling one another in all things that are in-
genious and praiseworthy, which would in time
represent virtue to them as so amiable, that what-
soever is base and immoral would be infinitely scan-
dalous and abhorred.”*

These right-minded citizens told the city magis-
trates that if they would but see Gresham’s will
properly executed, and the Lectures duly read,
‘“ they would have the suffrages and prayers of all
good men of the present age, and erect to them-
selves a lasting monument, more durable than brass

* An Account of the Rise, Foundation, Progress, and
Present State of Gresham College in London, with the Life
of the Founder, Sir Thomas Gresham ; as also of some late
endeavours for obtaining the Revival and Restitution of the
Lectures there, with some remarks thereon. London, 1707.
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or marble, in the breasts of all posterity.”’* DBut
the city magnates were living brass. They ap-
pointed a committee which never showed any zeal
for the object of the petition, and which occasion-
ally had recourse to subterfuge or equivocation;
and Mr. Essington, the aforesaid clerk to the Mer-
cers’ Company, was made clerk, reporter, &ec., of
the committee. [We believe that this process is
now called by the name of Burking, in the city.]
The Mercers’ clerk became more insolent than be-
fore ; but on one occasion his impertinence was
mingled with a great truth. "When told that some
of his proceedings were contrary to the known
rules of equity and the customs of courts of equity,
he said, ¢ This committee is no court of equity.”|
The majority of the Gresham professors, who
wanted to take their salaries without doing any
work for the money, and whose indolence or in-
competence had made the lecture-rooms deserted
places, sided with Mr. Essington, and threw all the
obstacles they could in the way of the worthy citi-
zens who were applying for a reform. Some of
them threatened that, in case of their being obliged
to attend regularly, they would deliver their lec-
tures in Latin, which their auditory would not
understand. We wish, for the sake of a good joke,
that the reformers had encouraged them to execute
this threat, being inclined to believe that the said
professors were no more able to write Latin than

* An Account of the Rise, Foundation, Progress, and
Present State of Gresham College in London, with the
Life of the Founder, Sir Thomas Gresham ; as also of some
late endeavours for obtaining the Revival and Restitution
of the Lectures there, with some remarks thereon. London,
1707.

T 1d.’ld,
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the citizens were able to understand it. Some
trifling and temporary good did, however, follow
the laudable exertions of the petitioners and remon-
strants. The lectures were ordered to be resumed,
and to be given one of them daily from the Mon-
day next before each term time to the end thereof.
And it was immediately seen that there were many
persons who took an interest in what was doing in
Gresham College. The gentleman who wrote and
published the account of the exertions which he
and his friends had made, says, ¢ The Lectures,
which before had been almost abandoned for the
reasons before-mentioned, began to be thronged,
and inereased to a numerous auditory of gentlemen
and citizens.” DBut he adds that, although some
of the professors were pleased at the change, and
cheerfully did their duty, the rest murmured, and
became sulky and insolent.

It should appear that the two trustee corpora-
tions thought much less about keeping up the lec-
tures, than of knocking down the great house in
which they were given, and making large sums by
letting out the ground upon building leases. In
the year 1717 they again petitioned parliament for
leave to knock down the college, &e. Still, how-
ever, they had the conscience or the decency to
state, that if this permission were granted by the
legislature, they would erect upon part of the site
another building capable of accommodating the
professors, and such as went to hear them. Their
petition was again rejected. Thus did the govern-
ments and parliaments of King William the Third
and George the First show more revereuce for the
will of Sir Thomas Gresham, and more regard for
an institution intended for the enlightenment of«
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the citizens of London, than were shown afterwards
by a government and a parliament of George the
- Third,

As the value of the ground-plot continued to
rise rapidly, and as the old mansion required more
and more repairs, the trustees became propor-
tionally more eager to carry out their old scheme.
Their exceeding eagerness drove them, in the end,
into a very bad bargain even for themselves; for
if they had kept only one-half or less of the ground-
plot, and had built a compact college on the other
part, they would soon have derived an enormous
profit from the ground they let. Their greed, like
other men’s ambition, overleaped itself. In the
year 1760 they again petitioned parliament; and
this time they threw off' all the restraints of con-
science or delicacy, no longer speaking of building
a new college, but merely intimating that they
-would provide a proper and convenient room for
- the lectures. The ground, without any reserva-
tion, was to be let ‘‘ for building good houses upon
it for merchants and others I’

For some time the government and parliament
turned a deaf ear to this last petition, and the im-
patient wishes of the two bodies corporate. DBut
in the year 1767 government wanted a place
whereon to build a new excise-office, and thereupon

they resolved that Gresham College should be
~pulled down. This could not be done without an
act of parliament, but the parliament then sitting
was quite ready to give the power to the crown,
and a bill was carried through without loss of time,
and apparently without the slightest murmur or
opposition, its progress being facilitated by the very
- trustees of the Gresham property, who were bound,
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as they would answer for it before God, to main-
tain the college. The bill ran as smoothly as .a
common turnpike act. The preamble simply stated
that, ¢ Whereas the house and buildings now made
use of for the managing and conducting the busi-
ness of his Majesty’s revenue of Excise, situate
in the Old Jewry, London, are, for want of
necessary room for the officers and clerks, found
very inconvenient, &c.; and as the lease of the
said house and buildings will expire on the 10th
day of October, 1770, it is necessary that some
more safe, fit, and commodious place be prepared,
&c. ; and whereas the messuage, tenement, edifices,
and buildings, now called and known by the name
of GrEsmam CoOLLEGE, have, upon inquiry, been
deemed a proper and convenient place for the
erecting an office for the managing, &ec., of his
Majesty’s revenue of Excise; and whereas, upon
consideration of the premises, the commissioners of
his Majesty’s revenue of KExcise, having treated
with the mayor, commonalty, and citizens of Lon-
don, and the wardens and commonalty of the mys-
tery of Mercers, who were seized of the said college,
for and in consideration of a yearly .annuity of
500L., they have consented to surrender, yield, and
give up the said GrEsHaM COLLEGE, with all its
rights, members, and appurtenances, to be settled
inalienably in the Crown, for the purpose of erect-
ing  there an office to be called or known by the
name of the Excise Orrice.”

Thus, for the miserable sum of 5007. a-year, the
city trustees agreed to- demolish the building, and
to alienate for ever from the public (whose property
it really was) the whole of the ground on which
Gresham College stood! Nor was this all. There

L3
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was an epic or dramatic completeness in the trans-
action—a most perfect bathos and conclusion to
the dirty story. By the Act of Parliament, the
city corporation and the Mercers’ Company, the
joint trustees and guardians of this property, were
bound ¢ to pay the sum of 1800/ within the space
- of one month from the passing of the Act, for and
towards the expense of pulling down the same.”
‘““That is,” says the excellent living Gresham Pro-
fessor of Music, ¢ they were constrained by “an
especial law, framed for the purpose, to commit a
gross and flagrant violation of their trust, and to
employ those very funds which Sir Thomas
Gresham had vested in them for the support and
maintenance of his college, in demolishing and
destroying it ! ¥

On the 8th of August, 1768, the work of demo-
lition was begun ; and in brief space of time the
Excise Office began to show its shameless face on
the spot where the College had once been. The
-writer from whom we last quoted says, with proper
-warmth of feeling: ¢ Gresham College was le-
velled with the ground, and every trace of its
beauty and grandeur obliterated by an act of the
legislature. I believe this act of wanton and
ruthless barbarism to be without a parallel in the
history of civilised man. Even conquerors have
respected the sanctity of seats of learning, and
armies in the mad career of victory have spared
the halls of science. It certainly stands in dis-
oraceful contrast to the acts of other European
governments. Education -is, or ought to be, one
of the carzs, the most important cares of a state.
It is upon this principle that we see some of the

* Edward Taylor. Inangural Lecturse,
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continental governments (even the most despotic)
acting towards their subjects. In I’russia, for
example, I have seen education provided for every
child ; each parish having its school, and every
province its university—I have seen the palaces of
princes converted into temples of learning, and
professors occupying the seats which nobles had
voluntarily resigned. To convert a college into an
excise office was reserved for the government of
free and enlightened England ; and that not in an
obscure and distant province, but in its mighty
metropolis.” * And these deeds were perpetrated
in the seventh and eighth years of the reign of
George I11., under the ministry of the great Lord
Chatham, and when that flaming patriot and enor-
mously wealthy man Alderman Beckford, and other
noted men who made equal pretensions to patriotism,
were leading members of the corporation of London.
But, in truth, this was a mean-spirited and grovel-
ling period of our national history—a period of
little taste, learning, originality, or spirit of any
kind, save and except the spirit of faction, which
more than anything else led to the loss of our
American colonies, and to the success of the war
of the American revolution. With some few ex-
ceptions that need not be named, the high heart and
intellect of the country remained in abeyance until
the French revolution shook all Europe, and called
forth the dormant energies and best qualities of the
English nation. A high-minded government would
never have laid the axe to the root of an institution
like Gresham College, and a right-minded, ener-
getic people would have raised such an outery as
must have prevented the striking of the blow. If
* Edward Taylor. Inaugural Lcetures.
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the citizens of London alone had felt as they ought,,
the corporation of London and the mystery ofl
Mercers would not have trafficked away their rights:
and the rights of their posterity, and the legislatures
would no more have dared to demolish Gresham
College than it would have dared to knock down
the cathedral of St. Paul’s. But the citizens weres
tame and unintellectual, indifferent to the reading;
of lectures which had been allowed to become ridi-
culous, and careless about the preservation of rightsi
and emoluments which had been so shamelessly:
abused by trustees and professors ; and things which
could not now be done without convulsing the!
whole of the kingdom, were allowed to pass even|
in the city of London without a murmur or a re-
monstrance. It was because the city cared nothing!
about Gresham College, that Gresham College wasi
destroyed.  If the legislature, who had just as much
right to interfere in the one case as in the other,

had attempted to deprive the gluttonous companies
of only one dinner per annum, or to substitute
plain beef and mutton for their venison and turtle-
soup, or even only mock-turtle for real, the com-
panies would have raised a cry as if heaven and|
earth were tumbling together. But Gresham Col-|
lege was only a place where a few prosing men, at|
very inconvenient hours for men of business and of
feasts, read or spoke about astronomy, mathematies,

law, medicine, and music; and therefore the citi-
zens cared nothing for it. It does not appear,

either from the newspapers or from the other pub-

lications of the day, that any effort whatsoever was

made by the citizens of London to perpetuate the

existence of their only college. The only notice

that has been found of its destruction, beyond the
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bare record of the event, is contained in a short
poetical satire of eight pages, entitled ¢ Gresham’s
Ghost, or a Tap at the IExcise Office;” to which
are added, ¢ Acrostical Dirges concerning the Seven
Liberal Sciences.” The writer’s intention may have
been good, but his poetry is very wretched ; and
altogether he seems but a degenerate representative
of the honest city reformers who spoke in plain
prose in the year 1706. He takes for his motto
the 11th verse of the Tth chapter of Jeremiah :
“ Is this house, which I have called by my name,
become a den of robbers? Behold, I have seen it,
saith the Lord.” 'The following are specimens of
the writer’s rhymes :
¢ Urged by a zeal to serve mankind,
So many ways he strove,

Each art, each science, every mind
T was Gresham’s aim to improve.

How must he feel in Heaven surprise,
If there he ill can know,

‘When he shall hear to an exeise
His mansion’s changed below !”

When such an event could rouse no better poet
and satirist than this, the event itself is scarcely
surprising. :

To compensate the worthless or neglectful
Gresham professors for the loss of their apartments
in the old college, their salaries were raised from
50L. to 100/, a-year ; and the restriction as to matri-
‘mony, which appears to have been often disre-
garded, was taken off by Act of Parliament. A
small, dirty, dusky room in an upper story of the
old Royal Exchange was selected by the liberal
and enlightened trustees of the Gresham property,
as “a proper and convenient room for the publie
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exlibition of the lectures;” and there, at very in--
convenient hours, during Term time certain of the:
professors drawled out vapid nonsense to a thin|
and sneering auditory, until that edifice was con-«
sumed by fire. After that catastrophe the learned|
body met occasionally in the City of ILondon
School ; and there I’r‘Ir, Taylor delivered those -
Inangural Lectures from which we have repeatedly

quoted with so much satisfaction to our own feel- -
ings. This gentleman has done more than any one/
else, or than all other persons put together, to:
awaken an interest in the public mind for the .
shipwrecked and houseless Institution to which he
belongs. He has pleaded eloquently for the resto- -
ration of Gresham College, and we most earnestly
recommend what he has written and published upon
the subject to the attention of every enlightened |
citizen.* When the wealthier class of London
citizens shall cease to despise civie honours, and to ¢
hanker after ¢ St. James’s air ”—when they shall |
discover that it is a better and a nobler thing to
illustrate the class of society to which they belong,
than to seek after a borrowed splendour by an asso-
ciation, upon sufferance, with the classes above
them—ywhen the civiec administrators of justice shall |
think it more becoming to ¢ put down” the inso-
lence and gluttony of the rich than the suicide of the
poor—and, most of all, when the great body of the
London citizens, the poor as well as the middle-
conditioned, shall awake to a sense of the benefits
to be derived from such a foundation as Gresham

* Mr. Taylor’s three Inaugural Lectures are contained in
a cheap pamphlet of only seventy-six octavo pages. It was
published by Richard and John Edward Taylor, Red Lion
Court, Fleet Street, in the year 1838
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College was intended by its founder to be, the
pleading of the Gresham professor of music will
have an irresistible effect, and the disgrace of the
City of London will be effaced by a new, a noble, a
‘well-endowed, and a well-conducted college, bear-
ing the name of the original founder GrREsHAM,
‘and to be called by none other.

| :

We have not been able to discover what equi-
valent or compensation, or whether any compensa-
tion whatever, was given for the eight almshouses
which stood at the back of Gresham College, and
which were endowed by their founder. No charity
of the sort appears in the published lists of the
trust estates and charities of the Mercers’ Company.
From a statement before us we might be dispesed
to doubt that that worshipful company or mystery
loves mystery in matters of accounts—and secrecy
in such matters is always provocative of suspicion.
Mr. William Herbert, librarian to the Corporation
of London, in his ¢ History of the Twelve Great
Livery Companies,” after desciibing the foundation
and present condition of certain almshouses at

tepney, called Lady Mico’s almshouses, the pro-
erty and expenditure of which are under the
ontrol of the Mercers’ Company, concludes the
ubject with these curious and startling words :—
¢ Owing to repairs and various expenses, the com-
issioners state the annual expenditure of this
harity to exceed the present income; and the
me being paid out of the company’s funds, they
orbear to go into the accounts of former occasional
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APPENDIX.

THOMAS CHURCHYARD.

Besipes poetry, Churchyard wrote and printed, in a
long series of years (for he appears to have taken to writ-
ing, when there was no more fighting, about the year
1560, and he kept writing and publishing until the year
1602-3), a great many books and pieces in prose, upon a
curious variety of subjects. Some of these things, being
twelve in number, he printed in the year 1575, in one
volume, with the quaint title of ¢ The First Part of
Churchyard’s Chips.” In his dedicatory epistle prefixed
to the volume, he says—¢ The baseness of the matter
will not suffer it to bear any higher name than Church-
yard’s Chips : for in the same are sundry trifles composed
in my youth, and such fruit as those days and my simple
knowledge could yield ; so that the aptest name for such
stuff was, I thought, to give my works this title, to be
called ¢ Churchyard’s Chips,” to warm the wits of his
well-wishers.” The contents of this curious little quarto
volume are—1. The Siege of Leith. 2. A Farewell to
the World. 3. A Feigned Answer of the Spider and the
Goat. 4. A Doleful Discourse of a Lady and a Knight.
5. The Rode (inroad or raid) into Scotland by Sir Wil-
liam Drury, Knight (prose). 6. Sir Simon DBurley’s
Tragedy. 7. A Tragical Discourse of the Unhappy
Man’s Life. 8. A Discourse of Virtue. 9. Church-
%%rd’s Dream. 10. A Tale of a Friar and a Shoemaker’s
ife. 11. The Siege of Edinburgh Castle. 12. The
Whole Order of the Receiving of the Queen’s Majesty
into Bristol. The volume was dedicated ‘‘ To the Right-
Worshipful, his tried and worthy friend, Master Christo-
her Hatton, Esquire.” Hatton, as all the world knows,
ecame Sir Christopher Hatton and High Chancellor of
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England, by grace of Queen Elizabeth and his own gooa
dancing. He is supposed to be the only man that evey
danced his way to the woolsack, Old Fuller speaks o
him in his quaintest and most amusing manner. ¢ SiJ
Christopher Hatton (of Northamptonshire) was of :
family rather ancient than wealthy, yet of no mean estates
e rather fook a bait than made a meal at the Inns o
Court, whilst he studied the laws therein. He camu
afterwards to the court in a masque, where the queer
first took notice of him, loving him well for his Zandsom
dancing, better for his proper person, and best of all for
his great abilities. His parts were far «bove his learning:
which mutually so assisted each other, that no manifes
want did appear; and the queen at last preferred’ hin
Lord Chancellor of England.”* The lawyers grudge:
Hatton’s promotion, saying that he was no lawyer; an|
some sullen sergeants-at-law at first even refused to pleas
before him, *¢ But,” adds Fuller, ¢ indeed he hacr onr
Sir Richard Swale, Doctor of the Civil Laws, his servan
friend, whose advice he followed in all matters of me
ment.”"t
Whatever he was as a lawyer and chancellor, Hatto
continued for many years in high favour with the queen
who kept him to his dancing even when he was lon
chancellor, much loving to go through a stately danc
with him for her partner. Our soldier-poet dedicated t
him another of his books, entitled ¢ Churchyardl
Choice.” This was published in 1579, when the po«
styles him, ¢ The Right Honourable my most Assure
I'riend Sir Christopher Hatton, Knight, Vice-Chambey
lain to the Queen’s Majesty.” We believe that Chure]
yard never published a second part of his ¢ Chips,” whia
he had promised to do in the first part; but he maa
sundry other collections, and published them under diffe;
ent quaint titles. In the year 1593 appeared, in b
usual small quarto size, a volume entitled ¢ Churchyarc
Challenge.” This volume contained twenty-one pieca
some in prose and some in verse, and four of which hq
| * Worthies. |
t Sce also Naunton, Fragmenta Regalia,
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been printed already in his ¢ Chips.” Many of his com-
positions had appeared during the long interval between
1577 and 1593, and a good many appeared after the
latter date; for Churchyard appears to have depended
entirely upon his pen, and upon the fees, hospitality, or
patronage his dedications brought him, and to have kept
writing and printing until he was laid at rest in a church-
yard. He inscribed other productions to llatton, and
among them, one of the most curious and interesting of
his works, entitled, ‘ A General Rehearsal of Wars,
wherein is five hundred several Services of Land and Sea,
28 Sieges, Battles, Skirmishes, and Encounters,” &c.
' Besides Sir Christopher Hatton, he plied a good many of
Elizabeth’s courtiers and prime favourites with dedica-
tions. His ¢ Challenge’ he dedicated to the Right
' Honourable Sir John Wolley, Knight, Secretary for the
| Latin Tongue to the Queen’s Majesty. - Iis ¢ Praise
and Report of Master Martin Forbersher’s Voyage to
Meta Incognita,” he dedicated to the Right Honourable
Master Secretary Wilson, one of the Queen’s Majesty’s
most Honourable Privy Council. In earlier times, when
the Earl of Leicester was in the ascendant, he had flat-
tered him. Towards the close of Elizabeth’s life and
long reign, when the Earl of Issex was Elizabeth’s idol,
he dedicated to him ¢ A Musical Concert of Heavenly
Harmony compounded out of many parts of Music, called
Churchyard’s Charity,” which was printed in 1595,
When the wayward and spoiled Essex had perished on
the scaflold, Churchyard looked out for a new patron and
dedicatee, for unless a man wrote for the stage, and was

minently successful at that work, there was no living by
the pen and the public. Yet all these great and courtly
patrons appear to have done little more than to have
kept our poor old soldier-poet a little above the starvation
point. In his later dedications he always takes occasion to
vemind his ridght honourable and noble friends that he is
very poor, and that the charity of the world has grown all
too cold for him. In his dedication to Essex, he says,
“¢ A great nobleman told me this last wet summer, ¢ The
weather was too cold for poets.” On which favourable
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words I bethought me, that charity in court, and all th
world over, was beeome so cold, that neither hot summer
fervent fire, nor heat of sun, could make warm again, i
that comfortable sort as our forefathers have felt it.. .

e « + « o And for that now (by reason of great age
my wits and inventions are almost wearied with writing ¢
books (this being one of my last), I took this task ii
hand, at large, to dilate somewhat on charity, whic
would to God I had as great power to revive, as the worll
hath occasion to remember.” And in his verses, for thi
dedication to Essex is intended to find favour, he says—

¢ Call Charity, for love, once home again,
That she may hear her people poor complain !

% My breath but bores a hole within the air,
My date, near done, calls for a shrouding sheet;
My dark dim days looks for no weather fair,
Mine eyes can scarce look to my stumbling feet ;
My wounded Muse forsakes my drowping spreet ;*
My books and scrolls, and all that I have wrot,
Hides now their heads, as I were clean forgot.”

"This oblivion may have been in part owing to the ap
pearance of the great poets who gave such a dazzlin
glory to the latter part of Elizabeth’s reign ; and Churell
yard modestly and manfully acknowledges in one of hi
poems that a little lamp like his must not compare itse:
with a star ; that ¢“ a feeble head, where no great gifts di
grow,” must yield to the skill, and knowledge, and geniu
of Spexser.f Perhaps even old Fuller judged too fa
vourably of Churchyard, when he said, ¢ Though somi
conceive him to be as much beneath a poet as above
rhymer, in my opinion his verses may go abreast wit}
any of that age, writing in ke beginning of Queen EL
zabeth.” But if poor Tom lacked the mspiration of
great poet, and was loose and deficient in his gramman
many of his writings are yet deserving of remembranca

* Drooping spirit. 1
T A New Kind of a Sonnet, in Churchyard’s Challenge..
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while his life is a curious specimen of the literary history
of the time. Parts of his prose works are very interest-
g, particularly where he describes sieges and battles
in which he was an actor, or other stirring events at home
and abroad of which he was an ear and eye witness,
According to Sir Egerton Brydges, *‘ old Thomas Church-

ard just survived the accession of King James to the

nglish throne; and was buried in the church of St.
Margaret, Westminster, on the 4th of April, 1604.”7*
It appears that he was very poor, and almost or quite
blind, when he died. ¢ Thus,” saith William Winstan-
ley in his ¢ Lives of the most famous English Poets, or
the Honours of Parnassus,” ¢¢ like a stone did he tumble
about, but never gathered any moss, dying but poor, as
may be seen by his epitaph in Mr. Camden’s ¢ Remains,’
which runs thus—

“ Come, Alecto, lend me thy toreh,
To find a Churchyard in a church-porch ;

* Poverty and poetry his tomb doth enclose,
Wherefore, good neighbours, be merry in prose.”

Probably his dismal name did him no good in his life-
mme, and thus was it punned upon after his death.

* (Censura Literaria.

THE END.

London :_ Printed by WiLriaym CLowEs and SoNs, Stamford Street.
























